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Foreword from the Chair  
 

It has been an extremely busy year at the Trust, and I would like to 
thank all of our staff for their outstanding commitment to providing 
care of the highest quality to our patients. 

Over the past year, in spite of the challenges the hospital has 
faced, we have seen many improvements leading to a better 
experience for our patients. I would like to thank former Chief 
Executive James Devine, who left the Trust in April 2021 for all he 
did at Medway. I would also like to thank George Findlay, who took 
over as Chief Executive in May 2021, for his leadership throughout 
the past year. 

We know there is still much more to do to consistently provide the 
level of care that our community deserves, but improvements in 
performance in a number of areas are making a real difference. 
Changes within the Emergency Department have reduced delays 
to ambulance handovers, and we have also seen fewer people 
waiting more than four hours to be seen, treated, admitted or 
discharged. 

We have prioritised the care of cancer patients, and I am pleased 
to say that we have consistently met the national standards for wait times for these patients, with 
our performance being among the best in the country. 

Last year we opened a Cardiac Care Unit which enhanced care for our heart patients, and we 
have also opened new facilities to care for elderly patients. These are among a number of 
improvements that have created a better environment for patients. 

The Care Quality Commission carried out an inspection of urgent and emergency services in 
February 2022 which had previously been rated ‘inadequate’. In their report published following 
the visit the inspectors noted considerable improvements and raised the rating to ‘good’, which 
was excellent news for the teams involved, and fantastic news for patients. 

We know how challenging it can be to work in the NHS, so a key focus this year has been on 
looking after the wellbeing of our colleagues. Supported by the Medway Hospital Charity, we have 
been able to show our appreciation through several wellbeing initiatives. We were immensely 
proud to welcome Olympic Rower Sara Parfett to open our new gym, free to staff and the first of 
its kind in the county. Our work on wellbeing was also recognised by Medway Council when we 
were awarded gold status in the Medway Healthy Workplace Programme. 

I would like to express my sincere thanks to our League of Friends for their invaluable support 
throughout the year, including contributing to the cost of a Reflection Garden outside our Coffee 
Shop. We deeply value our longstanding relationship with the Friends. This support, alongside 
contributions from the Oliver Fisher Trust and our own Hospital Charity has helped us to purchase 
items which have made a huge difference to our patients and staff.   

Fundraising for our own Hospital Charity has enabled us to buy equipment for several areas 
including maternity and orthopedics, to refurbish a family ward on our cancer unit, and to create a 
Changing Places accessible toilet for patients and visitors. 

It is important to us that our colleagues feel safe when at work; sadly we have seen increasing 
incidents of violence and racist abuse aimed at staff over the last year. We have a zero-tolerance 
approach to this behaviour and earlier in the year we joined all NHS organisations in Kent and 

Jo Palmer 

Chair 



 

Medway to launch the #NotInADaysWork campaign and to make it clear that we will not tolerate 
such behaviours. 

We remain committed to ensuring that we get it right for our patients every time, and through the 
Patient First strategy I am confident that we have the structures in place to do exactly that. 

I would also like to say thank you to our Governors who give up their time to provide a valuable 
link to our community we serve, and to our volunteers – we simply could not provide the care we 
do without their kindness and commitment to our patients. 

Finally, I would like to thank our community for putting their trust in us when they are at their most 
vulnerable; it is our absolute pleasure to serve you and a responsibility that we do not take lightly.  

 
 
 
Jo Palmer   
Chair 
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Overview 

Like everyone else in the country we had hoped that 2021/2022 would mark the end of the COVID-19 
pandemic but it has continued to have a considerable impact within our community and in the Trust itself. 

However, thanks to the commitment and hard work of our brilliant staff, and despite the challenges of the 
pandemic, we have had a successful year and I would like to thank them from the bottom of my heart for all 
that they have done for our community. 

I would also like to take this opportunity to thank our community for their ongoing support and patience – 
we’ve had to ask a lot of them this year. Thank you patients, relatives and visitors for helping us to keep our 
hospital safe by following infection control measures on our site, thank you for understanding when we had 
to make the difficult decision to bring in visiting restrictions and thank you for being patient when at times the 
waits for care were longer than any of us would have liked.  

Although it feels like the pandemic has dominated the last 12 months, I’m pleased to say that our hard-
working staff have also continued to make significant improvements to the care we provide for our patients 
despite the additional challenges presented to them. 

Providing healthcare for a large population can be a complex process, but we know that there are some very 
basic principles of care that are important to those that we care for. 

We know that our patients want to be seen quickly in our Emergency Department if they need urgent care, 
that they don’t want to wait a long time for an outpatient appointment, a scan or surgery, and that they want 
to be discharged quickly and safely when they are an inpatient. We also know that if they have suspected or 
confirmed cancer they want to be seen quickly so that they can receive reassurance about their condition or 
begin their treatment journey. That is why one if our key focuses for 2021/2022 has been on improving our 
performance against statutory targets. 

I’m delighted to say that we have seen some real progress in this area. Thanks to the incredible effort of our 
Cancer Services Team, patients are receiving some of the fastest access to cancer treatment in the UK after 
the Trust achieved the national standard in four key areas of cancer care for the first time in its history. 
Receiving a cancer diagnosis is one of the most frightening things that can happen to someone, so making 
sure that treatment begins quickly doesn’t just mean better clinical care, it means greater reassurance and 
peace of mind for patients and their families too. 

We’ve also seen some good progress in ensuring that our patients receive their surgery within 52 weeks, in 
fact at certain points in the year our performance was among the best in the country. We know though that 
we need to continue to work hard to deliver consistent performance in this area. 

It has also been a big year for our Emergency Department, and we were pleased to open our brand new 
Majors area. The opening of Majors marked the end of the final phase of the refurbishment of the Trust’s 
Emergency Department. The new space, which was designed by the ED team to the highest contemporary 
standards for such an area, provides 19 dedicated patient cubicles in an open plan environment that can be 
effectively monitored by clinical staff.  

The team has made very good use of the new space, winning national awards and bringing in changes that 
have dramatically improved the time it takes for patients to be seen. At time of writing, the Trust is awaiting 
the publication of the Care Quality Commission’s official report after an inspection of the service in February 
2022 and we are confident that the improvements that have been made will have been recognised. 

At Medway, we are committed to embracing technology to improve care for our patients and we were 
delighted to launch our new Electronic Patient Record system this year. The smooth launch of EPR in 26 
adult inpatient wards and Same Day Emergency Care marked an exciting milestone in the Trust’s digital 
transformation journey and the beginning of a significant change in the way that patient care is delivered. 
Once fully in place across the hospital, all information about a patient’s medical history and treatment will be 
available electronically, on screen, at any location, at any time. This will bring numerous benefits to patients 
and staff, including freeing up clinician time to care and improving quality and safety. 
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At the time of writing, we were busy putting the finishing touches to our new Patient First strategy, due to be 
launched across the Trust in spring. 

Patient First will build on the successes of the past, but bring greater clarity, structure and support so that our 
staff can make more significant improvements quicker. Unlike some of the overly ambitious strategies of the 
past, we will focus on fewer priorities – we like to describe this as an inch wide, mile deep philosophy. In 
other words, we will concentrate on priorities that will make the biggest difference to delivering better, more 
timely care for our patients. 

Alongside the areas we have already mentioned, we will also work to ensure that our hospital is financially 
sustainable; this means living within our means and providing high quality services by making the best use of 
our resources. Taxes paid by local residents pays goes towards financing the NHS and it is our responsibility 
to make sure we get the very best value. 

Ultimately, we want to ensure that our patients receive compassionate and safe care in the right place, at the 
right time, every time. Through achieving this we can become the outstanding organisation that the people of 
Medway and Swale and all our staff deserve. 

Thank you for your support as we continue to deliver service improvements for our community Medway and 
Swale. 

 

 

 

Jayne Black 
Chief Executive (Interim) 
21 June 2022 
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Purpose and Activities 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust is a public benefit 
corporation authorised under the National Health 
Service Act 2006. It is a single-site hospital based 
in Gillingham and serves a population of more 
than 424,000 across Medway and Swale.  

We provide clinical services to more than half a 
million patients a year, including more than 
160,000 ED attendances, more than 60,000 
admissions, more than 370,000 outpatients’ 
appointments and more than 4,700 babies born 
last year.  

As an NHS Foundation Trust, we have 26 seats 
on the Council of Governors and more than 
10,000 public members. We employ more than 
4000 staff, making us one of Medway’s largest 
employers. In addition, over 300 volunteers 
provide invaluable support across the League of 
Friends, Hospital Radio and the Voluntary 
Services Department.  

The hospital is made up of two clinical divisions – 
Unplanned and Integrated Care and Planned 
Care – supported by corporate functions.  

The Board of directors, led by Chairman Jo 
Palmer comprises 10 executive directors 
including Dr George Findlay, Chief Executive, and 
nine non-executive directors including the 
Chairman. 

Brief History 

Medway Maritime Hospital was originally a Royal 
Naval Hospital, opened by King Edward VII in 
1905. The hospital cost £800,000 and boasted a 
main corridor of nearly 1,000 feet in length.  

In 1961 the NHS acquired the hospital from the 
Navy. Buildings and facilities were modernised as 
part of a £1.5million modernisation scheme and 
the hospital reopened again as Medway Hospital 
in 1965.  

The hospital changed its name in 1999 to mark 
the start of a new era. The new name 'Medway 
Maritime Hospital' reflects the hospital's proud 
naval tradition. 

Key Issues and Risks 

The principal risks delivering the Trust’s Strategic 
Objectives are recorded in detail in the Board 
Assurance Framework and the key operational 
risks are described in the corporate risk register, 

which are monitored at directorates and by the 
Executive Group.   

A summary of significant risks within the Board 
Assurance Framework is included within the 
Annual Governance Statement. 

Going Concern 

Our going concern disclosure is detailed in the 
performance report. 

After making enquiries, the directors have a 
reasonable expectation that the NHS Foundation 
Trust has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
For this reason, they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the accounts. 

See note 1.2 to the accounts for more detail. 

The accounts have been prepared on a going 
concern basis as we do not intend, nor consider 
that it will be necessary, to apply to the Secretary 
of State for the dissolution of the Trust with the 
transfer of the services to another entity in the 
foreseeable future. 

Summary of Performance 

The Trust did not achieve the national standard 
for the four hour performance target in 2021/22, 
finishing the year on 63 per cent (all types).  This 
was a decline on performance from 2020/21, but 
not unexpected. Here at Medway we were 
significantly impaired in our emergency 
performance due to Covid-19. This impacted on 
bed availability, particularly as we had to use our 
beds flexibly in response to changing numbers of 
positive patients, and flow through the emergency 
department and wider hospital. We also faced 
staffing challenges as some colleagues were 
required to shield or became unwell. Regrettably, 
this meant that at the peak of Covid-19 
presentations, some ambulances waited far 
longer than they should have to be offloaded as 
we struggled with available space and the 
demands placed on us. 
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Performance Analysis 

 

 

Key Performance Measures 

The Trust formally agreed trajectories for the constitutional targets: Emergency Department, Referral To 
Treatment, Cancer and Diagnostic (known as DM01). These trajectories were based on demand and 
capacity work completed for all of the services using the NHS Improvement Tool. The performance is 
monitored formally on a monthly basis in various different meetings internally and externally to the Trust.   

 

Referral to Treatment (RTT) 

The Trust did not meet the Referral to Treatment standard of 92%. We reported a year end position of 
62.25%. The total waiting list size ended on 30391 patients compared to 23013 at the start of the year.  The 
number of patients waiting more than 52 weeks for treatment decreased through the year from 550 in April 
2021 to 162 at year-end. 

The main factor affecting RTT performance over the past twelve months has been COVID-19. After winter 
pressures and the second wave of the pandemic (November 2020 to February 2021) the Trust restarted all 
elective activity in April 2021. The Trust made significant improvements through the spring and summer in 
reducing the number of patients waiting more than 52 weeks. This activity was maintained until winter and 
COVID-19 pressures again reduced surgical activity. 
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Throughout the year the trust has seen a steady increase in the size of the waiting list, This has been 
influenced by an increase in patients being referred to the Trust, compared to pre-COVID figures, and the 
impact of COVID-19 on  elective and diagnostic activity over the winter months. 

  

 DM01 

The Trusts performance against the Diagnostic Waiting Times and Activity standard (DM01) has been 
below the standard of 99% ending the year at 81.42%. Although factors such as COVID-19 and capacity vs 
demand has impacted negatively on the DMO1 the principal reason is a significant increase in demand for 
diagnostic modalities including Echocardiography, Endoscopy and MRI. The Trust continues to utilise 
support from the Independent Sector to support the improvement plans for DM01.  

  Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 

Trust Overall 63.07% 66.87% 69.22% 68.43% 67.79% 67.05% 66.29% 66.17% 63.02% 62.05% 61.55% 62.25% 

Waiting List 
Size 

23013 23843 24107 25125 26430 26984 27428 27444 27791 28897 29447 30391 

52+ Week 
Waiters 

550 374 293 271 221 228 225 145 112 112 114 162 

Standard 92% 92% 92% 92% 92% 92% 92% 92% 92% 92% 92% 92% 

 DM01 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 

MRI 
98.54% 98.58% 98.89% 97.49% 97.68% 92.02% 96.97% 84.65% 78.37% 74.93% 84.27% 70.24% 

CT 
98.06% 95.43% 98.61% 99.60% 99.01% 98.35% 99.40% 99.57% 99.06% 98.21% 98.55% 98.22% 

Ultrasound 
99.86% 99.78% 100.00% 99.94% 99.89% 99.73% 99.84% 99.89% 99.40% 94.55% 100.00% 96.74% 

Barium Enema 
59.52% 52.38% 52.48% 37.36% 63.00% 65.38% 94.37% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

DEXA Scan 
79.32% 79.07% 96.76% 99.26% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

Audiology 
99.67% 100.00% 97.35% 99.40% 100.00% 99.13% 99.81% 92.89% 91.69% 96.22% 99.41% 99.86% 

Echocardiography 
99.16% 98.88% 84.62% 81.31% 56.31% 51.57% 54.82% 49.57% 44.69% 39.81% 46.36% 65.76% 

Sleep Studies 
100.00% 100.00% 96.95% 96.06% 92.31% 97.03% 95.19% 98.39% 95.33% 94.25% 94.74% 92.24% 

Urodynamics 
100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 94.44% 94.74% 95.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

Colonoscopy 
83.74% 87.25% 89.71% 81.12% 76.14% 57.82% 56.30% 59.11% 65.78% 58.10% 56.57% 59.25% 

Flexi-
sigmoidoscopy 

74.56% 74.78% 80.56% 77.21% 59.15% 51.90% 58.76% 56.52% 48.48% 44.50% 49.53% 61.57% 

Cystoscopy 
93.90% 86.05% 90.91% 100.00% 94.29% 95.45% 92.31% 93.75% 93.98% 100.00% 100.00% 95.15% 

Gastroscopy 
93.59% 93.78% 86.63% 83.47% 74.11% 59.62% 54.57% 60.90% 60.21% 54.09% 53.27% 54.29% 

Total 
94.74% 94.39% 95.18% 93.57% 88.98% 84.39% 85.84% 82.54% 78.99% 75.85% 81.62% 81.42% 
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Cancer  

2021/22 Cancer Waiting Times Performance 

The Trust reported full compliance with the 93 per cent operational standard for two-week waits (2WW) – 
all cancers, performing consistently above the standard in twelve consecutive months for the first time. 
Despite the ongoing impact of the Covid pandemic and fluctuations of high demand for services, the Trust 
maintained compliance with this performance indicator while working to minimise exposure and keep 
patients safe. The Trust did this by continuing to work to the internal seven-day stretch target while also 
implementing new ways of working such as telephone and virtual clinics.  

The Trust was compliant in three of the twelve months with the 93 per cent operational standard for 2WW – 
breast symptomatic. The operational standard was not achieved for nine out of the twelve months as a 
result of patient choice and the breast service at the Trust unable to provide the required capacity to deal 
with the peaks and high level of demand for the service. The 2WW booking team now has access to real-
time performance reports which allows issues to be escalated to service managers allowing 2WW breaches 
to be prevented before they occur.  

The Trust has consistently met the 96 per cent operational standard for 31-day for the full twelve months. 
Patients with a confirmed diagnosis of cancer are treated with the urgency required to ensure the trust 
remains compliant against this Key Performance Indicator (KPI).  

The Trust was compliant in five of the twelve months with the 94 per cent operational standard for 31 day 
subsequent treatment (surgery). This was achieved by working closely with the theatre and surgery teams 
to ensure that there was adequate capacity to prioritise treatments for patients with cancer.  However, 
breaches were still mainly due to either limited capacity or patient choice. 

The Trust was not compliant with the 98 per cent operational standard 31-day waits for subsequent 
treatment (drug treatment). Due to the volume of cancer patients requiring subsequent drug treatment 
being so low there are insufficient numbers to offset breaches in all months of the year. There was only two 
months when the Trust was compliant with this target.   Data completeness has been improved for all of the 
31-day targets due to additional workforce recruitment and improved training to enable better tracking of 
the patient and minimise delays.  

The major improvement for the Trust has been the achievement of compliance with the operational 
standard of 85 per cent for 62 day waits from urgent GP referral in November 2021, December 2021, 
February 2022 and March 2022.  This has not been achieved for approximately two years.  This 
improvement was due to the recruitment of cancer navigators, multidisciplinary team coordinators and other 
leadership and support staff in Cancer Services.  Meeting the target was also due to the improvement of 
training on data completeness and patient tracking, installation of regular Patient Tracking List (PTL) 
meetings and the implementation of a 14-point plan to improve cancer performance.  Other 
transformational work has included the mapping of tumour and diagnostic pathways to identify bottlenecks 
and ways to optimise the patient journeys through to treatment. The Trust also held its first Cancer Summit 
in September 2021 where cancer and diagnostic clinical leads presented their pathways, issues and plans 
for improvement.   

62-day wait from screening service operational standard of 90 per cent, the Trust was compliant in the in 
January and March 2022 due to the efforts of the team to improve the communication with the screening 
programmes who are responsible for the earlier parts of the diagnostic pathway for both breast and bowel 
screening. The team has identified two named individuals from the cancer administration team to be 
responsible for liaising with both screening services and to update the cancer information system. However, 
continuous improvement remains a challenge due to limited diagnostic capacity and high demand.  

From November onwards, the 28-day Faster Diagnosis Standard has been reported with a target of 75.5%.  
It is envisaged that this will take over from the 2 week wait standard. The team has made considerable 
efforts to improve data completeness as well as weekly 28-day PTL meetings and standardisation of the 
escalation process to meet this new target. The team monitors diagnostic turnaround for cancer patients 
and meets weekly with the diagnostic services to ensure patient move quickly down the diagnostic 
pathway.        
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  Target Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 

2WW cancer 93% 94.02% 94.99% 95.61% 96.13% 95.28% 94.85% 93.89% 94.06% 94.99% 96.27% 96.94% 96.70% 

2WW 
symptomatic 
breast 

93% 92.16% 86.49% 95.83% 86.92% 88.76% 94.59% 86.08% 83.65% 90.63% 88.78% 92.11% 93.23% 

31D first 
treatment 

96% 97.62% 97.27% 99.29% 97.14% 96.95% 98.23% 96.08% 99.22% 97.14% 96.97% 99.15% 100.00% 

31D sub 
treatment 
surgery 

94% 100.00% 90.00% 83.33% 100.00
% 

63.64% 89.47% 93.33% 91.67% 100.00
% 

100.00
% 

86.96% 94.12% 

31D sub 
treatment 
drug 

98% 100.00% 87.50% 90.48% 91.43% 96.77% 100.00
% 

96.15% 97.14% 91.67% 95.92% 95.45% 95.83% 

62D GP 
referral 

85% 59.13% 52.43% 61.96% 76.69% 77.48% 77.04% 82.08% 87.12% 88.89% 76.92% 89.93% 88.74% 

62D 
screening 

90% 62.50% 51.28% 67.31% 71.70% 75.68% 71.43% 85.11% 68.18% 66.67% 95.92% 67.65% 97.14% 

62D 
consultant 
upgrade 

n/a 82.76% 69.57% 67.50% 78.13% 73.53% 68.00% 59.26% 77.78% 60.00% 60.87% 35.29% 63.16% 

28D FDS 2ww 75.5% 64.55% 67.41% 68.36% 76.85% 76.98% 73.71% 80.87% 74.36% 77.29% 74.21% 85.25% 77.13% 

28D FDS 
breast 
symptom 

75.5% 83.33% 100.00
% 

100.00
% 

96.88% 94.32% 95.83% 95.45% 98.08% 97.87% 97.92% 100.00
% 

98.45% 

28D FDS 
screening 

75.5% 41.67% 60.00% 47.37% 50.00% 45.45% 65.22% 26.32% 25.00% 22.73% 17.07% 56.25% 20.00% 

 
In April 2022, the Trust met the 2WW cancer target (93.30%), the 31-day first treatment (99.31%), 31-day 
subsequent treatment surgery (100.00%), 62-day GP referral (87.64%) and 28-day Faster Diagnosis 
Standard (79.16%).  Only 2WW symptomatic breast (78.57%), 31 subsequent treatment (drug) (95.45%), 
62-day Screening (79.49%) and 28-day Faster Diagnosis Standard Screening (50.91%) were not met for 
reasons similar to those previously mentioned. 

 
Emergency Care Standard 

The year 2021/22 saw a relatively consistent level of attendance which changed very little throughout the 
year due to the impact of Covid-19 throughout the year. Because of this, it is not a particularly helpful year 
to look at trends and draw comparisons with past performance. What is clear, however, is that there are 
elements of the emergency pathway that need to be improved and refined to put us in the best possible 
position to deliver the required performance. In addition, there are a range of other actions that we need to 
complete to ensure other parts of the hospital, and wider health and social care system, are able to 
respond to meet the emergency demand. In summary, these include: 

 Safe access and initial assessment for patients conveyed by ambulance; 

 Increase direct ambulance conveyance to Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC), Surgical 
Assessment Unit (SAU) and Frailty; 

 Re-introduce protected beds such as for the Hip Fracture pathway; 

 Ensure that ED Internal Professional Standards are monitored and we are responsive to exceptional 
variation in activity; 

 Validate Trust Internal Professional Standards in response to emergency referral and flow; 

 Increase the number of patients who access zero Length Of Stay clinical pathways across surgery, 
medicine and frailty; 

 Minimise delays at every step of the ED journey. 

 Closure of escalation areas to be used only during periods of extremis 

Despite the unprecedented challenges and demands of COVID-19 we are enthusiastic about the 
opportunities identified during this period to improve the quality of our emergency pathway. Our dedicated, 
clinically-led Patient First programme, alongside the recommendations taken from the HARIS project, gives 
us confidence we will deliver the required improvements in quality, performance and patient and staff 
experience. 
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Sustainability Report 

Our carbon footprint 

At Medway NHS Foundation Trust we recognise 
that we are not only part of the NHS but that we 
are part of the local community.  As a publicly 
funded organisation we are obliged to work in 
ways that have a positive effect on the 
communities we serve.   

Sustainability means spending public money 
intelligently and responsibly, making efficient use 
of natural resources and taking our part in 
building healthy, resilient communities. By making 
the most of social, environmental and economic 
assets we can improve health both in the 
immediate and long term even in the context of 
rising costs of natural resources.. 

In October 2022 the NHS became the first in the 
world to commit to delivering a net zero national 
health system. We continue to work hard to 
minimise our carbon footprint in line with the NHS 
commitments. These targets are: 

 The NHS Carbon Footprint (emissions 

they control directly), will be net zero by 

2040, with ambition to reach an 80% 

reduction from 2028-2032 

 The NHS Carbon Footprint Plus 

(emissions they can influence), will be net 

zero by 2045, with ambition to reach an 

80% reduction from 2036-2039 

The Trust during 2020/21 transitioned to 
renewable electricity backed by Renewable 
Energy Guarantee of Origin (REGOs).  This has 
reduced the Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions of 
the Trust by around 30%. 

Green Plan 

One way an organisation can embed 
sustainability into it’s operation is to implement a 
Green Plan. Our Green Plan is now finalised and 
endorsed by the Trust Board and will support the 
Trust in delivering on its Long-Term Green Plan 
and the ‘For a greener NHS’ campaign’s 
objectives. 

As an organisation we acknowledge our 
responsibilities towards creating a sustainable 
future and have aligned our strategies with those 
priorities and ambitions of the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).  Our 
organisation is starting to contribute to these 
SDGs at a local level. 

 

  

Energy use 2021/22 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust spent £2,798,816 
on energy in 2020/21 which is 22 per cent more 
than we spent on energy the previous year. The 
table below shows a 6 per cent reduction in CO2 
emissions since 2015/16.  We are seeing 
changes to the energy market as market prices 
for gas and electricity have increased 
significantly, and this is driving a change and 
savings strategy to be implemented during 
2022/23.  Also significant has been the return to 
normal operations by the Trust after the COVID 
lockdowns, shown in an increase in the use of 
gas, electricity and water as the Trust activity 
returns to normal. 

 

Graph 1: Showing the effect of zero carbon 
electricity on overall CO2 emissions. 

 

Year Electricity Gas 
Total CO2 
emissions  

2016/17 2,891 8,089 10,980 

2017/18 2,264 7,883 10,147 

2018/19 2,224 7,323 9,547 

2019/20 1,632 8,873 10,505 

2020/21 0 7,283 7,283 

Table 1: Showing carbon emissions for gas and 
electricity. 

The hospital has increased its workforce to meet 
the demand of the community.  The number of 
whole time equivalent staff (WTE) is directly 
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related to energy use and when CO2 emissions 
are normalised against the number of WTEs this 
is shown. 

Year 
Number of 

WTE 
employees 

CO2 

emissions 
per WTE 

2015/16 4,354 2.59 

2016/17 4,472 2.51 

2017/18 4,425 2.32 

2018/19 4,326 2.23 

2019/20 4,429 2.37 

2020/21 4,354 1.67 
 

Table 2: Showing employees and their carbon 
foot print 

 

 

Graph 2: Showing Total CO2 emissions and per 
employee. 

Case Studies 

We are committed to reducing our environmental 
impact, and every action counts. Below are a few 
examples of the actions the Trust has undertaken 
in 2020/21. 

Our LED lighting completed in March 2020 
continues to provide benefits, and our initiatives in 
catering from last year mean that 45 tonnes of 
CO2 is no longer being emitted. 

We are an active part of the NHS England and 
Improvement Walking Aids Initiative which 
recycles and re-uses walking aids.  Locally in 
January alone, 43 items were deposited, and 
33% were able to be reused, with the rest being 
recycled. 

Our catering team are now recycling used 
cooking oil and food waste is being converted to 
energy.  In the last 12 months, the Trust has 
recycled 788 litres of used cooking oil, equivalent 
to 1.6 tonnes of CO2. 

Around 17 tonnes of food waste (193 collections) 
was collected during the last year for recycling 
through our contracted provider.  This food waste 
produced 24.5 MWH of electricity and diverting 13 
tonnes away from landfill, while saving 59 tonnes 
of CO2. 

The Trust continues with its free bus service to 
employees and typically 1000 journeys are made 
by staff each week.  The car parking employs an 
exclusion zone where those with the options to 
travel to work locally by public transport are not 
given onsite parking permits. 

The Trust has been considering the option of 
recovering and recycling anaesthetic agent and 
reducing the use of nitrous oxide as a carrier gas 
for anaesthetic agents.  Anaesthetic gases can 
remain in the atmosphere for many years 
contributing to global warming.  Anaesthesia 
contributes 2% to the total NHS Carbon Footprint. 

 

Community Engagement , Human Rights 
and Anti bribery 

 

Community Engagement 

The Trust aims to carry out meaningful 
community engagement through actively 
informing, involving, and inviting feedback about 
our services. 

Involvement from our local community helps 
shape and influence decision making to improve 
services and patient experience. We encourage 
people to get involved and share their views, as 
this will help us have a better understanding of 
diverse health needs and what matters to 
patients, carers, the public, members, 
stakeholders and the wider community. 

We will continue to share updates and 
opportunities to get involved by attending virtual 
and face-to-face meetings, community events, 
sharing information, and invitations to events with 
members and the community, providing updates 
on our website and through our bi-monthly 
Community Engagement newsletter. 

In the last year, we have continued to engage 
with our local community through virtual sessions. 
We have hosted a variety of online public events, 
including events focusing on Patient Experience, 
Improvement and Innovation, Improvements to 
our Emergency Department and Care of Elderly 
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People, and Quality Priorities. We also held our 
Annual Members’ Meeting in September 2021. 

The Trust has had the chance to participate in a 
handful of face-to-face opportunities. Our public 
governors have attended shopping and 
community centres, and our Frailty team shared 
their news about their services with the Medway 
NHS Retirement Fellowship. We have also been 
fortunate to be involved with the launch of the 
Parents' Network Group. This was designed by 
Fetal Medicine Consultant, Professor Ranjit 
Akolekar with the aim of involving and engaging 
parents who have experienced a difficult 
pregnancy, in order to help shape our services in 
the future. 

We were delighted to have more than 60 schools 
and nurseries support the Trust by holding a 
rainbow-themed tag day in celebration of the NHS 
turning 73 - raising more than £6000 for the 
Medway Hospital Charity.  

We plan to continue to build on our community 
engagement and provide opportunities to engage 
with the wider community groups in areas that are 
harder to reach. This will ensure that we continue 
to learn and discover the amazing work that is 
taking place in our local community, and ensure 
their voices are heard within the Trust. 

Anti bribery 

During the reporting period, the Trust’s local 
counter fraud services have been provided by 
KPMG. The Audit and Risk Committee approves 
an annual counter fraud work plan. It also 
receives a report at each meeting detailing cases 
of possible fraud and the outcome of any 
investigations. Progress in respect of proactive 
work and themed reviews is also reported. The 
Audit and Risk Committee monitors the 
implementation of any recommendations made by 
KPMG by way of a management action tracker.  
The local counter fraud services team works 
closely with the internal audit team to consider 
how identified fraud risks can be addressed within 
the scope of their reviews and additional 
assurance can be provided through this route. 

Throughout the year KPMG raised awareness 
through a tailored combination of refreshing of 
induction materials for the Trust, ad-hoc alerts to 
Trust staff and communications through events 
like Fraud Awareness Week. .  

The counter fraud team brought two 
investigations forward from 2020/21 and four new 
referrals of fraud were received during 2021/22, 

which were investigated and outcomes reported 
to the Audit and Risk Committee.  Four of these 
referrals are closed and two remain open. 

Equality, diversity and human rights 

Control measures are in place to ensure that the 
organisation’s obligations under equality and 
human rights legislation are complied with. The 
Trust employs a Head of Equality and Inclusion to 
provide strategic and practical professional 
guidance and advice to the Trust. The Trust’s 
strategic approach to equality and diversity is 
managed through the Equality Delivery Scheme 
(EDS2). A baseline assessment of EDS2 was 
completed in 2017, which identified equality 
objectives for 2017 to 2021, and this is reviewed 
periodically, and a new Equality Strategy will be 
produced in 2022. Additionally, the Trust 
publishes the results and action plans on 
mandatory equality metrics, such as the Gender 
Pay Gap and Workforce Race Equality Standard. 
These metrics enable the Trust to benchmark 
with other NHS organisations and partners, to 
produce and maintain action plans, and review 
and improve its performance for people with 
characteristics protected by the Equality Act 
2010. Training on Equality and Human Rights is 
mandatory for all staff, and management 
programmes have been developed to improve the 
Trust’s leadership skills around equality, diversity 
and human rights. The Trust is committed to 
going beyond that which is mandated and makes 
equality and inclusion an integral part of 
everything it does for staff, patients and the local 
community. 

Gender Pay Gap  

In May 2022, the Trust published its gender pay 
gap and supporting statement for 2021/22, as 
required under the Equality Act 2010 (Specific 
Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 
2017.  The Trust’s mean gender pay gap is 30 
per cent and the median gender pay gap is 21.4 
per cent. This is an improvement from the 
position in 2021. The gender pay gap relates to 
gender differentials in the progression to senior 
roles, particularly in medical roles. There is some 
evidence that this pattern is repeated in many 
other Trusts across the NHS, and relates to 
professional career paths. 
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Overview of financial performance  

Although on occasion the quality of the service 
we offer has not achieved the levels we have 
strived for, this has not been as a result of the 
removal of resource nor through a lack of 
willingness to ensure managers and clinicians 
have the manpower and equipment they need to 
provide those services.  Choices have been made 
and will continue to be made as to how services 
might develop and change within the funding 
envelope and we will maintain our close 
relationships with local commissioners and the 
Integrated Care System/Board to ensure our 
patients receive the best care for the best value. 

 
The accounts presented in this 2021/22 annual 
report show a small surplus of £0.1 million; this 
was on the basis of system-level financial 
envelope substantially fixed for the year.   This 
means that the Trust had to manage its cost base 
to operate and fit within a defined level of income. 
 
Once again this year, the planning guidance and 
allocations were split into two half yearly rounds, 
although performance was measured against the 
full year.  The Trust met its control total in 
2021/22, the fourth year running that it has done 
so.  
 
While the impact of Covid was not as significant 
as it was in 2020/21, maintaining separate patient 
pathways for those with Covid and following 
infection prevention and control guidance added 
cost into service delivery that would not ordinarily 
have existed.  Managing this cohort of patients 
was coupled with a national drive to deliver 
elective activity at levels in line with or above 
those undertaken before the pandemic.  In order 
to best manage the safety and care of our 
patients and their waiting times, the Trust utilised 
the national and local contracts available to it by 
putting some of this work into the independent 
sector. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The overall performance against the Trust’s 
control total is as per the table below. 

  
Plan  
£m 

Actual 
£m 

Variance 
£'000 

Clinical income 356.2 370.3 14.1 

Other income 22.4 30.2 7.8 

Pay (236.3) (256.1) (19.8) 

Non-pay (130.6) (137.4) (6.8) 

Operating surplus 11.7 7.0 4.7 

Non-operating expenses (11.9) (6.9) 5.0 

Reported surplus/(deficit) (0.2) 0.1 0.3 

Net impairments - (0.1) (0.1) 

Donated Asset cost/income net 0.0 (0.5) (0.5) 

Impact of consumables from DHSC - 0.5 0.5 

Other adjustments 0.2 - (0.2) 

Control total 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Income 

The majority of the Trust’s income is directly 
related to patient care from commissioning 
organisations such as CCGs and NHS England. 
Since 2020/21, this was based on fixed income 
sums to cover historic contract levels, recognising 
that “ordinary” activity would be much reduced as 
a result of the Covid measures in place. 

Other operating income included: income related 
to the provision of consumables and donated 
assets from DHSC in respect of Covid; education 
and training funding, and; research and 
development funding.  Monies from car parking 
and catering remained lower than pre-pandemic 
levels due to the visiting restrictions imposed to 
control the spread of infection. 

Expenditure 

In 2021/22 the Trust is reporting increased costs 
of £11.4 million on pay and £8.4 million on non-
pay when compared to 2020/21.   

Of these increases, £6.3 million relates to pay 
awards and inflationary pressures, £9.0 million to 
the additional staff in post to meet safer staffing 
and activity needs and £7.7 million to additional 
investments.  These has been partially offset by a 
reduction in the costs associated with managing 
Covid. 
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Capital expenditure plan 

During the year, the Trust has invested £22.8 
million in capital schemes in the areas shown 
below. 
 

  £m 

Estates and Site infrastructure 9.8 
Fire Safety 2.8 
IT 8.3 
Equipment 1.9 

Total 22.8 
 

The total investment is lower than the previous 
year but still almost double the depreciation 
funding available.  Some of the notable projects in 
the year have included: 
 

 Completion of the works in the emergency 
department 

 Implementation of an electronic patient 
records system 

 Development of a new cardiac catheter 
lab 

 Fire safety works 

 

Cash flow and balance sheet 

The balance sheet shows £260.0m of net assets 
at the end of the year, up from £244.7m of net 
assets at previous year end. 

The Trust ended the year with £33.5 million cash 
in the bank; this is lower than originally planned 
due to the repayment of prior year cash advances 
from the commissioner and higher than expected 
PDC dividends.  
 
Financial outlook 

2022/23 will be another challenging year for the 
Trust.  We have submitted a deficit plan for the 
year of £3.2 million, arising as a consequence of 
hyper-inflationary cost pressures.  At the time of 
writing a further submission of the plan is due 
nationally and it is anticpated that further funding 
allocated to meet inflationary pressures will 
enable the Trust to agree a balanced Plan. 
 
From nationally collected data, we know that in 
recent years the Trust has improved its efficiency 
position relative to Trusts up and down the 

country.  This is represented by the chart below 
sourced from the national model health system 
data.  The Trust’s cost per ‘weighted activity unit’ 
has reduced each year from a high of £3,832 in 
2016/17 to £3,377 in 2020/21 (the last collection 
period). 
 
It shows the Trust below the national median for 
its average costs, yet historically it has had a 
significant deficit.  The task as a health economy 
is to move our performance to comfortably within 
the top left hand quartile of the chart (better than 
average efficiency; surplus) while ensuring 
patients receive the quality of care they deserve.  
In addressing this challenge the Trust is working 
with partners in the Integrated Care 
System/Board and national support teams to 
approve a long term financial strategy by way of 
its Financial Recovery Plan. 

 
Whilst a number of challenges exist – as set out 
below – the largest uncertainty remains whether 
another Covid wave will strike and the impact that 
might have. 
 
There remain some key risks to the overall plan, 
each of which are high on the agenda of the 
Board.  Specifically: 
 

 Delivery of activity to meet the elective 

recovery fund thresholds and reduce 

patient waiting times; 

 Mitigation of cost pressures, including 

hyper-inflationary costs; 

 Controlling expenditure in line with 

budgets; 

 Delivery of an efficiency programme and 

ensuring no compromise on quality; 

 Recruitment and retention of workforce to 

reduce reliance on premium cost 

temporary staff; 

 Managing investments to a tight capital 

programme. 
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Overseas operations 

The Trust does not have any overseas operations. 

 

As Accounting Officer, I am satisfied that this performance report provides a true and accurate summary of 
the performance of the Trust during the year 2021/22. 

Signed 

 

 

 

Jayne Black 
Chief Executive (Interim) 
21 June 2022 
  



 

    

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

 

24 

 

 

 

 



 

ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 

 

 

25 

 

Directors’ Report 

Board of Directors 

The following disclosures relate to the Trust’s 
governance arrangements and illustrate the 
application of the main and supporting principles 
of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of 
Governance (the Code). It is the responsibility of 
the board of directors to ensure that the Trust 
complies with the provisions of the code or, 
where it does not, to provide an explanation 
which justifies departure from the code in the 
particular circumstances. 

The directors’ report has been prepared under 
direction issued by NHS Improvement, the 
independent regulator for foundation trusts, and 
in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual 2021/22. 

 

The Trust Board 

 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust is run by the 
board of directors. The board is responsible for 
overseeing the overall strategic and corporate 
direction of the Trust and ensures the delivery of 
the Trust’s goals and targets. It is also 
responsible for ensuring its obligations to 
regulators and stakeholders are met. Strategic 
priorities are set by the trust board annually. The 
risks to achieving these priorities are monitored 
through the board assurance framework, which 
provides the board with a systematic process of 
obtaining assurance to support the mitigation of 
risks. The Trust board leads the Trust and 
provides a framework of governance within 
which high quality, safe services are delivered to 
the residents of Medway and Swale. 

Trust Board Governance 

The board comprised a non-executive Chair, six 
other non-executive directors, five voting 
executive directors, including the chief executive 
chief finance officer, chief nursing officer and 
chief medical officer. The Chair is responsible 
for leadership of the board of Directors and the 
Council of Governors and responsible for 
ensuring that the board and Council work 
together effectively. The senior independent 
director, who is also a non-executive director, 
provides a sounding-board for the Chair and 
serves as an intermediary for the other directors 
when necessary. They should be available to 

governors if they have concerns that contact 
through the normal channels has failed to 
resolve, or for which such contact is 
inappropriate. The senior independent director is 
also the deputy chairperson. 

The non-executive directors scrutinise the 
performance of the executive team in meeting 
agreed goals and objectives and monitor 
performance. The executive directors are 
responsible for managing the day-to-day 
operational and financial performance of the 
Trust. The chief executive leads the executive 
team and is accountable to the board for the 
operational delivery of the Trust.  

All voting board directors (executive and non-
executive) have joint responsibility for board 
decisions, same legal responsibilities and 
collective responsibility for the performance of 
the Trust. 

Together, the non-executive directors and 
executive directors bring a wide range of skills 
and experience to the Trust, such that the board 
achieves balance and completeness. The board 
meets monthly with bi-monthly development 
sessions. 

All non-executive directors are eligible for 
appointment for two three-year terms of office, 
and in exceptional circumstances a further term 
of 12 months. The Chair and non-executive 
directors are appointed by the Council of 
Governors in accordance with the Trust’s 
Constitution. 

The board has an approved Scheme of 
Delegation. The board delegates some of its 
powers to its committees, all of which have a 
non-executive chair. The arrangements for 
delegation are set out in the Trust’s Standing 
Orders and Scheme of Delegation. The Trust’s 
constitution and terms of reference of these 
committees and their specific powers are 
approved by the board of directors. The board 
committees are all assurance committees with 
the exception of the Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee.  

 

Board Appointments and Leavers 

Non-executive directors are appointed via a 
formal and transparent procedure, managed 
through the governors’ nominations and 
remuneration committee, a sub-committee of the 
Council of Governors. This committee also 
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advises the Council on the remuneration and 
terms and conditions of the non-executive 
directors.  

The Council of Governors, advised by the 
Nominations Committee, appointed Annyes 
Laheurte as a non—executive director for three 
years from 1 April 2021. The role was 
advertised. 

Executive directors 

The post of Chief Nursing Officer, Chief Medical 
Officer and Chief Operating Officer have been 
recruited to during the year. All roles were 
publicly advertised and interviews were held by 
the Board’s Nominations Committee.  

The range of voting and non-voting directors has 
been reviewed by the Board Nominations 
Committee. Revised job titles for most voting 
directors were approved to make this clearer. 

At the time this report was produced, the Trust 
was recruiting a new Chief Executive and a new 
non-executive director.  

 

Decisions delegated to the Executive Group 

The executive directors meet fortnightly and the 
meeting is chaired by the chief executive. In 
January 2022 the Trust Management Board 
comprised of the executives and representatives 
of the clinical divisions began operating. Its 
purpose is to ensure that the objectives agreed 
by the board are delivered and to analyse the 
activity and performance of the Trust against the 

business plan to ensure that duties are 
appropriately delegated to the senior 
management team and actions monitored. It 
also ensures that the key information from 
external bodies is discussed, actions identified 
and messages disseminated appropriately 
across the organisation. 

Statement about  the balance, completeness 
and appropriateness of the board 

The members of the trust board possess a wide 
range of skills and bring experience gained from 
NHS organisations, other public bodies and the 
private sector. The skills portfolio of the 
directors, both executive and non-executive are 
balanced to ensure it meets the requirements of 
a NHS foundation trust. 

The non-executive directors are considered to 
be independent in character and judgement and 
the board believes it has the correct balance in 
its composition to meet the requirements of a 
NHS foundation trust.   

The Trust’s constitution permits each term of 
office to be up to three years, to a maximum of 
seven years’ service. Appointments and 
removals of non-executive directors are 
determined by the council of governors on the 
advice of the Nominations Committee.  

The constitution was amended in 2021/22 to 
ensure it was fully compatible with virtual 
meetings and to add a new Appointed governor 
for Swale Borough Council. 
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Directors of Medway NHS Foundation Trust 2021/22 

Non-executive directors 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Joanne Palmer 

Chair – appointed 22 October 2020 

 
Appointed as non-executive director  
1 September 2015 
Appointed as Senior Independent Director  
22 December 2016 
 
Appointed as Deputy Chair 1 April 2017 

Acting Chair from 1 April to 21 October 
2020 

Term: first as Chair, ending 30 September 
2023 

 

Experience and Qualifications 

Current role : Chief Operating Officer at BC&E 

More than 30 years’ experience in banking and financial 
services across a range of disciplines 

Member of the national committee for the Group’s women’s 
network, Breakthrough. 

 
Membership of committees 

Trust Nominations and Remuneration Committee  

Finance Planning and Performance Committee  

Audit & Risk Committee 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mark Spragg 

Non-Executive Director 

Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent 
Director.   

  

Appointed 1 April 2017 

Term: second term commenced 1 April 2020 

 

Experience and Qualifications 

Qualified solicitor with more than 30 years’ experience 

Both a civil and criminal litigation specialist with expertise in 
the area of Financial Services 

Involved in a number of notable cases 

Involved in charity work. 

 

Membership of committees 

Audit & Risk Committee (Chair)  

Finance, Planning and Performance Committee 

Trust Nominations and Remuneration Committee (Chair) 

Charitable Trustee   
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Ewan Carmichael, CBE  

Non-Executive Director  

Appointed 1 September 2015 

Term: second, until 31 August 2022, having 
been offered a 12 month extension from his 
original end date.  

 

 

Experience and Qualifications 

Graduate of the Army Staff College 

MA in Strategy from King’s College, London 

Retired Dental Surgeon and formerly Queen’s Honorary 
Dental Surgeon 

Honorary Fellow in Dental Surgery of the Royal College of 
Physicians and Surgeons of Glasgow 

Fellow of the Institute of Healthcare Management 

Promoted to Commander of the Order of the British Empire 
(CBE) in the 2014 Birthday Honours, and also awarded an 
MBE for Squadron leadership in the First Gulf War 
(appointed as an Officer of the Order of St John for work in 
Bosnia, and awarded the Cross of Merit by the Czech 
Republic for services to that nation) 

Former Director General Army Medical Services  

Founded and led the Air Assault Medical Regiment on 
operations 

Commissioner of the Royal Hospital Chelsea. 

 

Membership of committees 

Charitable Funds Committee (Chair)  

Quality Assurance Committee 

Trust Nominations and Remuneration Committee 

Charitable Trustee   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adrian Ward 

Non-Executive Director 

 

Non-Executive Director for Freedom to Speak 
Up  

Appointed 1 August 2017 

Term: second, ending 31 July 2023 

 

 

Experience and Qualifications 

Practising Veterinary Surgeon 

Graduate of the Royal Veterinary College. 

BSc (Hons) in Physiology from King’s College, London. 

Former Veterinary Advisor for pharmaceutical company - 
developed an interest in the development of antimicrobial 
resistance and the strategies that can be used to slow this 
process 

Case examiner for the Royal College of Veterinary 
Surgeons Preliminary Investigation Committee from 2015 

Chair, Fitness to Practise Panel for the Nursing and 
Midwifery Council from 2017  

Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales Investigating Committee from 2018 

Promotes responsible antibiotic use and infection control 
strategies through his work with the Bella Moss Foundation. 
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Assists in development of educational resources for the 
veterinary profession as a volunteer for the British Small 
Animal Veterinary Association. 

 
Membership of committees 

Quality Assurance Committee 

Health and Safety Strategy Committee 

Nominations and Remuneration Committee 

Charitable Trustee   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tony Ullman 

Non-Executive Director 

Term: first -  started on 1 January 2020 

 

Experience and Qualifications 

More than 25 years’ experience in senior leadership 
positions in commissioning organisations in both Health and 
Social Care, and voluntary sector and community 
organisations.  

Played a leading role in the transformation of Primary Care 
in Manchester. 

More than 20 years’ experience as a Local Authority 
Councillor, for most of that time in positions of responsibility  

Senior leadership; including being Deputy Chair of Police 
Authority in a large Metropolitan County area, and leading 
the establishment of Local Authority arrangements for 
Overview and Scrutiny, and Community Relations. 

Chairs a Federation of Pupil Referral Units, schools for 
excluded children. 

Chair of Quality Assurance Committee  

Member of Nominations and Remuneration Committee  

Charitable Trustee   

 

Sue Mackenzie  

Appointed as a Non Executive Director  
from 1 April 2020; Term: first  

(Initially appointed Non-Voting Associate 
Non Executive Director 1 January to 31 
March 2020) 

Formerly Operations and Business Transformation Director 
for P&O Ferries. Before this, Sue was Operations Director 
at London Luton Airport  

Her early career was in the Army. She was the best student 
on her course at the Royal Military Academy Sandhurst and 
was subsequently appointed to a number of international 
leadership roles.  

She was Chief Executive of the charity Cities in Schools 
(CiS), which ran partnership programmes between business 
and the community to provide education to disadvantaged 
young people.  

Sue has degrees in Agricultural Science and Emergency 
Planning Management. 

Chair of People Committee 

Member of Nominations and Remuneration Committee 

Charitable Trustee   
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Annyes Laheurte  

Appointed as a Non-executive Director 
from 1 April 2021 Term: first  

Annyes has over 25 years’ experience in financial reporting 
together with financial planning and analysis for 
international organisations.  

Whilst working at Lloyd’s of London, she focussed on 
financial controls, process enhancements and safeguarding 
the Society’s assets by mitigating operational risks.   

Annyes is a Chartered Global Management Accountant 
(1991) and member of the Institute of Risk Management 
(2007) and was awarded Specialist status (2009).  

Chair of Finance Planning and Performance Committee  

Member of Audit & Risk Committee  

Member of Nominations and Remuneration Committee  

Charitable Trustee   
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Voting executive directors 

 

 

 

George Findlay 
Chief Executive  
 
Appointed from  May 2021 
 

Experience and Qualifications 

George was previously Deputy Chief Executive and 
Chief Medical Officer at University Hospitals Sussex 
NHS Foundation Trust, the trust formed following the 
merger of Western Sussex Hospitals with Brighton and 
Sussex University Hospitals. 

During his seven years at Western Sussex George 
contributed to the Trust becoming the first non-
specialist acute trust in the country to be rated 
‘Outstanding’ in all the key inspection areas assessed 
by the Care Quality Commission. He was also part of 
the leadership team at Brighton during the period when 
the Trust exited special measures and climbed three 
inspection ratings to Outstanding for Caring and Good 
overall. 

A specialist intensive care consultant, George is an 
experienced clinical leader at national and regional 
level, and a Fellow of the Health Foundation’s 
GenerationQ leadership develop and quality 
improvement programme. 

 

Gurjit Mahil 

Deputy Chief Executive  

Experience and Qualifications 

Gurjit has worked in the NHS for the past 13 years.  She 
has held a wide range of operational and business roles and 
has an extensive experience of operating and managing 
health services at a number of large acute trusts including 
Whittington Health, Kings College NHS Foundation Trust, 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust and Great Ormond 
Street Hospital.  

While at King’s College NHS Foundation Trust, Gurjit set up 
a new Advanced Day Case Surgery Centre with King’s 
College Hospital in Abu Dhabi, UAE.  

Gurjit has carried out a number of change and 
transformation projects, utilisation projects, efficiency 
programmes and patient experience projects within her time 
of working within healthcare, and is passionate about 
making every patient journey count.  
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Alan Davies  

Chief Finance Officer 
 

Experience and Qualifications 

Alan joined the Trust in November 2020 and brings with him 
extensive Finance experience within the NHS, in Acute, 
CCG and Strategic settings. His last NHS role was as CFO 
for Luton CCG and prior to that was Deputy Finance 
Director at Barking Havering and Redbridge Hospitals.  

He has a strong track record in improving financial 
performance and strengthening governance in NHS 
organisations in support of improving care for patients. Alan 
is a Fellow of the Chartered Association of Certified 
Accountants. 

 

 

 

 

Leon Hinton  

Chief People Officer  

Experience and Qualifications 

Leon brings a wealth of experience, having worked in a 
number of hospitals in the NHS over the past 17 years. He 
holds Chartered Fellow status with the Chartered Institute of 
Personnel and Development; a Master of Chemistry degree 
from the University of Warwick and postgraduate degrees in 
Human Resources Management (University of 
Wolverhampton) and Strategic Workforce Planning 
(University of West London). Leon also holds financial 
accreditation and has studied with the Healthcare Finance 
Management Association. 

Leon was an integral part of the leadership team at Great 
Ormond Street Hospital who won the national HPMA award 
in 2015 for improved HR capability. He is currently leading 
the work on the Trust’s refreshed People Strategy following 
the achievement of the regional CIPD award for HR team of 
the year in 2017. 

 
 

 

 

Evonne Hunt  

Chief Nursing Officer  

Appointed October 2021  

Experience and Qualifications 

Chief Nursing Officer  

Evonne has been a nurse for 24 years and has held director 
and senior leadership level positions in nursing, quality 
governance, patient safety, and risk management in acute, 
mental health and commissioning organisations in the NHS. 
She has also worked in the Department of Health and the 
independent and private healthcare sectors. 

As Chief Nursing Officer, Evonne has board level 
responsibility for professional nursing, midwifery and allied 
health profession workforce to support the delivery of high 
quality compassionate care. 

Evonne wanted to be a nurse since she was seven years 
old, heavily influenced by her mum who is a nurse. She is 
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extremely passionate about patient safety and experience, 
organisational culture and staff development and wellbeing. 

Evonne lives happily with her family in Kent, and enjoys 
travelling. 

  

  

 
Dr Alison Davis, Chief Medical Officer  
 
  

(Caldicott Guardian) 

Appointed January 2022 

 

Experience and Qualifications 

Alison started her clinical career as a paediatric 
ophthalmologist and has worked as a consultant at 
Moorfields Eye Hospital, St George’s Hospital Tooting, 
Croydon University Hospital and as an honorary consultant 
at Great Ormond Street Hospital.  

Recent clinical leadership experience includes deputy 
medical director at Moorfields and hospital medical director 
at Kent and Canterbury Hospital.  

 

 

 

 

Non-voting executive directors 

Gary Lupton Director of Estates and Facilities 

Paula Tinniswood  Chief Strategy and Transformation Officer 

Glynis Alexander Director of Communications and Engagement 

Jayne Black  Chief Operating Officer  

 

Executive directors during 2021/22 
 
Director of Nursing (Interim) 

 
Jane Murkin 

Chief Executive   James Devine  

David Sulch  Chief Medical Officer  

 

Non-voting Associate NEDS 

Rama 
Thirunamachandran 

Non-Voting Academic Non-Executive Director  

Jenny Chong Non-Voting Associate Non-Executive Director  
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Trust Board meetings 

The Trust board held a total of 11 public meetings between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, and three 
development sessions. Trust board meetings normally are held in public, unless there is confidential or 
sensitive information to be discussed. This is detailed on the board agenda which is published, together 
with the meeting papers on the Trust’s website.   

Six additional private meetings were held to brief the non-executive directors on the Trust’s response to 
the COVID-19 pandemic.  Director attendance at formal committee and public board meetings is detailed 
under: Attendance at Board of Directors and Committee meetings in 2021/22.   

 

Development of working relationships with the Council of Governors 

The Board of Directors and the Council of Governors have development/discussion sessions to examine 
particular areas of interest and concern. With the challenges facing the Trust, these sessions enable the 
views of both the Board of Directors and Council of Governors to be shared and are considered 
invaluable to all concerned.  

 

Committees of the Trust board 

The board delegates certain functions to committees that meet regularly. The board receives any 
amendments to committee terms of reference. Non-executive directors chair the board committees. 
Each committee reviews its own effectiveness annually; an up-to-date work programme, action log and 
terms of reference is maintained for each one.  Arising from a recommendation of the 2021 governance 
review, the Quality Assurance Committee, Finance, Planning and Performance Committee and People 
Committee have suggested deep dive triggers as an appendix to their terms of reference.   

  

Committee structure 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Chair: Jo Palmer 

People Committee 

Chair: Sue Mackenzie 

Quality Assurance 
Committee 

Chair: Tony Ullman 

Finance, Planning and 
Performance  Committee 

Chair: Annyes Laheurte

Board Nominations and 
Remuneration 

Committee  

Chair: Mark Spragg

Audit & Risk Committee 

Chair: Mark Spragg
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Audit & Risk Committee 
The report of the Audit & Risk Committee (formerly Integrated Audit Committee) is detailed separately as 
required by section C.3.9 of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance. 

 

Quality Assurance Committee 

The Quality Assurance Committee is chaired by a non-executive director and has delegated authority 
from the Board to be assured that the appropriate structures, systems and processes are in place to 
manage quality and safety related matters, and that these are monitored appropriately. The committee 
ensures an integrated and co-ordinated approach to the development and monitoring of the quality 
metrics (patient safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness) at a corporate level; it leads on the 
monitoring of quality systems within the Trust to ensure that quality is a key component of all activities 
within the Trust, and ensures compliance with regulatory requirements and best practice with patient 
safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness.  

The committee regularly receives assurance (where necessary seeks further guidance or actions) on 
serious incidents, safeguarding, infection prevention and control, complaints and other matters relating 
to the experience of our patients.  The Committee also receives assurance from the Integrated Quality 
and Performance Report.  Outcomes from clinical audits are discussed at Committee meetings.  The 
Committee provides a key issues report to the Board of Directors after every meeting on its activities.  

The Committee met 12 times during 2021/22. Attendance record is detailed under Attendance at Board 
of Directors and Committee meetings in 2021/22. 

 

Finance, Planning and Performance Committee  

The Committee is chaired by a non-executive director and provides assurance that the Trust’s strategy, 
financial forecasts, plans and operational performance are being considered in detail, and provides 
independent and objective assurance to the Trust Board regarding investments and significant contracts 
before their approval by the Trust Board.  The board extended the committee’s remit in January 2022. 

The Committee provides a key issues report on its activities to the Board of Directors after every 
meeting. The Committee met 13 times during the year. Attendance is detailed under Attendance at 
Board of Directors and Committee meetings in 2021/22. 

 

People Committee  

Formed in July 2020 and chaired by a non-executive director, this committee has strengthened the 
board’s focus on key areas such as equalities, Freedom to Speak Up, staff well-being and recruitment.  
It has met five times. 

 

Nominations and Remuneration Committee 

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee (the Committee) is chaired by the Senior Independent 
Director and Deputy Chair. Its membership consists of the Trust’s chair and non-executives. The 
committee is responsible for reviewing and making recommendations to the Trust board on the 
composition, balance, skill mix and succession planning of the Trust board, for determining the 
appointment of the executive directors, and monitoring the level and structure of other senior 
managers reporting directly to the chief executive.  

It is responsible for reviewing the size, structure and composition of the board on an annual basis and 
makes recommendations to the board. Directors have individual appraisals and professional 
development reviews. 

The committee met six times during the year. Attendance record is detailed under Attendance at Board 
of Directors and Committee meetings in 2021/22. 
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Attendance at Board of Directors and Committee meetings in 2021/22 
 

  Trust Board and Committees   

Voting Members  

(See Non-Executive Directors biography and 
Committee structure for Chair of Committees) 
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Joanne Palmer Chair 9/10 1/1 10/10 10/13 3/6 5/6 

Mark Spragg Non-Executive 
Director/ Senior 
Independent Director 

9/10 5/5 - 10/13 - 6/6 

Sue Mackenzie Non-Executive 
Director 

6/10 - 11/12 - 5/6 6/6 

Tony Ullman  Non-Executive 
Director 

10/10 - 12/12 - 6/6 6/6 

Ewan Carmichael  Non-Executive 
Director 

8/10 - 12/12 - 5/6 6/6 

Adrian Ward  Non-Executive 
Director 

7/10 - 9/12 - - 3/6 

Annyes Laheurte  Non-Executive 
Director 

9/10 5/5 - 13/13 5/6 5/6 

George Findlay  Chief Executive 8/8 - 10/12 9/11 3/6 - 

Alan Davies  Chief Finance Officer   9/10 - - 11/13 - - 

Leon Hinton Chief People Officer  9/10 - - - 6/6  

Alison Davis Chief Medical Officer  3/3 - 2/3 - --  

Evonne Hunt  Chief Nursing  
Officer  

4/4 - 4/4 

 

- --  

Gurjit Mahil  Deputy Chief 
Executive 

9/10 - - - -  
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Audit & Risk Committee Report 
 

The Audit & Risk Committee’s (the Committee) responsibilities and key areas discussed during 2021/22, 
whilst fulfilling these responsibilities, described in the table below: 

 

Principal responsibilities  

 

Key areas discussed and reviewed by the 

committee during 2020/21 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reviewing the Trust’s internal 
financial controls, its compliance with 
NHS Improvement’s guidance for 
foundation trusts, including the Code 
of Governance, and the effectiveness 
of its internal control and risk 
management systems. 

 

Reviewing the principal non-clinical 
risks and uncertainties of the business 
and associated annual report risk 
management disclosures. (Clinical 
risks are reviewed by the Quality 
Assurance Committee). 

 

  

 

The outputs of the Trust’s risk management  processes 
including reviews of: 

 The Board Assurance Framework– the principal 
risks and uncertainties identified by the Trust’s 
executive directors and movement in the impact 
and likelihood of these risks and assurances on 
controls. 

 Work continuing on the Trust’s risk management 
processes and risk reporting. 

 Annual assessment of the effectiveness of 
internal control systems taking account of the 
findings from internal and external audit reports. 

 Internal audit, counter fraud and external audit 
reports and updates. 

 Interests, gifts, hospitality and sponsorship 
quarterly declarations. 

 Losses and special payments 

 Waivers of standing financial instructions 

 Monitor the integrity of the financial 
statements of the organisation and 
any formal announcements relating to 
its financial performance 

 

Review the annual report and 
financial statements before 
submission to the Board, to determine 
their objectivity, integrity and accuracy 

 

 Annual report and financial statements, 
including the Head of Internal Audit Opinion, the 
Annual Governance Statement, the Annual 
Internal Audit Report, the Annual Counter Fraud 
Report and the External Audit Opinions on the 
Financial Accounts and recommended 
acceptance to the Trust Board. 

 Key accounting policy judgements, including 
valuations. 

 Impact of changes in financial reporting 
standards where relevant. 

 Single tender waivers 

 Losses and special payments 
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Principal responsibilities  

 

Key areas discussed and reviewed by the 

committee during 2020/21 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monitoring and reviewing the external 
auditor’s independence, objectivity 
and effectiveness. 

 

Developing and implementing policy 
on the engagement of the external 
auditor to supply non audit services, 
taking into account relevant ethical 
guidance. 

 Basis for concluding that the Trust is a going 
concern. 

 External auditor effectiveness and 
independence. 

 External auditor reports on planning, a risk 
assessment, internal control and value for 
money reviews. 

 External auditor recommendations for improving 
the financial systems or internal controls. 

 Changes to Accounting Standards. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monitoring and reviewing the 
effectiveness of the Trust’s internal 
audit function that meets National 
Audit Office 2015 Code of Audit 
Practice and provides appropriate 
independent assurance to the 
Committee. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Satisfying itself that the Trust has 
adequate arrangements in place for 
counter fraud and security that meet 
NHS Counter Fraud Authority’s 
standards and reviewing the 
outcomes of work in these areas. 

 High priority internal audit recommendations 
with progress report covering 18 months. 

 The internal audit reports discussed by the 
Committee included: 

 Risk Management – significant assurance with 
minor improvement opportunities 

 Data Quality : waiting list management – 
significant assurance with minor improvement 
opportunities 

 Responding to Ockenden – significant 
assurance with minor improvement 
opportunities 

 Procurement and accounts payable processes 
(mandatory audit of core financial systems) - 
Partial assurance with improvements required 

 Infection Prevention & Control – Partial 
assurance with improvements required 

 Data Security Toolkit – Significant assurance 
with minor improvement opportunities. 

The reports identified recommendations for 
improvement that have been accepted by the executive 
directors. 

There have been regular reports and updates from the 
Local Counter Fraud Specialist throughout the year.  
This has included a review of the application of the 
Trust’s Conflicts of Interest Policy.  

 Reviewing the Committee’s terms of 
reference and monitoring its 
execution. 

 

Considering compliance with legal 
requirements, accounting standards. 

Terms of reference have been reviewed. 
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Composition and meetings 
 
The Committee is a non-executive committee of 
the Trust board, established in accordance with 
the Trust’s constitution and has delegated 
authority to review the adequacy and 
effectiveness of our systems of internal control 
and our arrangements for risk management, 
control and governance processes to support 
our objectives.  

Executive directors attend by invitation, and the 
Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer are 
generally in attendance. Other executive 
directors and staff with specialist expertise 
attend by invitation. 

The Committee met five times during the 
financial year. 

 

Attendance at meetings 

Non-executive directors  
(members) 

Attendance at 
meetings 

Mark Spragg (Chairman) 5/5 

Annyes Laheurte 5/5 

 

Code of Governance 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust has applied the 
principles of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of 
Governance on a comply or explain basis.  

In so far as the Board is aware, all possible 
steps have been taken to ensure that all 
relevant audit information has been disclosed in 
full to the auditors. 

 

Effectiveness of the committee 

The Committee reviews its effectiveness and 
impact annually using best practice guidance, 
and ensures that any matters arising from this 
review are addressed.  

The Non-Executive Directors were satisfied that 
the Committee in 2021/22 had complied with its 
obligations and expectations as noted in its 
terms of reference, with steady progress being 
made on improving processes, with further 
improvement required. 

The Committee reviewed and approved its 
terms of reference in December 2021 and the 
committee was re-named by the Board in 

January 2022. The terms of reference were 
revised with changes to adhere to best practice. 
The Committee has also reviewed and approved 
its work plan for 2022/23. 

The Committee also reviews the performance of 
its internal and external auditors’ service against 
best practice criteria as detailed in the NHS 
Audit Committee Handbook. 

 

External audit 

The Council of Governors approved the 
appointment of Grant Thornton for a three-year 
term from 2019/20, with an option to extend for 
a further two years.  This year’s fee was 
£74,400.  A separate fee is paid for work in 
connection with the hospital charity.  

Their audit and non-audit fees are set, 
monitored and reviewed throughout the year 
and are included in the notes to the accounts. 

 

Independence of external auditor 

The Committee considered the independence of 
our external auditor undertaking non-audit work. 
No risks were identified in this respect, 
particularly in relation to self-review and 
familiarity. Our auditors will not be relying on any 
additional work undertaken when forming their 
opinion and we do not believe there to be a 
threat of familiarity.  

 
Internal controls, internal audit and 

counter-fraud services 

Internal audit services and counter fraud 
services are provided by KPMG. Internal audit 
cover financial and non-financial audits 
according to a risk-based plan agreed with the 
Audit & Risk Committee.  

Counter fraud carry out reviews of areas at risk 
of fraud and investigate any reported frauds.  

The Trust sustained the loss of IT equipment 
from stores during 2021 and has not been able 
to recover this. 

The audit plan of the internal auditors is risk-
based, and the executive team works with the 
auditors to identify key risks to inform the audit 
plan. The Committee considers the links 
between the audit plan and the Board 
Assurance Framework. The Committee 
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approves the internal audit plan and monitors 
the resources required for delivery. During the 
year, the committee considers any proposed 
changes to the audit plan and monitors delivery 
against the plan approved at the start of the 
financial year. 

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion 2021/22 was 
presented to the Audit & Risk Committee in 
March 2022 and for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 
March 2022 an overall rating of ‘‘Significant 
assurance with minor improvements” can be 
given on the overall adequacy and effectiveness 
of the organisation’s framework of governance, 
risk management and control. 

The Committee has reviewed the content of the 
annual report and accounts and taken as a 
whole: 

 

a) It is fair, balanced and understandable 
and provides the necessary information 
for stakeholders to assess the Trust’s 
performance 

 

b) It is consistent with the annual 
governance statement, head of internal 
audit opinion and feedback received 
from the external auditors, and there are 
no matters that the Committee is aware 
of at this time that have not been 
disclosed appropriately 

 

c) It is appropriate to prepare the accounts 
on a going concern basis 

 

The committee has approved the annual report 
and accounts under delegated authority from the 
board of directors.  
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Governors’ report 

Council of Governors 

The Council of Governors (the Council) is made 
up of elected and appointed governors who 
provide an important link between the Trust, 
local people and key stakeholder organisations. 
They share information and views that can 
influence and shape the way that services are 
provided by the Trust and they work together 
with the Board of Directors to ensure that the 
Trust delivers a high quality of healthcare within 
a strict framework of governance while 
achieving financial balance and planning for the 
future.  

The Trust’s Constitution sets out the key 
responsibilities of the Council. Its general 
functions are to: 

 hold the non-executive directors individually 
and collectively to account for the 
performance of the Board of Directors 

 represent the interests of the members of 
the Trust as a whole and the interests of the 
public 

 appoint and, if appropriate, remove the 
Chairman and non-executive directors 

 approve (or not) the appointment of any 
new chief executive 

 decide on remuneration and allowances 
and other terms and conditions of office of 
the Chairman and non-executive directors 

 receive the annual accounts, any report of 
the auditor, and the annual report at a 
general meeting of the Council of 
Governors 

 appoint and, if appropriate, remove the 
foundation trust’s auditor 

 approve ‘significant transactions’ 

 approve an application by the Trust to enter 
into a merger, acquisition, separation or 
dissolution 

 decide whether the Trust’s non-NHS work 
would significantly interfere with its principal 
purpose, which is to provide goods and 
services for the health service in England, 
or performing its other functions 

 approve amendments to the Trust’s 
constitution. 

Membership of the Council of Governors 

Members of the Trust, be they public or staff are 
all able to stand for election to the Council 
provided they are 16 years of age and are 
resident in the public constituency for which they 
are standing. Elected members of the Council 
are chosen by their constituency. The Council 
also includes appointed representatives from 
partner organisations and stakeholders from the 
local area to ensure a representation of views 
from the communities we serve. 

The Chair of the Council is also the Chair of the 
Trust board, which promotes transparency and 
encourages the flow of information between the 
board and the Council. 

 

The composition of the Council is: 

 

9 Elected governors from Medway 

Constituency 

 

4 Elected governors from Swale 

Constituency 

 

1 Elected governor from Rest of England and 

Wales Constituency 

 

5 Elected staff governors  

 

7 Appointed governors from partner 

organisation, comprising Medway Council, 
Kent County Council, Swale Borough Council 
(added in 2021/22). University of Kent, 
Greenwich University, Canterbury Christ 
Church University, and Medway League of 
Friends, representing charities  

 

26 seats in total 
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Public and Staff governors are elected for a 
maximum term of three years and are able to 
seek re-election for a further term. 

Partner governors are nominated by their 
organisation and serve a term of office of three 
years. These governors can be replaced by their 
organisation during this time. An appointed 
governor is eligible for re-appointment at the end 
of their term. 

Meetings of the Council of Governors 

The Council held five ordinary meetings during 
2021/22.  Extraordinary meetings are also held 
from time to time when a decision is required 
outside of the normal schedule of meetings. 
These, including the Annual Members’ Meeting 
took place virtually using MS Teams throughout 
2021/22 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Individual attendance at Council meetings by 
governors and directors is detailed under 
Attendance at Council of Governors’ meetings. 

Lead Governor 

The Council elects one of its members to be the 
Lead Governor who acts as the main point of 
contact for the Chair and Company Secretary, 
and between NHS England/Improvement and 
the other governors, when communication is 
necessary. 

The Lead Governor is responsible for 
communicating to the Chair any comments, 
observations or concerns expressed by 
governors regarding the performance of the 
Trust or any other serious or material matter 
relating to the Trust or its business.  

Cllr David Brake became lead governor from 
September 2021, taking over from Glyn Allen 
who completed his term as a governor. 

Committee of the Council of Governors 
The Council has one committee, which is the 
Governors’ Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee. The Committee has a number of 
responsibilities, including to review the 
remuneration of the non-executive directors 
each year; to be involved in the nomination 
process for all non-executive directors including 
the Chair; and to receive confirmation that 
appraisals have been carried out for the Chair 
and non-executive directors.      

 

Elections 

During 2021/22 the results of the elections for 
terms starting on 1 July 2021 were:   

 

Constituency 

 

Result 

Medway Jacqui Hackwell, Philippa 
Ruddlesdin, Adrian Parsons 
Ian Chappell, Timothy 
Newman 
Olaide Kazeem, Zoe Van 
Dyke 

Swale David Nehra, Peter 
Cheevers, Bill (Dhirendra) 
Sakaria 

Rest of 
England and 
Wales 

Amran Hussain  

Staff Kimberley Lancaster, 
Adebayo Da’Costa, 
Mohamed, Mohamed, Lisa 
Marsh, Nithesh Mathai 

 

At the time of writing, a by-elections were being 
held in the Swale public constituency for two 
vacant posts, and for one Staff governor.  
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Membership  

Public membership is available for any individual member of the public aged 16 and over who lives 
in Medway, Swale or the rest of England and Wales. Members are invited to apply by completing a 
written or electronic application form.  

Staff membership is available for staff members if they have a permanent contract, a 12-month or 
longer fixed term contract, have an honorary contract or are employed by the Trust although they 
may be working with other NHS organisations locally.   

Staff will automatically become Staff members unless they opt out.   

In March 2022, the Trust had around 10,300 public members and 4,500 staff members giving a total 
of 14,800 members.  The breakdown of our public membership by constituency is:  

  

Constituency Total  

Medway 6,353 

Swale 1,670 

Rest of England and Wales 2,262 

Membership Total 10,285 

 

During 2020/21 we moved to online virtual events due to COVID-19 pandemic and social distancing 
guidance. We held a series of virtual events on MS Teams including a members’ event considering 
the Trust’s Draft Improvement Plan in July 2020, an event focussed on Organ Donation in 
September 2020, the Annual Members’ Meeting in September 2020 and a members’ event in 
February 2021 considering the Trust’s Quality Priorities. 

Members received regular e-bulletins and received the Trust’s Special Edition News@Medway 
magazine by email which was also available on the Trust website. 

The Trust’s membership strategy was reviewed by the Council of Governors in January 2021 and 
sets out how we attract, retain and engage with members.  Our Community Engagement Officer and 
Governors held virtual ‘Meet the Governor’ sessions in order to continue our engagement activity 
with our local community. This allowed us to share updates, support and encourage people to get 
involved and to form positive working relationship and a shared understanding of our community. 

Through our engagement, we continued our efforts to establish our presence and strengthen 
networks and trust within the community. 

 

Attendance at Public Council of Governors’ meetings 

The information below outlines governors on the Council during 2011/22, together with their record 
of attendance. 

Name Constituency Term of office  Atten
dance 

Jacqui Hackwell Medway Elected 3 years with effect from 1 July 2018; 
re-elected from July 2021 for 3 years  

2 of 4   

Diana Hill   Medway Elected December 2019 to June 2022 2 of 4   

Penny Reid Medway Elected October 2020 until end of June 2023. 3 of 4 

James Chepsey  Medway  Elected December 2021 to 30 June 2024 1 or 1 
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Name Constituency Term of office  Atten
dance 

Ian Chappell  Medway  Elected July 2021 for three years 3 of 3 

Adrian Parsons  Medway  Elected July 2021 for three years 3 of 3 

Timothy Newman  Medway  Elected July 2021 for three years 2 of 3  

Olaide Kazeem Medway  Elected July 2021 for three years 3 of 3  

Zoe van Dyke  Medway  Elected July 2021 for three years 3 of 3  

Amran Hussain  Rest of England  Elected July 2021 for one year  1 of 3  

David Nehra  Swale  Elected June 2018 for 3 years with effect from 
1 July 2018; re-elected from July 2021 for a 
further three years  

3 of 4  

Bill Sakaria  Swale  Elected July 2021 for three years 0 of 3 

Vacancy     

Vacancy     

Staff Staff Elected June 2018 for 3 years with effect from 
1 July 2018 

 3 of 4  

(Vacancy)    

Nithesh Mathai  Staff Elected July 2021 for 3 years  3 of 3 

Lisa Marsh Staff Elected July 2021 for 3 years 3 of 3  

Mohamed 
Mohamed 

Staff Elected October 2020 until 30 June 2021; re-
elected from July 2021 for three years  

3 of 4 

Adebayo Da’Costa Staff  Elected July 2021 for 3 years 3 of 3  

Partner 
Governors 

University of 
Kent 

  

Cllr David Brake Medway Council  Re-appointed May 2019  4 of 4  

Cllr John Wright  Kent County 
Council  

Appointed with effect from 1 July 2017.   4 of 4   

Claire Peppiatt-
Wildman 

University of 
Kent 

Appointed January 2022  0 of 1 

Dr Sue Plummer Canterbury 
Christ Church 
University  

Appointed from February 2022  0 of 0 

Helen Belcher Charities Appointed April 2020 for 3 years 4 of 4 

Vacancy Greenwich 
University  

-  

Vacancy  Swale Borough 
– new post 
created 
February 2022  

-  
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Director attendance at Public Council of Governors meetings 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 

The Directors attend the meetings of the Council by invitation and to present routine reports to the 
Council of Governors, in line with their duty to take steps to understand the views of governors and 
for the non-executive directors be held to account. 

 

Board members during 2021/22 Attendance 

Joanne Palmer, Chair 3 of 4  

Mark Spragg, Non-Executive Director 3 of 4  

Sue Mackenzie, Non-Executive Director 3 of 4  

Ewan Carmichael, Non-Executive Director 3 of 4  

Tony Ullman, Non-Executive Director 4 of 4  

Adrian Ward, Non-Executive Director  1 of 4  

Governors who left during 2021/22 

Glyn Allen Lead Governor to 31 August 2021; completed his second  
term of office on 30 June 2021 

2 of 2   

Neil Gambell  Elected July 2018 for three years 1 of 1   

Tim Cowell  Elected July 2015; re-elected July 2018  for three years 1 of 1   

Paul Spencer-Nixon  Elected July 2018 for three years 0 of 1  

Paul Walker  Elected 2015; Re-elected June 2018 for 3 years with 
effect from 1 July 2018  

1 of 1  

Kelly Phoenix Elected October 2020 until 30 June 2021 1 of 1   

Doreen King  Elected 2015; Re-elected June 2018 for three years  1 of 1     

Jade Griffiths  Elected October 2020 until end of June 2021  1 of 1  

Lyn Gallimore Elected 2015; Re-elected June 2018 for 3 years with 
effect from 1 July 2018  

1 of 1    

Claire Thurgate  

Canterbury Christ 
Church University  

Reappointed February 2019 for 3 years with effect from 
1 March 2019.  (Resigned February 2022) 

3 of 4  

Kimberley Lancaster  Elected October 2020 until 30 June 2021.  

Re-elected from July 2021 for three years. 

(Resigned March 2022) 

3 of 3  
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Board members during 2021/22 Attendance 

Annyes Laheurte, Non-Executive Director 2 of 4  

George Findlay Chief Executive 2 of 3  

Alan Davies, Chief Finance Officer  2 of 4  

Evonne Hunt, Chief Nursing Officer  1 of 1 

Alison Davis,  Chief Medical Officer  0 of 1 

Leon Hinton, Chief People Officer  4 of 4 

Glynis Alexander, Executive Director of Communications and Engagement 4 of 4 

Gary Lupton, Executive Director of Estates and Facilities 4 of 4 

Gurjit Mahil, Deputy Chief Executive  3 of 4  

 

 

Dispute Resolution Process 

In the event of disputes between the Council of Governors and the Board of Directors, the following 
Dispute Resolution Procedure shall apply: 

In the first instance the Chair on the advice of the Company Secretary, and such other advice as the 
Chair may see fit to obtain, shall seek to resolve the dispute. 

If the Chair is unable to resolve the dispute the individual shall refer the dispute to the Company 
Secretary who shall appoint a joint special committee constituted as a committee of the Board of 
Directors and a committee of the Council of Governors, both comprising equal numbers, to consider 
the circumstances and to make recommendations to the Council of Governors and the Board of 
Directors with a view to resolving the dispute. 

If the recommendations (if any) of the joint special committee are unsuccessful in resolving the 
dispute, the Chair may refer the dispute back to the Board of Directors who shall make the final 
decision. 

This dispute resolution procedure is set out in the Trust’s Constitution which is available on the 
Trust’s website. 

Members may contact governors or Board members through the membership office by telephone on 
01634 825292, by email to met-tr.members-medway@nhs.net, in writing to Membership Office, 
Gundulph,  Medway Maritime Hospital,  Medway NHS Foundation Trust, Windmill Road, 
Gillingham, Kent, ME7 5NY, or through our website  www.medway.nhs.uk 

 

Disclosures 

In setting its governance arrangements, the Trust has regard for the provisions of the NHS 
foundation trust code of governance 2014 issued by NHS Improvement and other relevant guidance 
where provisions apply to the responsibilities of the Trust. The following section, together with the 
annual governance statement and corporate governance statement, explain how the Trust has 
applied the main and supporting principles of the code. 

 

Principal activities of the Trust 

Information on our principal activities, including performance management, financial management 
and risk, efficiency, employee information is outlined in the performance report.  

http://www.medway.nhs.uk/
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Going Concern 

The accounts have been produced on a “going concern” basis. Our going concern disclosure is 
detailed in the notes to the financial statements. 

 

Directors' responsibilities 

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements. 

 

Safeguarding external auditor independence 

This is detailed under the Audit and Risk  Committee section. 

 

Off payroll engagements  

Information about off-payroll engagements can be found on page 54. 

 

Transactions with related parties 

Transactions with third parties are presented in the accounts. None of the other board members, 
the Foundation Trust's governors, or parties related to them have undertaken material transactions 
with the Trust. 

 

Political Donations 

There are no political donations to disclose. 

 

Statement on better payment practice code (see note 16 of the accounts) 

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date 
or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. The Trust’s performance is set out 
below. 
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Note 16.1 Better Payment Practice code        

        

 2021/22  2021/22  2020/21  2020/21 

 Number  £000   Number  £000  

Non-NHS Payables        

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 61,357  136,657  61,211  119,975 

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 56,906  124,128  45,103  75,091 

Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within 
target 92.7%  90.8%  73.7%  62.6% 

        
NHS Payables        

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 1,007  52,199  1,196  32,860 

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 689  47,406  301  24,758 

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 68.4%  90.8%  25.2%  75.3% 

        
The Better Payment Practice code requires that 95% of all valid invoices are paid by the due date or within 
30 days of receipt of valid invoice, whichever is later.  

        

        

Note 17 Other Liabilities        

     2021/22  2020/21 

     £000   £000  

Current         

Deferred income: contract liabilities     1,353  7,584 

Total other current liabilities     1,353  7,584 

 

NHS Improvement’s well-led framework 

The CQC Well Led inspections involve an assessment of: the leadership and governance at Trust 
board and executive team-level; the overall organisational vision and strategy; organisation-wide 
governance, management, improvement; and organisational culture and levels of engagement. This 
draws on the CQC’s wider knowledge of quality in the trust at all levels.  The methodology has 
formed the basis of the development programme for executive directors and informed the board 
development programme in 2021/22.  

As part of their routine scheduled inspection programme, the CQC conducted a Well-led inspection 
of the Trust in May 2021.  The findings of this inspection were published on 30 July 2021; the Trust 
was rated as Requires Improvement and improvement actions have been developed and worked 
through. 21 recommendations arising from the NHS Improvement/England governance review all 
have been rated green and the action plan has been closed.  

The Trust has reviewed its position in relation to the enforcement undertakings agreed with NHS 
England/Improvement – of 19 criteria, 13 were green rated and work continues to close the 
remaining action points.   

Stakeholder Relations 

Over the past year we have been proactive in seeking the involvement of patients and public in the 
progress of the Trust and development of services, through workshops and focus groups and at 
events within the Trust.  

The Trust’s Chair and Chief Executive regularly meet key stakeholders to ensure they are kept 
informed about Trust progress and are able to support the involvement of the local community. Trust 
Executives also report to local authority scrutiny committees on a regular basis.  
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Patient Care 

Please refer to the Quality Account published separately.  

Fees and charges (income generation) 

Please refer to the Annual Accounts. 

Statement as to disclosure to auditors 

Each individual who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that: 

 

a) they consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information necessary for stakeholders to assess the trust’s 
performance, business model and strategy 

b) so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the NHS 
foundation Trust’s auditors are unaware 

c) they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust’s auditors are aware of that information. 

 

The directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to do the 
things mentioned above, and: 

 

a) made such enquiries of his/her fellow directors and of the company’s auditors for that 
purpose; and 

b) taken such other steps (if any) for that purpose, as are required by his/her duty as a director 
of the company to exercise reasonable care, skill and diligence. 

c) All Board members have been assessed against the requirements of the fit and proper 
person test. 

 

Income disclosures required by Section 43 of the NHS Act 2006 

 
The Trust met the requirement in section 43(2A) of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012), which requires that the income from the 
provision of goods and services for the purposes of the health service in England must be greater 
than its income from the provision of goods and services for any other purposes. The bulk of our 
income is clinical income and it is unlikely that ‘other income’ will exceed clinical income for any 
reporting period. 
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Remuneration report 

 

Annual Statement on remuneration 

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee is a sub-committee of the Board, responsible for 
reviewing and advising the Board of Directors on the composition of the Board of Directors and 
appointing and setting the remuneration of the executive directors and all very senior manager 
appointments. Further details of the committee can be found within the Directors’ Report section of 
this document.  We have recruited on a substantive basis to senior leadership roles. Newly 
appointed executive directors have a notice period of six months. 

Senior Managers Remuneration Policy 

The Trust has a Senior Remuneration policy agreed by the Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee.  The Trust recognises that in order to ensure optimum performance it is necessary to 
have a competitive pay and benefits structure. The objective of the Committee’s strategy for the 
remuneration of executive directors and very senior managers is to attract and retain suitably skilled 
and qualified individuals of high calibre, providing sufficient resources and strength and maintaining 
stability throughout the senior management team. Remuneration is therefore set and maintained to 
be competitive. The Nominations and Remuneration Committee reviews salaries each year. In 
2021/22 the Nominations and Remuneration Committee accepted NHS England and NHS 
Improvement’s recommendation for no consolidated cost of living award, for executives in their 
position on 1 April 2021.   

Director salaries were within benchmarked salary ranges. When new appointments are made the 
salary is determined by reference to the NHS England and NHS Improvement’s and NHS Providers 
benchmarking of executive director salaries, current market rates and internal relativities with 
executive directors/very senior managers. The only non-cash elements of executive remuneration 
packages are pension-related benefits accrued under the NHS Pensions Scheme. Contributions are 
made by both the employer and employee in accordance with the rules of the national scheme, 
which applies to all NHS staff under the scheme.   

The figures in the table below relate to the amounts received during the financial year.  For 2021/22 
there were no annual or long-term performance bonuses.  

These figures have been audited. 
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      Current Year Prior Year 

      ( a ) ( b ) ( c ) ( d ) ( e ) ( f ) Note: ( a ) ( b ) ( c ) ( d ) ( e ) ( f ) Note: 

Name Title 

Salary and 
Fees 

Taxable 
Benefits 

Annual 
Peformance 

Related 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

Related 
bonuses  

All 
pension 
Related 
benefits 

Total 
(Columns  

a to e) 

Payments or 
Compensation 

for loss of office 
(included in 

salary & Fees) 

Salary 
and Fees 

Taxable 
Benefits 

Annual 
Peformance 

Related 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

Related 
bonuses  

All pension 
Related 
benefits 

Total 
(Columns 

a to e) 

Payments or 
Compensation 

for loss of office 
(included in 

Salary & Fees) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(£ to the 
nearest 
£100) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£2,500) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(£ to the 
nearest 
£100) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£2,500) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Ms J Palmer Chair   
 50-55  

                         
2,700  

                          
-    

                               
-    

                       
-    

 50-55  
                               
-    

 50-55  
                                       

300  
                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

 50-52.5  
                               
-    

Mr E 
Carmichael 

Non Executive 
Director   

 10-15  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                       
-    

 10-15  
                               
-    

 10-15  
                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

 12.5-15  
                               
-    

Mr M Spragg 
Non Executive 
Director   

 10-15  
                            

300  
                          
-    

                               
-    

                       
-    

 10-15  
                               
-    

 10-15  
                                       

300  
                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

 12.5-15  
                               
-    

Mr A Ward 
Non Executive 
Director   

 10-15  
                            

200  
                          
-    

                               
-    

                       
-    

 10-15  
                               
-    

 10-15  
                                       

100  
                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

 12.5-15  
                               
-    

Mr J Devine Chief Executive  

(until 
30/04/
2021) 

 15-20  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                       
-    

 15-20  
                               
-    

 195-200  
                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

 195-
197.5  

                               
-    

Mr D Sulch 
Chief Medical 
Officer 

(until 
30/11/
2021) 

 125-130  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                       
-    

 125-130  
                               
-    

 185-190  
                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

 187.5-
190  

                               
-    

Mrs J Black 
Chief Operating 
Officer 

(from 
01/11/
2021) 

 60-65  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 70-75   135-140  
                               
-    

                               
-    

                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

                               
-    

                               
-    

Mr L Hinton 
Chief People 
Officer   

 115-120  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 15-17.5   130-135  
                               
-    

 115-120  
                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 70-75  
 187.5-

190  
                               
-    

Alexander 
Director of 
Communications   

 110-115  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 35-40   150-155  
                               
-    

 110-115  
                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

 112.5-
115  

                               
-    

Mr G Lupton 

Director of 
Estates & 
Facilities   

 110-115  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 50-55   165-170  
                               
-    

 105-110  
                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 60-65  
 172.5-

175  
                               
-    

Mr H 
McEnroe 

Chief Strategy 
and Integration 
Officer 

(until 
18/07/
2021) 

 35-40  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                       
-    

 35-40  
                               
-    

 125-130  
                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

 125-
127.5  

                               
-    

Ms G Mahil 
Deputy Chief 
Executive   

 120-125  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 25-30   150-155  
                               
-    

 120-125  
                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 30-35  
 152.5-

155  
                               
-    
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      Current Year Prior Year 

      ( a ) ( b ) ( c ) ( d ) ( e ) ( f ) Note: ( a ) ( b ) ( c ) ( d ) ( e ) ( f ) Note: 

Name Title 

Salary and 
Fees 

Taxable 
Benefits 

Annual 
Peformance 

Related 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

Related 
bonuses  

All 
pension 
Related 
benefits 

Total 
(Columns  

a to e) 

Payments or 
Compensation 

for loss of office 
(included in 

salary & Fees) 

Salary 
and Fees 

Taxable 
Benefits 

Annual 
Peformance 

Related 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

Related 
bonuses  

All pension 
Related 
benefits 

Total 
(Columns 

a to e) 

Payments or 
Compensation 

for loss of office 
(included in 

Salary & Fees) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(£ to the 
nearest 
£100) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£2,500) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(£ to the 
nearest 
£100) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£2,500) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Ms J Murkin 
Chief Nursing & 
Quality Officer 

(until 
04/10/
2021) 

 60-65  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 5-10   70-75  
                               
-    

 115-120  
                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 310-315  
 430-
432.5  

                               
-    

Mr G Findlay Chief Executive  

(from 
01/05/
2021) 

 220-225  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 25-27.5   245-250  
                               
-    

                               
-    

                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

                               
-    

                               
-    

Ms J Chong 

Associate Non 
Executive 
Director   

 5-10  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                       
-    

 5-10  
                               
-    

 5-10  
                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

 7.5-10  
                               
-    

Mr A Ullman 
Non Executive 
Director   

 10-15  
                            

500  
                          
-    

                               
-    

                       
-    

 10-15  
                               
-    

 10-15  
                                       

600  
                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

 12.5-15  
                               
-    

Ms S 
Mackenzie 

Non Executive 
Director   

 10-15  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                       
-    

 10-15  
                               
-    

 10-15  
                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

 12.5-15  
                               
-    

Mr A Davies 
Chief Financial 
Officer   

 135-135  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 5-7.5   140-145  
                               
-    

 55-60  
                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 195-200   252.5-
255  

                               
-    

Ms A 
Laheurte 

Non Executive 
Director   

 10-15  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                       
-    

 10-15  
                               
-    

                               
-    

                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

                               
-    

                               
-    

Ms A 
Gallagher 

Chief Operating 
Officer (Interim) 

(until 
31/10/
2021) 

 80-85  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                       
-    

 80-85  
                               
-    

 90-95  
                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

 90-92.5  
                               
-    

Ms P 
Tinniswood 

Chief Strategy 
and 
Transformation 
Officer 

(Chief 
of 
Staff 
until 
19/12/
2021) 

 130-135  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 25-30   160-165  
                               
-    

 25-30  
                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 5-10   35-37.5  
                               
-    
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      Current Year Prior Year 

      ( a ) ( b ) ( c ) ( d ) ( e ) ( f ) Note: ( a ) ( b ) ( c ) ( d ) ( e ) ( f ) Note: 

Name Title 

Salary and 
Fees 

Taxable 
Benefits 

Annual 
Peformance 

Related 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

Related 
bonuses  

All 
pension 
Related 
benefits 

Total 
(Columns  

a to e) 

Payments or 
Compensation 

for loss of office 
(included in 

salary & Fees) 

Salary 
and Fees 

Taxable 
Benefits 

Annual 
Peformance 

Related 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

Related 
bonuses  

All pension 
Related 
benefits 

Total 
(Columns 

a to e) 

Payments or 
Compensation 

for loss of office 
(included in 

Salary & Fees) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(£ to the 
nearest 
£100) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£2,500) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(£ to the 
nearest 
£100) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£2,500) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Ms E Hunt 
Chief Nursing 
Officer  

(from 
25/10/
2021) 

 50-55  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 95-97.5   145-150  
                               
-    

                               
-    

                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

                               
-    

  

Miss A Davis 
Chief Medical 
Officer 

(from 
10/01/
2022) 

 40-45  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

 75-77.5   115-120  
                               
-    

                               
-    

                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

                               
-    

  

Mr G 
Sanders 

Chief Medical 
officer - Interim 

(from 
01/12/
2021-
09/01/
2022) 

 20-25  
                                
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                       
-    

 20-25  
                               
-    

                               
-    

                                          
-    

                          
-    

                               
-    

                      
-    

                               
-    

  

 
For 2021/22, there were no annual or long-term performance-related bonuses.  
Taxable benefit amounts are all in relation to reimbursement of travel and expenses whilst undertaking Trust duties. 
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Total Pension Entitlement 

The table below excludes director who are paid via off-payroll arrangements, on another 
organisation’s payroll and those who have drawn their pension. These figures have been audited. 

      
Current 

Year 

      ( a ) ( b ) ( c ) ( d ) ( e ) ( f ) ( g ) 

  

Name Title 

Real 
Increase 

in 
pensions 

at 
pension 

age 

Real 
increase 

in 
pension 

lump sum 
at 

pension 
age  

Total 
accrued 
pension 

at 
pension 
age at 
31st 

March 
2022 

Lump 
sum at 
pension 

age 
related to 
accrued 
pension 
at 31st 
March 
2022 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
1st April 

2021 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31st 
March 2022 

Real increase in 
Cash equivalent 
Transfer value 

  
    

(Bands of 
£2,500) 

(Bands of 
£2,500) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000)       

      £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

3001636700 Mrs J Black Chief 
Operating 
Officer 

2.5-5 7.5-10 30-35 100-105 621 809 68 

2652374200 Mr L Hinton Chief 
People 
Officer 

0-2.5 0 30-35 20-25 344 368 6 

2614034300 Ms G 
Alexander 

Director of 
Communic
ations 

2.5-5 0 50-55 0 796 864 45 

2721829200 Mr G Lupton Director of 
Estates & 
Facilities 

2.5-5 2.5-5 30-35 60-65 583 655 53 

2783386300 Ms J Murkin Chief 
Nursing & 
Quality 

Officer 

0-2.5 0-2.5 20-25 70-75 508 559 15 

George1 Mr G Findlay Chief 
Executive  

2.5-5 0 70-75 125-130 1,249 1,320 27 

2901310700 Mr A Davies Chief 
Financial 
Officer 

0-2.5 2.5-5 50-55 155-160 1,253 - - 

2713242903 Ms P 
Tinniswood 

Chief 
Strategy 
and 
Transform
ation 
Officer 

0-2.5 0 5-10 0 97 133 17 

Evonne1 Ms E Hunt Chief 
Nursing   
Officer  

2.5-5 7.5-10 10-15 20-25 - 161 153 

3010785800 Miss A Davis Chief 
Medical 

Officer 

2.5-5 7.5-10 15-20 30-35 - 323 321 

 

 

Note: The Cash Equivelent Transfer Value does not allow for a potential adjustment arising from the 
McCloud judgement ( a legal case concerning age discrimination over the manner in which UK pubic 
service pension schemes introduced a CARE benefit design in 2015 for all but the oldedst memebers who 
retained a Final Salary design). 
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Staff Costs 

      2021/22  2020/21  

  Permanent  Other  Total  Total  

These figures have been audited. £000   £000        £000 £000 

Salaries and wages  196,071  - 196,071  188,961  

Social security costs   21,075  - 21,075  19,922  

Apprenticeship levy  976  - 976  924  

Employer's contributions to NHS pensions   30,289  - 30,289  28,949  

Pension cost - other  14  - 14  12  

Other post employment benefits  -  - - - 

Other employment benefits  -  - - - 

Termination benefits  -  - - - 

Temporary staff  -  7,688  7,688  5,934  

Total gross staff costs  248,425  7,688  256,113  244,702  

Recoveries in respect of seconded staff  -  -  -  -  

Total staff costs  248,425  7,688  256,113  244,702  

 

Expenses of Governors and Directors 

The directors and governors receive reimbursement of travel and incidental expenses incurred as 
a result of their duties to the Trust, this is presented in the table below. 

 Number in receipt 
of expenses 

2020/21 

Aggregate sum of 
expenses paid 2020/21 

Aggregate sum of 
expenses paid 2019/20 

Directors  6  £1061.90 £1393.61 

 

Fair Pay Multiple 

The table below provides the ratio between the highest paid Director in the trust and the median 
total remuneration of the whole workforce. Following the appointment of an interim CEO and a 
slight increase to median remuneration value (£25,700 up from £24,900), the pay multiple has 
changed from 7.8 to 9.18.  

 

 

These figures have been audited. 
2021/22 2020/21 

Band of Highest Paid Director's Total 
Remuneration (£'000) 

235-240 195-200  

Median Total Remuneration (£'000) 25.7 24.9  

Ratio 9.18 7.8  

 
Expenditure on consultancy 

The Trust spent £540,000 on consultancy during 2021/22; this was a decrease of £111,000 
compared to the previous year (2020/21) of £651,000.  

Jayne Black 
Chief Executive (Interim) 
21 June 2022  
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Staff  report 

The table below profiles the average worked full-time equivalent workforce across the 
organisation (including temporary staff) throughout 2021/22.  These figures have been audited. 

   Substantive  Temporary 2021/22  2020/21  

   Number  Number  Total  Total  

Medical and dental   694  10  704  681  

Ambulance staff   -  -  -  -  

Administration and estates   854  1  855  839  

Healthcare assistants and other support 
staff   1,360  -  1,360  1,314  

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff   1,337  41  1,378  1,297  

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff   -  -  -  -  

Healthcare science staff  439  19  458  445  

Social care staff   -  -  -  -  

Other -  -  -  -  

Total average numbers  4,684  71  4,755  4,576  

 

Of which: Number of employees (WTE) engaged on capital projects 

 

Male and Female Employees 

The table below profiles the voting Board Directors (Executive and non-executive) and other 
senior managers (by contractual full-time equivalent) on 31 March 2022. 

 Voting Board 
Director 

Other senior 
managers 

All staff 

Female 6 16 3346 

Male 7 22 987 

TOTAL 13 38 4333 

 

Sickness Absence Data 

The table below sets out the Trust’s sickness absence for 2021/22 compared with 2020/21. The 
overall sickness rate has increased over the last 12 months and equates to 18.95 average days 
sick per full-time employee. The Trust is proactively managing sickness with improved reporting 
for managers, a policy to support and manage individuals with high sickness levels.  As part of 
keeping staff healthy and patients safe, the Trust achieved a staff flu vaccination rate of over 75 
per cent in 2019/20. 

Staff group  2021/22  2020/21  

Additional Professional, Scientific and Technical  3.73% 3.25%  

Additional Clinical Services  8.77% 8.32%  

Administrative and Clerical  4.47% 3.76%  

Allied Health Professionals  3.65% 3.18%  

Estates and Ancillary  6.23% 7.44%  

Healthcare Scientists  0.87% 0.76%  
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Staff group  2021/22  2020/21  

Medical and Dental  2.17% 1.99%  

Nursing and Midwifery Registered  5.22% 5.26%  

Students  0.00% 0.00%  

 

Staff policies 

Staff policies and actions applied during the financial year 

The Trust maintains policies and takes actions to enable the wellbeing, progression and 
development of staff.  The relevant policies and operating procedures are set out in the table 
below. In addition the Trust consults regularly with the NHS Trade Unions on the review and 
application of policies; staff health and wellbeing; and organisational change. 

 
Policies and Standard Operating Procedures 

Policy/SOP How it supports the workforce Renewal date 

Disability in Employment 
Policy 

 

Enables the employment of disabled 
persons by ensuring due regard to their 
skills and abilities; this policy applies at 
recruitment and throughout employment, 
including, where appropriate, reasonable 
adjustments and adaptations. (see also 
the Attendance Management Policy) 

October 2023 

Attendance Management 
Policy and SOP 

This policy is designed to support 
employees’ attendance, and enable 
employees to remain in work/return to 
work after absence.  The SOP includes 
the Trust’s procedure for Assessment of 
Adjustment. 

April 2025 

Flexible Working Policy This policy provides the framework for 
flexible working to be considered and 
applied fairly. 

May 2022 

Maternity Leave & Fertility 
Treatment policy 

This is the framework to ensure correct 
and fair application of maternity-related 
entitlements, including maternity leave, 
keeping in touch and return to work. 

November 2024 

Shared Parental Leave 
Policy & Procedure  

This is the framework to ensure correct 
and fair application of Shared parental 
leave entitlements, including leave, 
keeping in touch and return to work. 

November 2022 

New Parent Leave Policy Previously known as ‘paternity leave’, re-
named to ensure inclusivity. This is the 
framework to ensure correct and fair 
application of entitlements for partners 
not already eligible for maternity leave.  

November 2024 

Adoption Leave Policy & 
Procedure  

This is the framework to ensure correct 
and fair application of Adoption leave 
entitlements, including leave, keeping in 
touch and return to work. 

November 2024 

Dignity at Work Policy This policy seeks to raise awareness of 
the expected standards of behaviour in 

February 2023 
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Policy/SOP How it supports the workforce Renewal date 

the workplace and the principles through 
which bullying and harassment will be 
eliminated and prevented. 

Grievance Policy & 
Procedure  

To set out the framework within which 
any concerns, problems or complaints 
raised by employees will be addressed 
and resolved in a fair, consistent and 
timely manner as near as possible to the 
point of origin, and in accordance with 
the principles of the ACAS Code of 
Practice and guidance. 

February 2023 

Disciplinary Policy The purpose of this policy and procedure 
is to encourage employees to achieve 
and maintain high standards of conduct 
and behaviour in accordance with the 
requirements of the Trust and relevant 
professional codes of conduct. 

February 2023 

Performance Management 
Policy & Procedure  

To provide a standard framework to 
address issues of staff performance in a 
fair and consistent manner, so staff are 
aware of the level of performance 
expected from them.  

November 2024 

Employing Staff in the 
Reserve Forces 

 

This is a new policy drawing together 
from other policies the Trust’s 
commitment to staff who are members of 
the Reserve Forces, enabling them to be 
released for training and mobilisation. 

December 2022 

Apprenticeship Policy 

 

This sets out the framework to enable 
the recruitment of apprentices at all 
levels (including internal development 
opportunities) and all ages.  

October 2023 

Organisational change 
policy 

Where organisational changes are 
required, this policy aims to ensure 
consistency of practice, consultation 
where necessary and involvement of 
staff and Trade Unions in informing the 
outcome. 

November 2021 

Health and Safety Policy 

 

This policy sets out the organisational 
framework to outline how the Trust 
achieves compliance with the Health and 
Safety at Work Act 1974 and associated 
regulations as required by law. 

It also ensures all Trust employees are 
aware of their individual role and 
responsibilities for health and safety 
within the organisation. 

Ensures robust systems are in place to 
report and investigate health and safety 
incidents in order to identify lessons 
learnt to be embedded in policy to 
support continuous improvement. 

April 2022 
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Policy/SOP How it supports the workforce Renewal date 

Inclusion Policy 

 

This policy sets out the Trust’s 
commitment to the Equality Act 2010, 
and to NHS workforce standards (such 
as the Workforce Race Equality 
Standard)  

 

June 2023 

Freedom to Speak 
Up/Raising Concerns at 
Work/Whistleblowing 
Policy 

This enables staff to be able to raise 
concerns at work safely, and for the 
Trust to respond to those concerns. 

May 2022 

Relationship between 
Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust and NHS Trade 
Unions Policy 

 

This policy provides the framework for 
the NHS Trade Unions and Trust 
Managers to meet regularly to review: 
application of policies, staff wellbeing 
and organisational change 

April 2023 

 

Anti-Fraud, Bribery and 
Corruption Policy 

The aim of the policy and procedure is to 
set out clearly for staff, the framework 
and controls in place for dealing with all 
forms of detected or suspected fraud, 
bribery and corruption. 

March 2022 

 

 

NHS staff survey 

The NHS staff survey is a vital measure of the Trust’s level of staff engagement, how staff are 
feeling, their morale and their experiences of working here. This is used by the Trust to listen and 
adapt to make improvements. The survey is conducted annually and compared against other 
NHS acute organisations and also against the Trust’s own results from the previous year. This 
provides not only an opportunity to learn from our staff, but also how we compare to the national 
picture.  

The Trust’s trend largely follows the national picture and demonstrates an above average quality 
of appraisals and safe environment from violence. The Trust’s People Strategy retains culture as 
a key delivery programme for the future. By continuing the embedding of our culture 
improvement programme in tandem with our staff survey action planning and implementation, 
values-based recruitment and continuous improvement methodologies – the Trust is committed 
to improving our staff experience which, in turn, will improve patient experience.  

This year’s Staff Survey response rate was 40 per cent, and has increased from 35 per cent in 
2020.     

For this year’s Staff Survey, all questions have been aligned to the nationally led People Promise 
themes and are scored out of ten, with the exception of Staff Engagement and Staff Morale 
themes from previous years’ survey. The People Promise themes are: 
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The two themes, Staff Engagement and Staff Morale, are scored out of 10. The table below 
shows the People Promise themes for the Staff Survey. 

The Staff Engagement score was 6.5 for 2021 and has decreased by 0.1% since 2020. Although 
our score has decreased since 2020, the national score has decreased by 0.2%. 

The Staff Morale score was 5.5 for 2021 and has decreased by 0.1% since 2020. The national 
score decreased by 0.3% since 2020. The national scores decreasing for both the themes could 
be attributed to the Covid-10 pandemic and the impact of this on staff’s health and wellbeing.  

The theme indicator scores are based on a score out of 10 for certain questions with the indicator 
score being the average of those. Scores for each indicator together with that of the survey 
benchmarking group (acute) are presented below. 

People Promise 2020 score 
2020 

respondents 
2021 score 

2021 
respondents 

We are compassionate and 
inclusive 

  6.9 1839 

We are recognised and rewarded   5.7 1832 

We each have a voice that counts   6.4 1816 

We are safe and healthy   5.6 1818 

We are always learning   5.4 1736 

We work flexibly   5.9 1813 

We are a team   6.4 1829 

Themes     

Staff Engagement 6.6 1526 6.5 1843 

Morale 5.6 1525 5.5 1842 

 

Application of Modern Slavery Act  

Modern slavery encompasses slavery, servitude, human trafficking and forced labour.  The Trust 
has a zero-tolerance approach to any form of modern slavery. The Trust continues to fully 
support the government’s objective to eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking and we 
acknowledge our role in both combating it and supporting victims. The Trust is committed to 
ensuring our supply chains and our business activities are free from ethical and labour standards 
abuse.  

 People - Human resources policies provide processes and procedures to ensure that our 
employees and those employed in our supply chains are treated fairly at all times; these 
include: 

o Confirming the identities of all new employees and their right to work legally in the 
UK. 

o To have assurance from approved agencies that pre – employment clearance has 
been obtained for agency staff and to safeguard against human trafficking. 

o All staff appointed are subject to references, immigration and identity checks, this 
is to ensure staff have the legal right to work in the UK. 

o The Trust has a set of values and behaviours that staff are expected to comply 
with, and all candidates are expected to demonstrate these attributes as part of 
the recruitment selection process. 
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o Adopting the national pay, terms and conditions of service, the Trust has the 
assurance that all staff will be treated, fairly and that pay, terms and conditions will 
comply with the latest legislation. 

o The Trust has various employment policies and procedures in place designed to 
provide guidance and advice to staff and managers and also to comply with the 
relevant legislation. These are accessible on the intranet. 

o The Trust is committed to creating and ensuring a non – discriminatory and 
respectful working environment for all staff, this is in line with its corporate social 
responsibilities. 

o The Trust’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, Grievance, Respect and Dignity at 
Work and Whistleblowing policies and procedures additionally give a platform for 
all employees the Freedom to Speak Up and to raise concerns about poor working 
practices. 

o Ensuring appropriate mechanisms to regularly review and monitor progress on 
promoting and supporting diversity and inclusion within the Trust. 

o All staff are required to undertake mandatory training in relation to diversity and 
inclusion and safeguarding. 

 Whistleblowing (Freedom to Speak Up) – The Trust’s Whistleblowing policy gives a 
platform for employees to raise concerns for further investigation and offers support to 
individuals that have suffered fiscal or professional detriment as a result of 
whistleblowing. 

o The Trust operates a Freedom to Speak Up, Raising Concerns at Work, so 
employees feel empowered to raise concerns around poor practices, health and 
safety or illegal activities which may bring harm to the Trust. 

 Safeguarding – The Trust is committed to the principles setup in our safeguarding adults 
and children policies. 

o The Trust is compliant with Medway multiagency agreements. 

o Ensure clear safeguarding guidance so that employees, contractors, patients and 
the public are able to raise safeguarding concerns about how they are being 
treated or/ and about working practices at the Trust. 

 Our approach to procurement and our supply chain includes: 

o Ensuring that our suppliers are carefully selected through our robust supplier 
selection criteria/processes; 

o Requiring that the main contractor provides details of its sub-contractor(s) to 
enable the Trust to check their credentials; 

o Random requests that the main contractor provides details of its supply chain; 

o Ensuring invitation to tender documents contain a clause on human rights issues; 

o Ensuring invitation to tender documents also contain clauses giving the Trust the 
right to terminate a contract for failure to comply with labour laws; 

o Using the standard Supplier Selection Questionnaire (SQ) that has been 
introduced (which includes a section on Modern Day Slavery). 

o Trust staff must contact and work with the Procurement department when looking 
to work with new suppliers so appropriate checks can be undertaken. 

o Supplier adherence to our values: the Trust has zero tolerance to slavery and 
human trafficking and thereby expect all our direct and indirect 
suppliers/contractors to follow suit. 
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Where it is verified that a subcontractor has breached the child labour laws or human trafficking, 
then this subcontractor will be excluded in accordance with Regulation 57 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015. The Trust will require that the main contractor substitute a new subcontractor. 

Advice and training about modern slavery and human trafficking is available to staff through our 
mandatory safeguarding children and adults training programmes, our safeguarding policies and 
procedures, and our safeguarding leads. It is also discussed at our compulsory staff induction 
training. 

Trade Union Facility Time  
 
Trade Union Facility Time disclosures 

The Trust and recognised Trade Unions work through a partnership agreement to describe the 
partnership, processes and structures which are linked to our shared goals and objectives. The 
agreement outlines how we will work together to promote effective partnership regarding the 
workforce implications of delivering and developing the services we provide to our patients. In 
line with the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017, we are 
required to produce an annual report detailing the facility time (the provision of time off from an 
employee’s normal role to undertake Trade Union duties and activities when they are elected as 
a Trade Union representative); this information is provided below. The first publication year was 1 
April 2017 to 31 March 2018 and the data must be published on or by 31 July every year 
thereafter.   

Table 1 

Relevant union officials 

What was the total number of your employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant period? 

Number of employees who were relevant union 
officials during the relevant period 

Full-time equivalent employee number 

16 14.80 

 
Table 2 

Percentage of time spent on facility time 

How many of your employees who were relevant union officials employed during the relevant period spent a) 0%, b) 1%-
50%, c) 51%-99% or d) 100% of their working hours on facility time? 

Percentage of time Number of employees 

0% 11 

1-50% 5 

51%-99% - 

100% -0 

 

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 

Provide the figures requested in the first column of the table below to determine the percentage of your total pay bill spent 
on paying employees who were relevant union officials for facility time during the relevant period. 

 Figures 

Provide the total cost of facility time £1,373 

Provide the total pay bill £244,890,883 

Provide the percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time, calculated as: 
(total cost of facility time ÷ total pay bill) x 100 

0.00056% 
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Paid trade union activities 

As a percentage of total paid facility time hours, how many hours were spent by employees who were relevant union officials 
during the relevant period on paid trade union activities? 

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of total paid facility time 
hours calculated as: (total hours spent on paid trade union activities by relevant 
union officials during the relevant period ÷ total paid facility time hours) x 100 

27.81% 

 

Exit packages 

 

Staff exit packages 

These figures have been audited. 

2021/22 

Name and title Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies 

Number of other 
departures agreed 

Total number of exit 
packages by cost 
band 

<£10,000 -  3  3  

£10,000 – £25,000 3  2  5  

£25,001 – £50,000 1  -  1  

£50,001 – £100,000 -  1  1  

£100,000 – £150,000 1  -  1  

£150,001 – £200,000 -  -  -  

>£200,000 -  -  -  

Total number of exit 
packages by type 

5 6 11 

Total resource cost £188,000 £120,000 £308,000 

 

2020/2021 

Name and title Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies 

Number of other 
departures agreed 

Total number of exit 
packages by cost 
band 

<£10,000  6 6 

£10,000 – £25,000  2  2  

£25,001 – £50,000  1  1  

£50,001 – £100,000  -  -  

£100,000 – £150,000  -  -  

£150,001 – £200,000  -  -  

>£200,000  -  -  
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Name and title Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies 

Number of other 
departures agreed 

Total number of exit 
packages by cost 
band 

Total number of exit 
packages by type 

 9 9 

Total resource cost  £61,000 £61,000 

 

Exit packages: non-compulsory departure payments 

Name and title Payments 
agreed 

Total value of 
agreements 

Payments 
agreed 

Total value of 
agreements 

 

 Number £000 Number £000 

Voluntary redundancies 
including early retirement 
contractual costs -  -  -  -  

Mutually agreed 
resignations (MARS) 
contractual costs -  -  -  -  

Early retirements in the 
efficiency of the service -
contractual costs -  -  -  -  

Contractual payments in 
lieu of notice 6  120  8  61  

Exit payments following 
Employment Tribunals or 
court orders -  -  1  -  

Non-contractual payments 
requiring HMT approval * 

*Includes any non-contractual 
severance payment made following 
judicial mediation, and X [list 
amounts] relating to non-contractual 
payments in lieu of notice. 

 -  -  -  -  

Total 6 120 9 61 

 

Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval made to individuals where the payment value was more 
than 12 months’ of their annual salary  
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NHS Foundation Trust Code of  Governance  

 

Code of Governance 

NHS Improvement’s NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance (the Code) brings together best 
practice from both the public and private sector in order to help NHS Foundation Trust Boards 
maintain good quality corporate governance. Although the Code is best practice advice, certain 
disclosures are required to be reported in the Trust’s Annual Report, along with additional 
requirements as stated in the Annual Reporting Manual. The Trust’s compliance is stated below 
with these requirements. 

 

Code Provision Requirement How the code was adhered 
to 

A.1.1 The schedule of matters reserved for the 
Board of Directors should include a clear 
statement detailing the roles and 
responsibilities of the Council of Governors. 
This statement should also describe how any 
disagreements between the Council of 
Governors and the Board of Directors will be 
resolved. The annual report should include 
this schedule of matters or a summary 
statement of how the Board of Directors and 
the Council of Governors operate, including a 
summary of the types of decisions to be 
taken by each of the boards and which are 
delegated to the executive management of 
the Board of Directors. 

Directors’ Report – Board 
section and Council of 
Governors section. 

 

There were no disagreements 
between the Council of 
Governors and the Board of 
Directors. A dispute resolution 
process has been included in 
the Directors Report along with 
a statement on working 
relationships. 

 

 

A.1.2 The annual report should identify the 
chairperson, the deputy chairperson (where 
there is one), the chief executive, the senior 
independent director (see A.4.1) and the 
chairperson and members of the 
nominations, audit and remuneration 
committees. It should also set out the number 
of meetings of the board and those 
committees and individual attendance by 
directors. 

Directors’ Report – throughout 
the report 

A.5.3 The annual report should identify the 
members of the Council of Governors, 
including a description of the constituency or 
organisation that they represent, whether 
they were elected or appointed, and the 
duration of their appointments. The annual 
report should also identify the nominated lead 
governor. 

Directors’ Report – Council of 
Governors section 

Additional 
requirement of 
FT ARM 

The annual report should include a statement 
about the number of meetings of the council 
of governors and individual attendance by 
governors and directors. 

Directors’ Report – Council of 
Governors section 

B.1.1 The Board of Directors should identify in the 
annual report each non-executive director it 

Directors’ Report 

All non-executive directors are 
independent as per the 
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Code Provision Requirement How the code was adhered 
to 

considers to be independent, with reasons 
where necessary. 

definition in Code Provision 
B.1.1. 

B.1.4 The Board of Directors should include in its 
annual report a description of each director’s 
skills, expertise and experience. Alongside 
this, in the annual report, the board should 
make a clear statement about its own 
balance, completeness and appropriateness 
to the requirements of the NHS Foundation 
Trust. 

Directors’ Report – 

Biographies and Board section 

Additional 
requirement of 
FT ARM 

The annual report should include a brief 
description of the length of appointments of 
the non-executive directors, and how they 
may be terminated. 

Directors’ Report 

B.2.10 

 

A separate section of the annual report 
should describe the work of the nominations 
committees, including the process it has used 
in relation to board appointments. 

Directors’ Report 

Additional 
requirement of 
FT ARM 

The disclosure in the annual report on the 
work of the nominations committee should 
include an explanation if neither an external 
search consultancy nor open advertising has 
been used in the appointment of a chair or 
non-executive director. 

Directors’ Report - 
Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee 

 

 

B.3.1 

 

 

 

A chairperson’s other significant 
commitments should be disclosed to the 
Council of Governors before appointment and 
included in the annual report. Changes to 
such commitments should be reported to the 
Council of Governors as they arise, and 
included in the next annual report. 

As part of the appointment 
process the Governors were 
made aware of the 
chairperson’s professional 
commitments at the time and 
an up to date declaration of 
interests is detailed on the 
Trust website. 

An update was provided to the 
Council of Governors at its 
January 2022 meeting on a 
new external role the Chair had 
assumed. 

 

B.5.6 

 

 

 

Governors should canvass the opinion of the 
Trust’s members and the public, and for 
appointed governors the body they represent, 
on the NHS Foundation Trust’s forward plan, 
including its objectives, priorities and 
strategy, and their views should be 
communicated to the Board of Directors. The 
annual report should contain a statement as 
to how this requirement has been undertaken 
and satisfied. 

 

Directors’ Report – Council of 
Governors section 

Additional 
requirement of 
FT ARM 

If, during the financial year, the Governors 
have exercised their power* under paragraph 
10C** of schedule 7 of the NHS Act 2006, 

This power has not been 
exercised by the Council of 

Governors in 2021/22. 

https://www.medway.nhs.uk/
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Code Provision Requirement How the code was adhered 
to 

 

 

then information on this must be included in 
the annual report.  

This is required by paragraph 26(2)(aa) of 
schedule 7 to the NHS Act 2006, as 
amended by section 151 (8) of the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012. 

*Power to require one or more of the 
directors to attend a governors’ meeting for 
the purpose of obtaining information about 
the foundation trust’s performance of its 
functions or the directors’ performance of 
their duties (and deciding whether to propose 
a vote on the foundation trust’s or directors’ 
performance).  

**As inserted by section 151 (6) of the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012. 

 

B.6.1 The Board of Directors should state in the 
annual report how performance evaluation of 
the board, its committees, and its directors, 
including the chairperson, has been 
conducted. 

 

Directors Report 

B.6.2 

 

 

 

Where there has been external evaluation of 
the board and/or governance of the trust, the 
external facilitator should be identified in the 
annual report and a statement made as to 
whether they have any other connection to 
the trust. 

 

An evaluation was undertaken 
by NHS Improvement, the 
independent regulator, which 
reported in October 2021  

C.1.1 

 

 

 

 

 

The directors should explain in the annual 
report their responsibility for preparing the 
annual report and accounts, and state that 
they consider the annual report and 
accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, 
balanced and understandable and provide 
the information necessary for patients, 
regulators and other stakeholders to assess 
the NHS Foundation Trust’s performance, 
business model and strategy. 

 

Directors should also explain their approach 
to quality governance in the Annual 
Governance Statement (within the annual 
report). 

 

Stated in the “Statement of the 
chief executive’s 
responsibilities as the 
accounting officer of Medway 
NHS Foundation Trust.” 

 

 

 

 

Quality Governance is included 
in the Annual Governance 
Statement. 

C.2.1 

 

 

The annual report should contain a statement 
that the board has conducted a review of the 
effectiveness of its system of internal 
controls. 

Annual Governance Statement 

Directors’ Report – 
Committees section. 
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C.2.2 

 

A Trust should disclose in the annual report: 

 

(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the 
function is structured and what role it 
performs; or 

 

(b) if it does not have an internal audit 
function, that fact and the processes it 
employs for evaluating and continually 
improving the effectiveness of its risk 
management and internal control processes 

The Trust does not have its 
own internal audit department. 
Internal audit services are 
provided by KPMG, an external 
provider. 

 

KPMG agrees an audit plan 
with the Trust and provides 
reports to the Audit and Risk  
Committee and reports on 
progress made by the Trust in 
implementing the actions 
required to improve controls. 

 

C.3.5 

 

If the Council of Governors does not accept 
the audit committee’s recommendation on the 
appointment, reappointment or removal of an 
external auditor, the board of directors should 
include in the annual report a statement from 
the audit committee explaining the 
recommendation and should set out reasons 
why the Council of Governors has taken a 
different position. 

The Council of Governors 
approved the appointment of 
Grant Thornton as the Trust’s 
external auditor for an initial 
contract period of three years 
commencing in 2019/20 with 
an option to extend for a 
further period of up to two 
years. 

C.3.9 

 

 

A separate section of the annual report 
should describe the work of the audit 
committee in discharging its responsibilities. 
The report should include: 

a) the significant issues that the committee 
considered in relation to financial 
statements, operations and compliance, 
and how these issues were addressed; 

b) an explanation of how it has assessed the 
effectiveness of the external audit process 
and the approach taken to the 
appointment or re-appointment of the 
external auditor, the value of external 
audit services and information on the 
length of tenure of the current audit firm 
and when a tender was last conducted; 
and 

c) if the external auditor provides non-audit 
services, the value of the non-audit 
services provided and an explanation of 
how auditor objectivity and independence 
are safeguarded. 

 

Directors’ Report - Audit & Risk 
Committee Report 

D.1.3 

 

Where an NHS Foundation Trust releases an 
executive director, for example to serve as a 
non-executive director elsewhere, the 
remuneration disclosures of the annual report 

Where executive directors are 
seconded into and out of the 
Trust, arrangements are put in 
place for the individual to be 
remunerated at the expense of 
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should include a statement of whether or not 
the director will retain such earnings. 

 

the organisation receiving their 
services.   

E.1.4 Contact procedures for members who wish to 
communicate with governors and/or directors 
should be made clearly available to members 
on the NHS Foundation Trust’s website and 
in the annual report. 

 

Directors’ Report – 
Membership section 

E.1.5 The Board of Directors should state in the 
annual report the steps they have taken to 
ensure that the members of the board, and in 
particular the non-executive directors, 
develop an understanding of the views of 
governors and members about the NHS 
Foundation Trust, for example through 
attendance at meetings of the Council of 
Governors, direct face-to-face contact, 
surveys of members’ opinions and 
consultations. 

Directors’ Report – board 
members attend Council of 
Governors meetings  

E.1.6 The Board of Directors should monitor how 
representative the NHS Foundation Trust’s 
membership is and the level and 
effectiveness of member engagement and 
report on this in the annual report. 

Directors’ Report – 
Membership section 

Additional 
requirement of 
FT ARM 

 

 

 

The annual report should include: 

a) a brief description of the eligibility 
requirements for joining different 
membership constituencies, including the 
boundaries for public membership; 

b) information on the number of members 
and the number of members in each 
constituency; and 

c) a summary of the membership strategy, 
an assessment of the membership and a 
description of any steps taken during the 
year to ensure a representative 
membership [see also E.1.6 above], 
including progress towards any 
recruitment targets for members. 

 

Directors’ Report – 
Membership section 

Additional 
requirement of 
FT ARM 

(based on FReM 
requirement) 

 

 

The annual report should disclose details of 
company directorships or other material 
interests in companies held by governors 
and/or directors where those companies or 
related parties are likely to do business, or 
are possibly seeking to do business, with the 
NHS Foundation Trust. As each NHS 
Foundation Trust must have registers of 
governors’ and directors’ interests which are 
available to the public, an alternative 

Directors’ Report details how 
the Registers of Interests for 
both directors and governors 
can be accessed. 
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disclosure is for the annual report to simply 
state how members of the public can gain 
access to the registers instead of listing all 
the interests in the annual report. 

A.1.4 The board should ensure that adequate 
systems and processes are maintained to 
measure and monitor the NHS foundation 
trust’s effectiveness, efficiency and economy 
as well as the quality of its healthcare 
delivery 

The Board receives regular 
reports via the Finance 
Committee and the Integrated 
Quality Performance Report 
via the Quality Assurance 
Committee 

A.1.5 The board should ensure that relevant 
metrics, measures, milestones and 
accountabilities are developed and agreed so 
as to understand and assess progress and 
delivery of performance 

This is included in the 
Integrated Quality Performance 
Report 

A.1.6 The board should report on its approach to 
clinical governance. 

Quality Account  

A.1.7 The chief executive as the accounting officer 
should follow the procedure set out by NHS 
Improvement (Monitor) for advising the board 
and the council and for recording and 
submitting objections to decisions. 

Confirmed  

A.1.8 The board should establish the constitution 
and standards of conduct for the NHS 
foundation trust and its staff in accordance 
with NHS values and accepted standards of 
behaviour in public life 

This is set out in the Conflicts 
of Interest policy.  

A.1.9 The board should operate a code of conduct 
that builds on the values of the NHS 
foundation trust and reflect high standards of 
probity and responsibility. 

This is set out in the Conflicts 
of Interest policy and the 
Board’s Code of Conduct. 

A.1.10 The NHS foundation trust should arrange 
appropriate insurance to cover the risk of 
legal action against its directors. 

This is provided via 
membership of NHS 
Resolution  

A.3.1 The chairperson should, on appointment by 
the council, meet the independence criteria 
set out in B.1.1. A chief executive should not 
go on to be the chairperson of the same NHS 
foundation trust. 

Confirmed  

A.4.1 In consultation with the council, the board 
should appoint one of the independent non-
executive directors to be the senior 
independent director. 

Confirmed  

A.4.2 The chairperson should hold meetings with 
the non-executive directors without the 
executives present. 

Confirmed  

A.4.3 Where directors have concerns that cannot 
be resolved about the running of the NHS 
foundation trust or a proposed action, they 

Confirmed  
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should ensure that their concerns are 
recorded in the board minutes. 

A.5.1 The council of governors should meet 
sufficiently regularly to discharge its duties. 

Confirmed – described in the 
Council of Governors section  

A.5.2 The council of governors should not be so 
large as to be unwieldy. 

Confirmed – described in the 
Council of Governors section 

A.5.4 The roles and responsibilities of the council of 
governors should be set out in a written 
document. 

This is set out in the 
Constitution 

A.5.5 The chairperson is responsible for leadership 
of both the board and the council but the 
governors also have a responsibility to make 
the arrangements work and should take the 
lead in inviting the chief executive to their 
meetings and inviting attendance by other 
executives and non-executives, as 
appropriate. 

Confirmed  

A.5.6 The council should establish a policy for 
engagement with the board of directors for 
those circumstances when they have 
concerns. 

This is set out in the 
Constitution and in the Annual 
Report 

A.5.7 The council should ensure its interaction and 
relationship with the board of directors is 
appropriate and effective. 

Confirmed  

A.5.8 The council should only exercise its power to 
remove the chairperson or any non-executive 
directors after exhausting all means of 
engagement with the board. 

Confirmed  

A.5.9 The council should receive and consider 
other appropriate information required to 
enable it to discharge its duties. 

Confirmed  

B.1.2 At least half the board, excluding the 
chairperson, should comprise non-executive 
directors determined by the board to be 
independent. 

Detailed in the Board of 
Directors report  

B.1.3 No individual should hold, at the same time, 
positions of director and governor of any NHS 
foundation trust. 

Confirmed  

B.2.1 The nominations committee or committees, 
with external advice as appropriate, are 
responsible for the identification and 
nomination of executive and non-executive 
directors. 

Confirmed  

B.2.2 Directors on the board of directors and 
governors on the council should meet the “fit 
and proper” persons test described in the 
provider licence. 

Confirmed and kept under 
review in line with CQC 
guidance  

B.2.3 The nominations committee(s) should 
regularly review the structure, size and 

Confirmed   
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composition of the board and make 
recommendations for changes where 
appropriate. 

B.2.4 The chairperson or an independent non-
executive director should chair the 
nominations committee(s). 

Confirmed  

B.2.5 The governors should agree with the 
nominations committee a clear process for 
the nomination of a new chairperson and 
non- executive directors. 

Confirmed 

B.2.6 Where an NHS foundation trust has two 
nominations committees, the nominations 
committee responsible for the appointment of 
non-executive directors should consist of a 
majority of governors. 

Confirmed 

B.2.7 When considering the appointment of non-
executive directors, the council should take 
into account the views of the board and the 
nominations committee on the qualifications, 
skills and experience required for each 
position. 

Confirmed 

B.2.8 The annual report should describe the 
process followed by the council in relation to 
appointments of the chairperson and non- 
executive directors. 

Confirmed.   There has been 
no such recruitment activity in 
2021/22.  

B.2.9 An independent external adviser should not 
be a member of or have a vote on the 
nominations committee(s). 

Confirmed 

B.3.3 The board should not agree to a full-time 
executive director taking on more than one 
non-executive directorship of an NHS 
foundation trust or another organisation of 
comparable size and complexity. 

Confirmed 

B.5.1 The board and the council governors should 
be provided with high-quality information 
appropriate to their respective functions and 
relevant to the decisions they have to make. 

Confirmed 

B.5.2 The board, and in particular non-executive 
directors, may reasonably wish to challenge 
assurances received from the executive 
management. They need not seek to appoint 
a relevant adviser for each and every subject 
area that comes before the board, although 
they should, wherever possible, ensure that 
they have sufficient information and 
understanding to enable challenge and to 
take decisions on an informed basis. 

Confirmed 

B.5.3 The board should ensure that directors, 
especially non- executive directors, have 
access to the independent professional 
advice, at the NHS foundation trust’s 

Confirmed 
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expense, where they judge it necessary to 
discharge their responsibilities as directors. 

B.5.4 Committees should be provided with 
sufficient resources to undertake their duties. 

Confirmed 

B.6.3 The senior independent director should lead 
the performance evaluation of the 
chairperson. 

Confirmed  

B.6.4 The chairperson, with assistance of the board 
secretary, if applicable, should use the 
performance evaluations as the basis for 
determining individual and collective 
professional development programmes for 
non-executive directors relevant to their 
duties as board members. 

Confirmed 

B.6.5 Led by the chairperson, the council should 
periodically assess their collective 
performance and they should regularly 
communicate to members and the public 
details on how they have discharged their 
responsibilities. 

Confirmed 

B.6.6 There should be a clear policy and a fair 
process, agreed and adopted by the council, 
for the removal from the council of any 
governor who consistently and unjustifiably 
fails to attend the meetings of the council or 
has an actual or potential conflict of interest 
which prevents the proper exercise of their 
duties. 

Confirmed 

B.8.1 The remuneration committee should not 
agree to an executive member of the board 
leaving the employment of an NHS 
foundation trust, except in accordance with 
the terms of their contract of employment, 
including but not limited to service of their full 
notice period and/or material reductions in 
their time commitment to the role, without the 
board first having completed and approved a 
full risk assessment. 

Confirmed 

C.1.2 The directors should report that the NHS 
foundation trust is a going concern with 
supporting assumptions or qualifications as 
necessary. 

See also ARM paragraph 2.12. 

Confirmed 

C.1.3 At least annually and in a timely manner, the 
board should set out clearly its financial, 
quality and operating objectives for the NHS 
foundation trust and disclose sufficient 
information, both quantitative and qualitative, 
of the NHS foundation trust’s business and 
operation, including clinical outcome data, to 

Confirmed 
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allow members and governors to evaluate its 
performance. 

C.1.4 a) The board of directors must notify NHS 
Improvement and the council of 
governors without delay and should 
consider whether it is in the public’s 
interest to bring to the public attention, 
any major new developments in the 
NHS foundation trust’s sphere of 
activity which are not public 
knowledge, which it is able to disclose 
and which may lead 
by virtue of their effect on its assets and 
liabilities, or financial position or on the 
general course of its business, to a 
substantial change to the financial 
wellbeing, healthcare delivery 
performance or reputation and standing 
of the NHS foundation trust. 

b) The board of directors must notify NHS 
Improvement and the council of 
governors without delay and should 
consider whether it is in the public 
interest to bring to public attention all 
relevant information which is not public 
knowledge concerning a material 
change in: 

• the NHS foundation trust’s financial 
condition; 

• the performance of its business; and/or 

• the NHS foundation trust’s expectations 
as to its performance which, if made 
public, would be likely to lead to a 
substantial change to the financial 
wellbeing, healthcare delivery 
performance or reputation and standing 
of the NHS foundation trust. 

Confirmed 

C.3.1 The board should establish an audit 
committee composed of at least three 
members who are all independent non-
executive directors. 

Confirmed – detailed in the 
report on the Audit & Risk  
Committee  

C.3.3 The council should take the lead in agreeing 
with the audit committee the criteria for 
appointing, re-appointing and removing 
external auditors. 

Confirmed 

C.3.6 The NHS foundation trust should appoint an 
external auditor for a period of time which 
allows the auditor to develop a strong 
understanding of the finances, operations 
and forward plans of the NHS foundation 
trust. 

Confirmed 

C.3.7 When the council ends an external auditor’s 
appointment in disputed circumstances, the 

Confirmed 
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chairperson should write to NHS 
Improvement informing it of the reasons 
behind the decision. 

C.3.8 The audit committee should review 
arrangements that allow staff of the NHS 
foundation trust and other individuals where 
relevant, to raise, in confidence, concerns 
about possible improprieties in matters of 
financial reporting and control, clinical quality, 
patient safety or other matters. 

A Freedom to Speak up 
Guardian is in Place and the 
arrangement is overseen by 
the People Committee  

D.1.1 Any performance-related elements of the 
remuneration of executive directors should be 
designed to align their interests with those of 
patients, service users and taxpayers and to 
give these directors keen incentives to 
perform at the highest levels. 

Confirmed 

D.1.2 Levels of remuneration for the chairperson 
and other non- executive directors should 
reflect the time commitment and 
responsibilities of their roles. 

Confirmed – remuneration is in 
line with NHS Improvement 
guidance  

D.1.4 The remuneration committee should carefully 
consider what compensation commitments 
(including pension contributions and all other 
elements) their directors’ terms of 
appointments would give rise to in the event 
of early termination. 

Confirmed 

D.2.2 The remuneration committee should have 
delegated responsibility for setting 
remuneration for all executive directors, 
including pension rights and any 
compensation payments. 

Confirmed 

D.2.3 The council should consult external 
professional advisers to market-test the 
remuneration levels of the chairperson and 
other non-executives at least once every 
three years and when they intend to make a 
material change to the remuneration of a 
non-executive. 

Confirmed.   

Remuneration is set in line with 
NHS Improvement guidance.  

E.1.2 The board should clarify in writing how the 
public interests of patients and the local 
community will be represented, including its 
approach for addressing the overlap and 
interface between governors and any local 
consultative forums. 

Confirmed 

E.1.3 The chairperson should ensure that the views 
of governors and members are 
communicated to the board as a whole. 

Confirmed 

E.2.1 The board should be clear as to the specific 
third party bodies in relation to which the 
NHS foundation trust has a duty to co- 
operate. 

This is confirmed through the 
local health care system work 
in which the Trust is a partner 
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E.2.2 The board should ensure that effective 
mechanisms are in place to co-operate with 
relevant third party bodies and that 
collaborative and productive relationships are 
maintained with relevant stakeholders at 
appropriate levels of seniority in each. 

This is confirmed through the 
local health care system work 
in which the Trust is a partner 
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Single Oversight Framework 

NHS Improvement’s System Oversight Framework provides the framework for overseeing 
providers and identifying potential support needs. The framework looks at four themes: 

Quality, access and outcomes 

Finance and use of resources 

Preventing ill health and reducing inequalities 

People 

Leadership and capability 

 

Based on information from these themes, providers are segmented from one to four, where ‘four’ 
reflects providers receiving the most support, and ‘one’ reflects providers with maximum 
autonomy. A Foundation Trust will only be in segments three or four where it has been found to 
be in breach or suspected breach of its licence.   

The Trust has entered into enforcement undertakings with NHS Improvement and reviewed 
progress with meeting these throughout 2021/22.  

 

Segmentation 

This segmentation information is the Trust’s position as at 31 March 2022. Current segmentation 
information for NHS trusts and foundation trusts is published on the NHS Improvement website. 

At 31 March 2022, the Trust remained in segment four, which is categorised as providers 
receiving mandated intensive support delivered through the Recovery Support Programme.   

The Kent and Medway Integrated Care System was in November 2021 placed in Category 3. 
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Statement of  Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities  

The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the accounting officer of the NHS foundation 
trust. The relevant responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their responsibility for the 
propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of 
proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum 
issued by NHS Improvement. 

NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor by the NHS Act 2006, has 
given Accounts Directions which require Medway NHS Foundation Trust to prepare for each 
financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis required by those Directions. 
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of Medway NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, other items of 
comprehensive income and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the accounts and overseeing the use of public funds, the Accounting Officer is 
required to comply with the requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group 
Accounting Manual and in particular to: 

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS Improvement, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting 
policies on a consistent basis 

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 

• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual (and the Department of Health and Social Care 
Group Accounting Manual) have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the financial statements 

• ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, 
delegated authorities and guidance 

• confirm that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced 
and understandable and provides the information necessary for patients, 
regulators and stakeholders to assess the NHS foundation trust’s performance, 
business model and strategy and 

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis and disclose any 
material uncertainties over going concern. 

The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS foundation trust and to enable 
them to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. 
The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS foundation 
trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 

As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the foundation trust’s 
auditors are unaware, and I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the entity’s auditors are aware of 
that information. 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 

 

 

Jayne Black 
Chief Executive (Interim) 
21 June 2022 
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Annual Governance Statement 

 

Scope of responsibility 

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that 
supports the achievement of Medway NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, 
while safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for 
ensuring that Medway NHS Foundation Trust is administered prudently and economically and 
that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as 
set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 

 

The purpose of the system of internal control 

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based 
on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the 
policies, aims and objectives of Medway NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of approval 
of the annual report and accounts. 

 

Capacity to handle risk 

As Accounting Officer, I have overall responsibility for risk management within the Trust, for 
meeting all statutory requirements and for ensuring adherence to the guidance issued by NHS 
Improvement, Department of Health and Social Care and the CQC in respect of governance. 

However, the Deputy Chief Executive has had specifically defined responsibilities for leading on 
the management of risk throughout the Trust. Day to day management of risks is undertaken by 
operational management, who are charged with ensuring risk assessments are undertaken 
proactively throughout their area of responsibility and remedial action is carried out where 
problems are identified. The process of identification, assessment, analysis and management of 
risks (including incidents) is the responsibility of all staff across the Trust and particularly of all 
managers.  

The Trust has a Risk Management Strategy and Policy in place which clearly sets out the 
accountability, reporting arrangements, identification, management for the control of risk, along 
with the risk management process of escalation and de-escalation to be followed. All relevant 
policies and procedures relating to risks are available to staff via the Trust intranet. The executive 
directors also monitor planned actions to mitigate risks and considers risks for inclusion in the 
corporate risk register or Board Assurance Framework. Risk management is a core component 
of the job descriptions of senior managers within the Trust. 

The Trust’s integrated quality and performance report is reviewed by the Quality Assurance 
Committee and the Trust Board at each meeting. Deep dives are usually carried out for indicators 
where there is sustained adverse performance. There are monthly performance improvement 
meetings between the group executive and the divisions to discuss areas of adverse 
performance.  

The Trust learns from good practice through a range of mechanisms including clinical supervision 
and performance management, continuing professional development, clinical and process audit 
and application of evidence-based practice. At the heart of the Trust Risk Management Strategy 
and Policy is the desire to learn from events and situations in order to continuously improve 
management processes. Where necessary, and where appropriate, changes will be made to the 
Trust’s systems to enable this to happen. 
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The risk and control framework 

Risk management is the key system through which strategic, clinical (quality and safety), 
operational, corporate and financial risks are managed by all staff to their reasonable best for the 
benefit of patients, staff, visitors and other stakeholders. It is through this system of internal 
control and accountability that the Chief Executive fulfils their responsibility as Accounting Officer 
and the Board fulfils its responsibility of stewardship.  

Beginning in March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic brought about a major change in the 
provision of the Trust’s services through national direction including the announcement of the 
national lockdown. In activating its serious incident control plans, a system of tactical cells and a 
strategic oversight were established to ensure that controls over financial and purchasing 
remained in place and the Board could continue to maintain oversight of the Trust’s activities. 

  

The Risk Management Strategy and Policy 

The Risk Management Strategy and Policy and supporting procedures set out the key 
responsibilities for managing risk within the organisation, including ways in which the risk is 
identified, evaluated and controlled. A risk management rating matrix is used to support a 
consistent approach to assessing and evaluating all clinical and non-clinical risks.  

Risk Appetite  

The Trust recognises it is impossible to deliver its services and achieve positive outcomes for its 
stakeholders without taking risks. It must, however, take risks in a controlled manner, thus 
reducing its exposure down to a level deemed acceptable by the Board and by extension, 
external regulators and relevant legislation. The risk appetite was reviewed in January 2021 as 
part of an updated risk management policy.  

The Trust may accept some high risks because the cost of controlling them is prohibitive, while 
ensuring minimal impact on patient care and in line with the risk tolerances set. The Board has 
taken a cautious view regarding the risks that it is prepared to take in terms of risks to quality, 
patient safety, financial controls, reputation, compliance and regulation, workforce and external 
stakeholders, expressing a preference for safe delivery options that have a low degree of risk.  

 

Risk Management  

Key systems are being embedded at every level of the organisation to ensure compliance with 
current and future risk management related standards and legislation. 

The diagram below, [figure 1], provides a schematic view of the risk management process for 
identifying, evaluating, recording, controlling, monitoring and communicating risks throughout the 
organisation, with clear lines of escalation from ward speciality and Care Group levels, to Division 
and subsequently Executive and Board levels, with the consequent de-escalation and resolution 
of risk through appropriate control and actions taken. 

A number of principal risks were identified during the year that may have had the potential to 
adversely affect the achievement of our strategic objectives. These risks are assigned to an 
executive director and reported on the Board Assurance Framework.  

The Board Assurance Framework which provides a structure and process that enables the Trust 
to focus on those risks that might compromise achievement of the Trust’s strategic objectives 
was reviewed and reformatted. Sections of the Board Assurance Framework is reviewed at 
meetings of the Audit & Risk Committee and bi-monthly at the Trust Board for oversight of 
emerging risks and issues which may impact on the achievement of the agreed  
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Risk Management  

 [Figure 1] Schematic view of the risk management process 

priorities and to provide assurance that these principal risks continue to be mitigated as far as 
practicable. Although the key strategic risks are identified and monitored by the Trust Board, 
operational risks are managed on a day-to-day basis by staff throughout the Trust. 

The Quality Assurance Committee takes the lead in overseeing the improvement actions and 
delivery of “must do and should do” actions arising from the May 2021 CQC inspection findings to 
ensure CQC standards are met.  

Committees of the Board each undertake an annual review of their effectiveness and of their 
terms of reference.  Chairs of committees meet to ensure that committee business is 
appropriately directed.  Two of the committees have governor observers as means of holding 
board members to account.  Performance is reviewed on the board’s behalf by the Quality 
Assurance, People and Finance committees on a monthly basis through the integrated quality 
performance report (IQPR).  The IQPR is further reviewed by the Board, supported by issues 
highlighted at committee.   
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Principal Corporate Risks 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

People Strategy and Workforce Safeguards 

The Trust’s 2019-22 People Strategy aims for a continued transformational change over the next 
two years.  Our People Strategy has been delivered through three delivery domains, Best of 
People, Best Culture and Best Future and has been designed in tandem with our clinical and 
quality strategies. This is to ensure our culture and future is based on building continuous quality 
improvement and that we design our workforce to deliver the clinical services for the future.  The 
strategy has been driven by patient safety improvements based on the Francis Report and 
Developing Workforce Safeguards to deliver high-quality care through safe and effective staffing.  
Daily safe staffing acuity reviews take place across the hospital; planning for now and in the 
future is carried out through following national guidance for staffing ratios.   

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures 
are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme regulations are 
complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and 
payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme rules, and that member Pension 
Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the 
Regulations.  

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality, 
diversity, modern slavery and human rights legislation are complied with.  

Throughout 2021/22, we have built on the existing health and wellbeing support provided through 
our employee assistance programme and Occupational Health Service. We have focused on 
three key areas of work: a) supporting all staff, b) supporting leaders to support themselves and 
their staff, and c) ensuring access to professional psychological support where required.  

To date we have built on the health and wellbeing support that already existed by taking 
advantage a range of regional and national support. We have aligned our strategic direction with 
the NHS People Plan with the intention of building resilience and leadership capability in the 
organisation to create a compassionate and inclusive culture where well-being is a priority. We 
are working collaboratively with systems colleagues, improved our ability to support staff at a 
local level and, recognising the importance of providing resources that enable anonymity, 
emphasised access to a range of national support and resources.  

Working in partnership with system colleagues a model was developed to enhance the 
psychological support available. Tiers 1 and 2 are provided locally at MFT and Tier 3 by 
specialist colleagues through the South East Regional Mental Health and Wellbeing Hub.  

Tier 1: Information leaflets, videos, self-help line, peer support wobble rooms, Schwartz rounds, 
resilience building and managing stress at work training  

Risk Target 
Score 

Initial 
Score 

Mar 

22 

 

A risk that the Trust is unable to meet the 
constitutional standards for emergency and 
elective access 

 

6 16 20 

 

Failure to develop, approve and deliver against a 
Financial Recovery Plan (“FRP”) 

 

4 16 16 
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Tier 2: Reflective practice sessions, listening ear service, psychological first aiders, REACT 
mental health conversations, facilitated operational debriefing, leadership support circles  

Tier 3: Specialist psychological service providing rapid access to clinical assessment and formal 
psychological interventions.   

Health and wellbeing conversations form part of our appraisal processes and have been further 
emphasised by the introduction of the NHSEI template. COVID risk assessments were rolled our 
across the organisation.  Remote working guidance has been published and encourages a 
flexible approach.  

Following consultation with key stakeholders our Staff Health and Wellbeing Strategy has been 
published and is supported by plans which include the introduction of Healthy Workplace Allies 
and TRiM Practitioners to support managing risk and ensure all staff have knowledge of, and 
access to, the full range of support available. In addition to a range of support and resources in 
the context of mental health and wellbeing, we will encourage healthy lifestyles with active focus 
on physical health through provision in partnership with the hospital charity of a staff gym on site. 
We are also working with Medway Public Health providing Healthy Way courses, access to other 
physical activities and support for quitting smoking.  

The strategy employs the Health and Wellbeing Framework diagnostic tool as a point of 
reference to monitor improvement and we have appointed a Wellbeing Guardian to provide 
assurance to the Board. The framework dashboard, alongside Key Performance Indicators from 
NHS Staff Survey and Freedom to Speak Up metrics, will provide oversight of progress of the 
Staff Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

 

Register of Interests 

The Trust is required to hold and maintain a register setting out details of any company 
directorships and/or significant interests held by Board members, which may conflict with their 
responsibilities as Trust directors.  

The Trust Board reviews the register at each meeting and requires all executive and non-
executive directors to confirm their entries. A standing item on the Board agenda which requires 
all executive and non-executive directors to make known any interests in relation to the agenda. 

A register of the directors’ interests is available to the public on the Trust’s website 
www.medway.nhs.uk or by contacting: 

 

The Company Secretary,  
Medway NHS Foundation Trust,  
Medway Maritime Hospital, Windmill Road,  
Gillingham, Kent ME7 5NY. 

 

The foundation trust has published on its website an up-to-date register of interests, including 
gifts and hospitality, for decision-making staff (as defined by the trust with reference to the 
guidance) within the past twelve months as required by the Managing Conflicts of Interest in the 
NHS guidance. 
 

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 

The Trust has a range of processes to ensure resources are used economically, efficiently and 
effectively. This includes clear and effective management and supervision arrangements for staff 
and the presentation of regular finance and efficiency programme reports to the executive group, 
the trust board and associated sub-committees. 

 

  

http://www.medway.nhs.uk/
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Financial Sustainability 

In 2021/22 the Trust delivered its financial control total, this being the fourth consecutive year.  
As a result of the Trust’s interim debt being written off during 2020/21 it continues to end the 
period with net assets (previously net liabilities). 

The Trust has submitted a plan for 2022/23 that reports a deficit of £3.2 million; this deficit 
position arises due to hyper-inflationary cost pressures, particularly in respect of utilities.  Despite 
this deficit position, the plan remains compliant with national guidance.  At the time of writing it 
has been announced that a further submission of operating plans for 2022/23 will be required 
nationally and it is anticipated that further funding allocated to meet inflationary pressures will 
enable the Trust to agree a balanced Plan. 
 

Whilst modest growth and a challenging efficiency programme have been applied to the plan, this 
still represents a significant challenge to the Trust.  This is not least due to a number of 
implemented service developments, response to the recommendations of the CQC together with 
cost and activity pressures arising. 

Notwithstanding the reported deficits in previous years, national comparators of both reference 
costs and the model health system show the Trust providing services at a value below the 
national median.  

The Trust Board recognises the need to continue to improve its overall economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of its current use of resources while at the same time working with stakeholders in 
Kent and Medway to return the economy to a financially stable and sustainable position.  As a 
result, the Trust is taking the following steps to rectify the position: 

 Establishing the continuation of challenging and realistic efficiency programme in 
2022/23.  

 The development of a Financial Recovery Plan with system partners and NHSE/I to solve 
the drivers of the deficit.  We will be taking forward key themes from this work with our 
partners, such as general practitioner provision, emergency care demand and community 
capacity. 

 Controls around key areas of expenditure have been introduced and continue to be 
developed to ensure that all spending is appropriate, essential and represents value for 
money. 

 Continuous confirmation and challenge to ensure that resources are used economically, 
efficiently and effectively across clinical services; the Trust carries out regular monitoring 
of clinical indicators on quality and safety. 

 Strengthened governance arrangements to clearly set out the decision making process of 
investments. 

The Trust’s external auditors are required to consider whether the Trust has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  The 
result of their work is reported to the Audit and Risk Committee. Their report is on page 94. 

 
Efficiency Programme  

Despite the continuing significant operational pressures throughout 2021/22, the Trust delivered 
efficiencies of £4.1 million against a plan of £5.1 million; this builds on the £9 million delivered in 
2020/21, £18 million delivered in 2019/20 and £21 million delivered in 2018/19.  

 

Review of use of resources at Committees 

The Audit & Risk Committee receives independent assurance from internal and external audit 
and counter-fraud specialists who support and provide regular reports based on a risk assessed 
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programme of work agreed ahead of the start of the financial year. This committee also receives 
other external reports and findings from investigations carried out. 

Financial performance and investment business cases are overseen by the Finance, Planning 
and Performance Committee which is chaired by a non-executive director. This committee 
reports directly to the Board and provides assurance on the financial position and commercial 
decisions. 

The Board receives an Integrated Quality and Performance Report and a Finance and 
Performance Report at each Board meeting which includes reviewing the Trust’s operational 
performance relating to national targets, quality, and efficiency. 

Performance is reviewed at all directorate and service level meetings as well as at team 
meetings. Issues are monitored and managed through the Trust’s management structure. Issues 
are escalated to the Trust Management Board for discussion and resolution where appropriate. 

 

EPRR Statement  

The Trust is a Category One responder under the Civil Contingencies Act (2004). Within the Act 
the Trust has specific statutory duties in relation to maintaining a resilient organisation that is able 
to work in partnership with other responders in response and recovery from major and business 
continuity incidents. In order to demonstrate compliance the Trust is aligned to the National 
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response Framework (2015).  

NHS England nationally issues core standards against which each Trust undertakes a self-
assessment and is then audited by its Commissioner. The Trust was awarded Full Compliance 
against the 2018 NHS England Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response Core 
Standards by Medway Clinical Commissioning Group. This has been reported via the Local 
Health Resilience Partnership Executive Group for Kent and Medway to NHS England.  

 

Annual Quality Account  

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality 
Accounts) Regulations 2010 to prepare a Quality Account for each financial year.  

The Chief Nursing Officer and the Chief Medical Officer are joint nominated Trust Executive 
Leads for the Quality Account. The quality priorities have been developed in consultation with a 
wide range of stakeholders; membership, patients, staff, board members. Delivery of the quality 
priorities will be monitored at the Quality Assurance Committee and by the Trust Board.  

You can read more about our priorities and developments in the Quality Account (published 
separately).  

Green Plan  

The foundation trust has undertaken risk assessments and has plans in place which take account 
of the ‘Delivering a Net Zero Health Service’ report under the Greener NHS programme. The 
trust ensures that its obligations under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting 
requirements are complied with. 

Information governance and Data Quality  

The Trust has in place a Data Quality and Assurance Policy and a Strategy, which is overseen by 
a corporate working group.  The policy and strategy set out the staff responsibilities for data 
quality and the key systems including the data quality dashboard and framework.  There a 
regular data audits in relation to the standards of data quality.  Patient facing data is risk 
assessed.   

Two information governance breaches were formally reported to the Information Commissioner.  
Two further incidents were notified – neither resulted in any further action from the ICO. 
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Serious incidents requiring investigation 

Summary of serious incidents requiring investigation involving personal data as 
reported to the Information Commissioner 2021-22 

Date of 
Incident 
(month) 

Nature of incident  

 

 

Nature of data involved Number of 
data 
subjects 
potentially 
affected 

Notification 
Steps 

Date 

07.06.2021 

Staff medical record 
accessed by 
colleague  

Personal and medical 
data 

One HR 
Investigation, 
ICO informed. 

04.02.2022 Personal data shared 
during a telephone 
conversation 

Personal data One Reported to 
DHSC/NHS 
England and 
ICO. 

Further 
action on 
information 
risk 

07.06.2021 – HR process took place.  

04.02.2022 – HR process is ongoing, so unable to provide further information. 

 

 

Summary of other personal data related incidents 

Category Breach type Total 

A Corruption or inability to recover electronic data 0 

B Disclosed in error 32 

C Lost in transit 13 

D Lost or stolen hardware 0 

E Lost or stolen paperwork 0 

F Non-secure disposal – hardware 0 

G Non secure disposal – paperwork 5 

H Uploaded to website in error 0 

I Technical security failing (including hacking) 0 

J Unauthorised access / disclosure 1 

K Other 29 

Total Information Governance/ Data Security and Protection breaches  80 

 

All of Medway NHS Foundation Trust’s Information Governance policies and procedures are 
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) compliant and the teams work with services to 
ensure that we learn from incidents to prevent similar incidents from reoccurring. This is achieved 
through classroom and online training using the National NHS Digital Data Security and 
awareness training as a module.  
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Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSPT)  

The Data Security and Protection Toolkit enables the Trust to measure its compliance against the 
law and central guidance and to see whether information is handled correctly and protected from 
unauthorised access, loss, damage and destruction.   

In 2020/21, our Information Governance Assessment submission met most of the conditions, and 
an action plan produced to guarantee all requirements are met going forward.  

An independent audit report is generated for the Toolkit each year, and for this submission we 
have been rated as Amber/Green. 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust’s full response for 2021/22 has not been submitted as the 
deadline is 30 June 2022.   

 

Compliance with CQC registration 

The Trust has identified the Chief Nursing Officer and the Head of Quality Governance, who are 
respectively accountable and responsible for ensuring compliance with each element of the CQC 
registration standards and monitoring the CQC action plan. It is the responsibility of these staff to 
collate evidence of compliance with the standards. An update on compliance with CQC 
registration is reviewed periodically by a dedicated panel and reported to the Quality Assurance 
Committee.  

The foundation trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality 
Commission.  The Chief Nursing Officer is named as responsible for the Trust’s registered 
services.   

 

Compliance with the Trust’s licence 

The Trust has confirmed compliance with all of its Licence conditions.  The Trust has submitted 
formal undertakings to NHS Improvement in respect of identified suspected breaches of licence 
conditions FT4 (5)(a) to (f); FT4 (6)(c), (d) and (f); FT4 (7); and CoS3(1). Actions are being 
worked through.  

On behalf of the Board, the Finance, Planning and Performance Committee reviews an annual 
declaration in relation to the arrangements to comply with the requirements of the  
Trust’s provider licence.  

 

Conclusion 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the executive managers and clinical leads within 
the NHS foundation trust who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review 
is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and 
other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the board, the Audit and Risk Committee, risk 
assurance group and Quality Assurance Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and 
ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place. 

The head of internal audit provides me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for gaining 
assurance through the Board Assurance Framework and on the controls reviewed as part of the 
internal audit work. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by 
executives and managers within the organisation who have responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the system of internal control and the assurance framework. The Board 
Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that 
manage the risks to the organisation achieving its objectives have been reviewed.  The Board 
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Assurance Framework is framed in the context of the Trust’s strategic objectives to ensure that 
focus is maintained on the delivery of agreed outcomes and the effective management of 
attendant risks.  The internal auditors have confirmed that the Trust’s Board Assurance 
Framework does reflect the Trust’s key objectives and risks and is regularly reviewed by the 
Board. The Executive reviews the Board Assurance Framework on a monthly basis and the Audit 
and Risk  Committee provides views on whether the Trust’s risk management procedures are 
operating effectively. 
 
The head of internal audit opinion for this year is ‘significant assurance with minor improvements 
required’ can be given on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework 
of governance, risk management and control. 
 
The Board, through the executive directors, reviews risks to the delivery of the Trust’s 
performance objectives through monthly monitoring and discussion of the performance in the key 
areas of finance, activity, national targets, patient safety, patient experience, quality and 
workforce. This enables focus to be placed on addressing key issues as they arise. 
 
The Audit and Risk Committee oversees the effectiveness of the Trust’s overall risk management 
and internal control arrangement. On behalf of the Board, it independently reviews the 
effectiveness of risk management systems in ensuring all significant risks are identified, 
assessed, recorded and escalated as appropriate. The Integrated Audit Committee regularly 
receives reports on internal control and risk management matters from the internal and external 
auditors. Concerns raised by the internal or external auditors have been considered by the 
executive team and the Audit and Risk Committee and have been addressed appropriately.  
 
The responsibility for compliance with the CQC essential standards is allocated to lead executive 
directors who are responsible for maintaining evidence of compliance. The Trust is addressing all 
areas of underperformance and non-compliance identified either through external inspections 
and patient and staff surveys, raised by stakeholders, including patients, staff, governors and 
others or identified by internal peer review. 

The Trust has appointed a Freedom to Speak Up Guardian which allows staff to raise (in 
confidence) concerns about possible improprieties in financial, clinical or safety matters and 
ensure that any such concerns are investigated proportionately and independently. 

 

 

 

Jayne Black 
Chief Executive (Interim) 
21 June 2022 
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Foreword to the Accounts 

 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust 

These accounts, for the year ended 31 March 2022, have been prepared by Medway NHS Foundation Trust in 
accordance with paragraphs 24 & 25 of Schedule 7 within the National Health Service Act 2006. 

   

 

 

 

Signed 

  

Name  Jayne Black 

Job title Chief Executive (Interim) 

Date  21 June 2022 

  



 

 ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

 

 

93 

 

 

Statement of  the Chief  Executive's responsibilities as the Accounting 
Officer of  Medway NHS Foundation Trust  

The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the Accounting Officer of the NHS foundation trust. The 
relevant responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of 
public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by NHS Improvement.  

 

NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor by the NHS Act 2006, has given Accounts 
Directions which require Medway NHS Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a statement of 
accounts in the form and on the basis required by those Directions. The accounts are prepared on an accruals 
basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Medway NHS Foundation Trust and of its 
income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year.  

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the 
Department of Health Group Accounting Manual and in particular to: 

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS Improvement, including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis  

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis  

• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual (and the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual) have been followed, 
and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements 

• ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated authorities and 
guidance and  

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.  

The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS foundation trust and to enable him/her to ensure that the 
accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS foundation trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  

As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the foundation trust’s 

auditors are unaware, and I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make 

myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the entity’s auditors 

are aware of that information. 

 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.  

 
Jayne Black 
Chief Executive (Interim) 
21 June 2022 
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Independent auditor’s report to the Council of  Governors of  Medway 
NHS Foundation Trust  

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion on financial statements 
We have audited the financial statements of Medway NHS Foundation Trust (the ‘Trust’) for the year ended 31 
March 2022, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, 
the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied 
in their preparation is applicable law and international accounting standards in conformity with the 
requirements of the Accounts Directions issued under Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006, as 
interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group accounting manual 2021 to 2022. 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Trust as at 31 March 2022 and of its expenditure and 
income for the year then ended; and 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards as interpreted and 
adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group accounting manual 2021 to 2022; and  

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit Practice (2020) (“the Code of Audit Practice”) approved by the 
Comptroller and Auditor General. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of 
the Trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Accounting Officer’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Trust  to cease to continue as a going concern. 

In our evaluation of the Accounting Officer’s’ conclusions, and in accordance with the expectation set out within 
the Department of Health and Social Care Group accounting manual 2021 to 2022 that the Trust’s financial 
statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the inherent risks associated with the 
continuation of services provided by the Trust. In doing so we had regard to the guidance provided in Practice 
Note 10 Audit of financial statements and regularity of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised 
2020) on the application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to public sector entities. We assessed the 
reasonableness of the basis of preparation used by the Trust and the Trust’s disclosures over the going 
concern period.  

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue as a 
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going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue. 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Accounting Officer’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  

The responsibilities of the Accounting Officer with respect to going concern are described in the 
‘Responsibilities of the Accounting Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the financial statements’ 
section of this report. 

Other information 
The Accounting Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a 
material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice 
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2020 on behalf of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the Annual 
Governance Statement does not comply with the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS foundation trust 
annual reporting manual 2021/22 or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware 
from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks 
and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice  
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:  

 the parts of the Remuneration Report and the Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared in 
accordance with international accounting standards  in conformity with the requirements of the Accounts 
Directions issued under Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006; and 

based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our knowledge of 
the Trust, the other information published together with the financial statements in the annual report for the 
financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if: 

 we issue a report in the public interest under Schedule 10 (3) of the National Health Service Act 2006 in the 
course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

 we refer a matter to the regulator under Schedule 10 (6) of the National Health Service Act 2006 because 
we have reason to believe that the Trust, or an officer of the Trust, is about to make, or has made, a 
decision which involves or would involve the incurring of unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has 
begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a 
loss or deficiency. 
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We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. 

Responsibilities of the Accounting Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the financial 
statements 
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities as the accounting officer, the 
Chief Executive, as Accounting Officer, is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in the form 
and on the basis set out in the Accounts Directions included in the NHS foundation trust annual reporting 
manual 2021/22, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the 
Accounting Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accounting Officer  is responsible for assessing the Trust’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Accounting Officer has been informed by the relevant national body of 
the intention to dissolve the Trust without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity. 

The Audit and Risk Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged with Governance are 
responsible for overseeing the Trust’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report. 

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including 
fraud 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that 
material misstatements in the financial statements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly 
planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs (UK).  

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:  

 We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Trust and 
determined that the most significant which are directly relevant to specific assertions in the financial 
statements are those related to the reporting frameworks (international accounting standards and the 
National Health Service Act 2006, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care 
Group accounting manual 2021 to 2022). 

 We enquired of management and the Audit and Risk Committee, concerning the Trust’s policies and 
procedures relating to:  
 

 the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations; 

 the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and 

 the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with laws and 
regulations.  

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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 We enquired of management, internal audit and the Audit and Risk Committee, whether they were aware of 
any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations or whether they had any knowledge of actual, 
suspected or alleged fraud.  

 We assessed the susceptibility of the Trust’s financial statements to material misstatement, including how 
fraud might occur, evaluating management's incentives and opportunities for manipulation of the financial 
statements.This included the evaluation of the risk of management override of controls, fraudulent 
expenditure recognition and significant accounting estimates. We determined that the principal risks were in 
relation to:  

− journal entries;  

− revaluation of land and buildings.  

Our audit procedures involved:  

− evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that management has in place to prevent and detect 

fraud;  

− journal entry testing, with a focus on journals meeting a range of criteria defined as part of our risk 

assessment;  

− challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant accounting estimates in 

respect of land and buildings valuations and; 

 − assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as part of our procedures on 

the related financial statement item. 

 These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements were 
free from fraud or error. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk 
of not detecting one resulting from error and detecting irregularities that result from fraud is inherently more 
difficult than detecting those that result from error, as fraud may involve collusion, deliberate concealment, 
forgery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-compliance with laws and 
regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would 
become aware of it. 

 The team communications in respect of potential non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations, 
including the potential for fraud in revenue and/or expenditure recognition, and the significant accounting 
estimates related to valuation of land and buildings included within the accounts. 

 Our assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the engagement 
team included consideration of the engagement team's: 

 understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature and complexity 
through appropriate training and participation; 

 knowledge of the health sector and economy in which the Trust operates; 

 understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the Trust including: 

 the provisions of the applicable legislation 

 NHS England’s rules and related guidance 

 the applicable statutory provisions. 

 In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding of: 
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 The Trust’s operations, including the nature of its income and expenditure and its services and of its 
objectives and strategies to understand the classes of transactions, account balances, expected financial 
statement disclosures and business risks that may result in risks of material misstatement. 

 The Trust's control environment, including the policies and procedures implemented by the Trust to 
ensure compliance with the requirements of the financial reporting framework. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements –the Trust’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources 
Matter on which we are required to report by exception – the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not been able to 
satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2022.   

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter. 

Responsibilities of the Accounting Officer 
The Chief Executive, as Accounting Officer, is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the Trust's resources. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources 
We are required under paragraph 1 of Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006  to be satisfied that 
the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Trust's 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating 
effectively. 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance 
issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in December 2021. This guidance sets out the arrangements 
that fall within the scope of ‘proper arrangements’. When reporting on these arrangements, the Code of Audit 
Practice requires auditors to structure their commentary on arrangements under three specified reporting 
criteria: 

 Financial sustainability: how the Trust plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to 
deliver its services;  

 Governance: how the Trust ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks; 
and  

 Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Trust uses information about its costs and 
performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services. 

We have documented our understanding of the arrangements the Trust has in place for each of these three 
specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support our risk assessment and commentary in our 
Auditor’s Annual Report. In undertaking our work, we have considered whether there is evidence to suggest 
that there are significant weaknesses in arrangements. 
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Certificate 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of Medway NHS Foundation Trust in 
accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Code 
of Audit Practice. 
 
Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, in accordance with Schedule 10 
of the National Health Service Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Trust's Council of Governors those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Trust and the Trust's Council of Governors as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed. 

 

Darren Wells          

Darren Wells, Key Audit Partner 

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 

London 

21 June 2022 
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Statement of  Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 March 
2022 

  
   

  2021/22  2020/21 

 Note £000  £000 

Operating income from patient care activities 3 370,315  315,419 

Other operating income  4 30,160  65,682 

Operating expenses  5 (393,469)  (373,676) 

Operating surplus from continuing operations  7,006  7,425 

     

Finance income 9 44  0 

Finance expenses 10 (21)  (33) 

PDC dividends payable 25 (6,976)  (6,180) 

Net finance costs  (6,953)  (6,213) 

       

Surplus in the year  53  1,212 
 

    

Other comprehensive Expense     

Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:     

Impairments  12 0  (6,803) 

Revaluations  12 7,463  1,499 

Total comprehensive expense for the period  7,516  (4,092) 
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Statement of  Financial Position as at 31 March 2022 

 

 

   

31 March 
2022  

31 March 
2021 

  Note £000  £000 

Non-current assets      

Property, plant and equipment 11 239,695  221,291 

Receivables  14 600  660 

Total non-current assets   240,295  221,951 

Current assets      

Inventories  13 5,996  6,962 

Receivables  14 13,889  16,216 

Cash and cash equivalents 15 33,455  49,184 

Total current assets   53,340  72,362 

Current liabilities      
Trade and other 

payables  16 (28,147)  (37,101) 

Borrowings  18 (136)  (137) 

Provisions  19 (763)  (1,255) 

Other liabilities  17 (1,353)  (7,584) 

Total current liabilities   (30,399)  (46,077) 

Total assets less current liabilities  263,236  248,236 

Non-current liabilities      

Borrowings  18 (2,025)  (2,151) 

Provisions  19 (1,248)  (1,424) 

Total non-current liabilities  (3,273)  (3,575) 

Total assets employed   259,963  244,661 

      

Financed by       

Public dividend capital   461,656  453,870 

Revaluation reserve   43,525  36,062 

Income and expenditure reserve  (245,218)  (245,271) 

Total taxpayers' equity   259,963  244,661 
  

    
The notes on pages 104 to 137 form part of these accounts.     

      
Signed ………………………… ………………………… 

      
Name  Jayne Black Alan Davies   
Position Chief Executive (Interim) Chief Finance Officer 

Date 21 June 2022 21 June 2022   
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Statement of  Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2022 

 

 

Public 
dividend 

capital 

Revaluation 
reserve 

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve 

Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2021 - brought 
forward 453,870 36,062 (245,271) 244,661 

Surplus for the year 0 0 53 53 

Impairments 0 0 0 0 

Revaluations  0 7,463 0 7,463 

Public dividend capital received 7,786 0 0 7,786 

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2022 461,656 43,525 (245,218) 259,963 

          

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2021 
     

 

Public 
dividend 

capital 

Revaluation 
reserve 

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve 

Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2020 - brought 
forward 140,580 41,366 (246,483) (64,537) 

Surplus for the year 0 0 1,212 1,212 

Impairments 0 (6,803) 0 (6,803) 

Revaluations  0 1,499 0 1,499 

Public dividend capital received 313,290 0 0 313,290 

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2021 453,870 36,062 (245,271) 244,661 

 
    

Public dividend capital     

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets 
over liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. Additional PDC may 
also be issued to trusts by the Department of Health and Social Care. A charge, reflecting the cost of 
capital utilised by the trust, is payable to the Department of Health as the public dividend capital 
dividend. 
     
Revaluation reserve     

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except 
where, and to the extent that, they reverse impairments previously recognised in operating expenses, in 
which case they are recognised in operating income. Subsequent downward movements in asset 
valuations are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that a previous gain was recognised 
unless the downward movement represents a clear consumption of economic benefit or a reduction in 
service potential. 
     
Income and expenditure reserve     

The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the trust. 



 

 

 ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

 

103 

 

 

 

Statement of  Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2022 

 

  2021/22  2020/21 

 Note £000   £000  

Cash flows from operating activities     

Operating surplus / (deficit)  7,006  7,425 

Non-cash income and expense:     

Depreciation and amortisation 5 11,914  10,085 

Net impairment reversal 12 (78)  107 

Income recognised in respect of capital donations 4 (631)  (740) 

(Increase) / decrease in receivables and other assets  2,083  20,649 

Decrease / (Increase) in inventories  966  (656) 

Increase / (decrease) in payables and other liabilIties  (6,993)  9,664 

Decrease / (Increase) in provisions  (657)  (445) 

Net cash flows from / (used in) operating activities  13,610  46,089 

Cash flows from investing activities     

Interest received  24  0 
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and investment 

property  (30,858)  (23,947) 

Receipt of cash donations to purchase capital assets  75  10 

Net cash used in investing activities  (30,759)  (23,937) 

Cash flows from financing activities     

Public dividend capital received  7,786  313,290 

Movement on loans from the Department of Health and Social 
Care  (126)  (291,543) 

Interest on loans  (28)  (587) 

Other interest  (5)  (9) 

PDC dividend (paid)/refunded  (6,207)  (6,504) 

Net cash generated from financing activities  1,420  14,647 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents  (15,729)  36,799 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - brought forward  49,184  12,385 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March  15 33,455  49,184 
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Notes to the Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2022 

 

Note 1 Accounting policies and other information   

Note 1.1 Basis of preparation   

NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions conferred on Monitor, has directed that the financial 
statements of the Trust shall meet the accounting requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care 
Group Accounting Manual (GAM), which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the GAM 2021/22 issued by the Department of 
Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the GAM follow International Financial Reporting 
Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM Treasury, 
which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the GAM permits a choice of accounting 
policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Trust 
for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted are described 
below. These have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the 
accounts.     

Note 1.1.1 Accounting convention   

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the 
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and 
financial liabilities. 

Note 1.2 Going concern   

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. The financial reporting framework applicable to 
NHS bodies, derived from the HM Treasury Financial Reporting Manual, defines that the anticipated continued 
provision of the entity’s services in the public sector is normally sufficient evidence of going concern. The 
directors have a reasonable expectation that this will continue to be the case.      

Note 1.3 Revenue from contracts with customers   

Where income is derived from contracts with customers, it is accounted for under IFRS 15. The GAM expands 
the definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which enables an entity to receive cash or 
another financial asset that is not classified as a tax by the Office for National Statistics (ONS).    

Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are 
satisfied by transferring promised goods/services to the customer and is measured at the amount of the 
transaction price allocated to those performance obligations. At the year end, the Trust accrues income relating 
to performance obligations satisfied in that year. Where the Trust’s entitlement to consideration for those goods 
or services is unconditional a contract receivable will be recognised. Where entitlement to consideration is 
conditional on a further factor other than the passage of time, a contract asset will be recognised. Where 
consideration received or receivable relates to a performance obligation that is to be satisfied in a future 
period, the income is deferred and recognised as a contract liability.    

Note 1.3.1 Revenue from NHS Contracts   

The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners for health care services. In 2021/22 
and 2020/21, the majority of the trust’s income from NHS commissioners was in the form of block contract 
arrangements. The Trust receives block funding from its commissioners, where funding envelopes are set at 
an Integrated Care System/Sustainability and Transformation Partnership level. For the first half of the 2020/21 
comparative year these blocks were set for individual NHS providers directly, but the revenue recognition 
principles are the same. The related performance obligation is the delivery of healthcare and related services 
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during the period, with the trust’s entitlement to consideration not varying based on the levels of activity 
performed.  

The Trust also receives additional income outside of the block payments to reimburse specific costs incurred 
and, in 2021/22 and 2020/21, other income top-ups to support the delivery of services. Reimbursement and 
top-up income is accounted for as variable consideration. 

In 2021/22, the Elective Recovery Fund enabled systems to earn income linked to the achievement of elective 
activity targets including funding any increased use of independent sector capacity. Income earned by the 
system is distributed between individual entities by local agreement. Income earned from the fund is accounted 
for as variable consideration.      

Note 1.3.2 Revenue from Research Contracts   

Where research contracts fall under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised as and when performance obligations are 
satisfied. For some contracts, it is assessed that the revenue project constitutes one performance obligation 
over the course of the multi-year contract. In these cases it is assessed that the Trust’s interim performance 
does not create an asset with alternative use for the Trust, and the Trust has an enforceable right to payment 
for the performance completed to date. It is therefore considered that the performance obligation is satisfied 
over time, and the Trust recognises revenue each year over the course of the contract. Some research income 
alternatively falls within the provisions of IAS 20 for government grants.       

Note 1.3.3 NHS Injury cost recovery scheme   

The Trust receives income under the NHS injury cost recovery scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating 
injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid, for instance by an 
insurer. The Trust recognises the income when performance obligations are satisfied. In practical terms this 
means that treatment has been given, it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension's 
Compensation Recovery Unit, has completed the NHS2 form and confirmed there are no discrepancies with 
the treatment. The income is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, 
less an allowance for unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts in line with IFRS 9 requirements of 
measuring expected credit losses over the lifetime of the asset.        

Note 1.3.4 Other Income 

Grants and Donations   

Government grants are grants from government bodies other than income from commissioners or trusts for the 
provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure. Where the grant is used to fund capital expenditure, it is 
credited to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income once conditions attached to the grant have 
been met. Donations are treated in the same way as government grants.     

Apprenticeship service income   

The value of the benefit received when accessing funds from the Government's apprenticeship service is 
recognised as income at the point of receipt of the training service. Where these funds are paid directly to an 
accredited training provider from the Trust's Digital Apprenticeship Service (DAS) account held by the 
Department for Education, the corresponding notional expense is also recognised at the point of recognition for 
the benefit.           

Note 1.4 Expenditure on employee benefits   

Short-term employee benefits   

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments such as social security costs and the apprenticeship levy 
are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees. The cost of annual leave 
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entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial 
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period.   

Pension costs    

NHS Pension Scheme   

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Both schemes 
are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. The scheme is not 
designed in a way that would enable employers to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and 
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as though it is a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the 
trust is taken as equal to the employer's pension contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting 
period. The contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.    

Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the 
retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating 
expenses at the time the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.   

Note 1.5 Expenditure on other goods and services   

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is 
measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses 
except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.     

Note 1.6 Property, plant and equipment   

Note 1.6.1 Recognition   

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:       

 It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes   

 It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the trust  

 It is expected to be used for more than one financial year   

 The cost of the item can be measured reliably   

 The item has cost of at least £5,000, or   

 collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have cost of more than 
£250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have similar disposal dates and are under single managerial control.   

 costs form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit irrespective of 
their individual or collective cost.   

Staff costs have also been capitalised where they arise directly from the construction or acquisition of specific 
property, plant or equipment.          

The finance costs of bringing fixed assets into use are not capitalised.   

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset 
lives, e.g., plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over 
their own useful lives.   

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system is capitalised as part of the 
relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. 
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application software is assessed on a case by case basis and is either capitalised as a tangible asset or 
expensed over the life of the licence. 

Note 1.6.2 Measurement   

Valuation   

All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to 
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.  

Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value 
in existing use. Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at 
fair value where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date. 

Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying 
amounts are not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period.  

Current values in existing use are determined as follows: 

•   Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use"   

•   Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost on a modern equivalent asset basis."   

For specialised assets, current value in existing use is interpreted as the present value of the asset's remaining 
service potential, which is assumed to be at least equal to the cost of replacing that service potential. 
Specialised assets are therefore valued at their depreciated replacement cost (DRC) on a modern equivalent 
asset (MEA) basis. An MEA basis assumes that the asset will be replaced with a modern asset of equivalent 
capacity and meeting the location requirements of the services being provided. Assets held at depreciated 
replacement cost have been valued on an alternative site basis where this would meet the location 
requirements.   

All land and buildings are restated to current value using professional valuations in accordance with IAS 16 
every five years.  A yearly interim valuation is also carried out.  Valuations are carried out by professionally 
qualified valuers in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation 
Manual.  In accordance with this policy the valuation undertaken on 2021/22 was therefore a desktop 
revaluation.   

The valuation exercise was carried out in March 2022 with a valuation date of 31st March 2022. 

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any 
impairment loss.  Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when the assets are brought into use. 

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational 
use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful lives or low values or both, as 
this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.     
  

Depreciation   

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated at rates calculated to write them down to estimated 
residual value on a straight-line basis over their estimated economic lives.  Freehold land is considered to have 
an infinite life and is not depreciated.   

Property, plant and equipment reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ cease to be depreciated upon the reclassification. 
Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use.   
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Buildings, installations and fittings and depreciated on their current value over the estimated remaining life of 
the asset as assessed by the Trust’s professional valuers.  Assets held under a finance lease are depreciated 
over the primary lease term.   

Equipment is depreciated on current cost evenly over the estimated life of the asset - see 1.6.5.    

Revaluation gains and losses   

Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse 
a revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are 
recognised in operating income.   

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for 
the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.   

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as an item of ‘other operating expenses’.       

Impairments   

In accordance with the GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or of 
service potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the 
revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the 
impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that 
asset before the impairment. 

An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is reversed 
when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are 
recognised in operating expenditure to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would 
have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation 
reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the 
income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the 
impairment reversal is recognised. 

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as 
revaluation gains.   

Note 1.6.3 De-recognition   

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘held for sale’ once the criteria in IFRS 5 are met. The sale 
must be highly probable and the asset available for immediate sale in its present condition.   

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair 
value less costs to sell’.  Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where the 
'fair value less costs to sell' falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale 
contract conditions have been met. 

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘held 
for sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s useful life is adjusted. The asset is de-
recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.      

Note 1.6.4 Donated and grant funded assets    

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. 
The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the 
future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in 
which case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the 
extent that the condition has not yet been met.   
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The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of 
property, plant and equipment.   

In 2021/22 this includes assets donated to the trust by the Department of Health and Social Care as part of the 
response to the coronavirus pandemic. As defined in the GAM, the trust applies the principle of donated asset 
accounting to assets that the trust controls and is obtaining economic benefits from at the year end.    

Note 1.6.5 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment    

Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. The range of useful lives are 
shown in the table below:   

 
Min 
Years 

Max 
Years 

Buildings (set-up costs in new buildings) 3 10 

Buildings & Dwellings 3 80 

Plant & machinery 5 25 

Transport (Vehicles) 7 7 

Information technology 5 8 

Furniture & fittings 7 10 

   

Finance-leased assets (including land) are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life or the lease term, 
unless the trust expects to acquire the asset at the end of the lease term in which case the assets are 
depreciated in the same manner as owned assets above.     

Note 1.7 Inventories    

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured using 
the first in, first out (FIFO) method.   

In 2020/21 and 2021/22, the Trust received inventories including personal protective equipment from the 
Department of Health and Social Care at nil cost. In line with the GAM and applying the principles of the IFRS 
Conceptual Framework, the Trust has accounted for the receipt of these inventories at a deemed cost, 
reflecting the best available approximation of an imputed market value for the transaction based on the cost of 
acquisition by the Department.              

Note 1.8 Cash and cash equivalents   

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more 
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition 
and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.   

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash management. Cash, bank and 
overdraft balances are recorded at current values.        

Note 1.9 Financial assets and financial liabilities   

Note 1.9.1 Recognition   

Financial assets and financial liabilities arise where the Trust is party to the contractual provisions of a financial 
instrument, and as a result has a legal right to receive or a legal obligation to pay cash or another financial 
instrument. The GAM expands the definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which give rise 
to arrangements that in all other respects would be a financial instrument and do not give rise to transactions 
classified as a tax by ONS.   
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This includes the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in 
accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements and are recognised when, and to the 
extent which, performance occurs, i.e., when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.   

Note 1.9.2 Classification and measurement   

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus or minus directly attributable 
transaction costs except where the asset or liability is not measured at fair value through income and 
expenditure. Fair value is taken as the transaction price, or otherwise determined by reference to quoted 
market prices or valuation techniques.   

Financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost.   

Financial liabilities classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost.      

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost   

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost are those held with the objective of collecting 
contractual cash flows and where cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes cash 
equivalents, contract and other receivables, trade and other payables, rights and obligations under lease 
arrangements and loans receivable and payable.   

After initial recognition, these financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method less any impairment (for financial assets). The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or 
financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability.  

Interest revenue or expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 
a financial asset or amortised cost of a financial liability and recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and a financing income or expense.  In the case of loans held from the Department of Health and 
Social Care, the effective interest rate is the nominal rate of interest charged on the loan.    
   

Impairment of financial assets   

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost including lease receivables, contract receivables and 
contract assets the Trust recognises an allowance for expected credit losses.    

The Trust adopts the simplified approach to impairment for contract and other receivables, contract assets and 
lease receivables, measuring expected losses as at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses. For other 
financial assets, the loss allowance is initially measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit 
losses (stage 1) and subsequently at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk 
assessed for the financial asset significantly increases (stage 2).   

The Trust has developed a model for Non DHSC group bodies’ contract and other receivables which assesses 
the liability by category and debtor type factoring in any known specifics to calculate the value of impairment.     

This DHSC provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of DHSC group bodies (excluding NHS 
charities); in accordance with the GAM these liabilities have been deemed risk free so no credit losses are 
calculated in relation to these liabilities.   

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses 
at the reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.   

Expected losses are charged to operating expenditure within the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
reduce the net carrying value of the financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position.   
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Note 1.9.3 Derecognition   

Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets have 
expired or the Trust has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.   

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.   

Note 1.10 Leases   

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.   

Note 1.10.1 The trust as lessee    

Finance leases   

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the trust, the asset is 
recorded as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both 
are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.   

The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset is accounted for 
as an item of property plant and equipment.   

The annual rental charge is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a 
constant rate of finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. The lease liability, is de-recognised when the liability is discharged, 
cancelled or expires.     

Operating leases   

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.   

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.    

Note 1.11 Provisions    

The Trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or 
amount; for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best 
estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is 
significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the discount rates published and 
mandated by HM Treasury. 

Early retirement provisions and injury benefit provisions both use the HM Treasury's pension discount rate of 
minus 1.30% in real terms (prior year: minus 0.95%).         

Clinical negligence costs   

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the trust pays an annual contribution to NHS 
Resolution, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although NHS Resolution is administratively 
responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total value of clinical 
negligence provisions carried by NHS Resolution on behalf of the trust is disclosed at note 19 but is not 
recognised in the Trust’s accounts.    
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Non-clinical risk pooling    

The trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are 
risk pooling schemes under which the trust pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and in return 
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any “excesses” 
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.   

Note 1.12 Contingencies   

Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or 
more future events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed in note 
20 where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.   

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 20, unless the probability of a transfer of 
economic benefits is remote.   

Contingent liabilities are defined as:   

• Possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence 
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or   

• Present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic 
benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 
    

Note 1.13 Public dividend capital   

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over 
liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. HM Treasury has determined that 
PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.  

The Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, the trust. PDC is recorded 
at the value received. 

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the trust, is payable as public dividend capital dividend. The 
charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the 
trust during the financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all 
liabilities, with certain additions and deductions as defined by the Department of Health and Social Care."  

This policy is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-financing-available-to-nhs-
trusts-and-foundation-trusts.   

In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health and Social Care (as the issuer of 
PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-
audit” version of the annual accounts. The dividend calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net 
assets occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts.       

Note 1.14 Value added tax    

Most of the activities of the trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and 
input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category 
or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.     

Note 1.15 Losses and special payments   

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for 
the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are 
therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-financing-available-to-nhs-trusts-and-foundation-trusts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-financing-available-to-nhs-trusts-and-foundation-trusts
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into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses and special payments 
are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis. 

The losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which 
reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.      

Note 1.16 Gifts   

Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. 
Gifts include all transactions economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of 
an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below market value.    

Note 1.17 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies   

Any judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the 
process of applying the NHS foundation trust’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements are disclosed in the notes:   

Going Concern - See note 1.2. 

Credit Loss Provision - See note 1.9.2 Financial Asset Impairments 

Note 1.17.1 Sources of estimation uncertainty   

There are no estimation uncertainties that could have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.   

Note 1.18 Accounting standards that have been amended during the reporting year   

No new accounting standards or revisions to existing standards have been early adopted in 2021/22.   

Note 1.19 Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective or adopted   

IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease 
and other interpretations and is applicable in the public sector for periods beginning 1 April 2022.  The 
standard provides a single accounting model for lessees, recognising a right of use asset and obligation in the 
statement of financial position for most leases: some leases are exempt through application of practical 
expedients explained below. For those recognised in the statement of financial position the standard also 
requires the remeasurement of lease liabilities in specific circumstances after the commencement of the lease 
term. For lessors, the distinction between operating and finance leases will remain and the accounting will be 
largely unchanged.   

IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease compared to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The trust will apply this definition 
to new leases only and will grandfather its assessments made under the old standards of whether existing 
contracts contain a lease.   

On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2022, the trust will apply the standard retrospectively without restatement 
and with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised in the income and expenditure 
reserve at that date. For existing operating leases with a remaining lease term of more than 12 months and an 
underlying asset value of at least £5,000, a lease liability will be recognised equal to the value of remaining 
lease payments discounted on transition at the trust’s incremental borrowing rate. The trust's incremental 
borrowing rate will be defined by HM Treasury. For 2022, this rate is 0.95%. The related right of use asset will 
be measured equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments. For existing 
peppercorn leases not classified as finance leases, a right of use asset will be measured at current value in 
existing use or fair value. The difference between the asset value and the calculated lease liability will be 
recognised in the income and expenditure reserve on transition. No adjustments will be made on 1 April 2022 
for existing finance leases.   
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For leases commencing in 2022/23, the trust will not recognise a right of use asset or lease liability for short 
term leases (less than or equal to 12 months) or for leases of low value assets (less than £5,000).  Right of use 
assets will be subsequently measured on a basis consistent with owned assets and depreciated over the 
length of the lease term.    

The trust has estimated the impact of applying IFRS 16 in 2022/23 on the opening statement of financial 
position and the in-year impact on the statement of comprehensive income and capital additions as follows:  

 

£000 
Estimated impact on 1 April 2022 statement of financial position  

Additional right of use assets recognised for existing operating leases 832  
Additional lease obligations recognised for existing operating leases (824) 
Changes to other statement of financial position line items  [If this line is 

material, further disclosure should be added and/or this line disaggregated] 

-  

Net impact on net assets on 1 April 2022 8   

 

 

Estimated in-year impact in 2022/23  

 

Additional depreciation on right of use assets (425) 
Additional finance costs on lease liabilities (7) 
Lease rentals no longer charged to operating expenditure 425  
Other impact on income / expenditure  [If this line is material, further 

disclosure should be added and/or this line disaggregated] -  

Estimated impact on surplus / deficit in 2022/23 (7) 

 

Note 1.20 Charitable Funds   

The Trust is the corporate Trustee of Medway NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund – Registered Charity 
number 1051748. The foundation trust has assessed its relationship to the charitable fund and determined it to 
be a subsidiary because the foundation trust has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the 
charitable fund so as to obtain benefits from its activities for itself, its patients or its staff.   

The NHS Foundation Trust has not consolidated the charitable funds as it is not deemed material to its 
accounts.    .    

 

Note 2 Operating Segments 

The Trust has only one segment of business which is the provision of healthcare. The segment has been 
identified with reference to how the Trust is organised and the way in which the chief operating decision maker 
(determined to be the Board of Directors) runs the Trust.                                                                                               

The geographical and regulatory environment and the nature of services provided are consistent across the 
organisation and are therefore presented in one segment. The necessary information to develop detailed 
income and expenditure for each product and service provided by the Trust is currently not discretely available 
and the cost to develop this information would be excessive.  

Significant amounts of income are received from transactions with the Department of Health and other NHS 
bodies. Disclosure of all material transactions with related parties is included in note 27 to these financial 
statements. There are no other parties that account for more than 10% of total income. 
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Note 3 Operating income from patient care activities 

All income from patient care activities relates to contract income recognised in line with 
accounting policy 1.3 
    

Note 3.1 Income from patient care activities (by nature) 2021/22 
 

2020/21 
   

 
 

£000  
 

£000  

Block contract / system envelope income1 325,238 
 

242,359 

High cost drugs income from commissioners 22,360 
 

22,644 

Other NHS clinical income1 7,217 
 

39,989 

Private patient income  93 
 

44 

Elective recovery fund 4,555 
 

0 

Additional pension contribution central funding2 9,205 
 

8,797 

Other clinical income 1,647 
 

1,586 

Total income from activities 370,315 
 

315,419 
    

1 Block top up income recorded in other NHS clinical income was included in the block contracts 
in 2021/22 

2The employer contribution rate for NHS pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% (excluding 
administration charge) from 1 April 2019. Since 2019/20, NHS providers continued to pay over 
contributions at the former rate with the additional amount being paid over by NHS England on 
providers' behalf. The full cost and related funding have been recognised in these accounts. 

    

Note 3.2 Income from patient care activities (by source) 
   

    

Income from patient care activities received from: 2021/22 
 

2020/21 
 

£000  
 

£000  

NHS England 48,473 
 

47,281 

Clinical commissioning groups 319,399 
 

265,815 

Department of Health and Social Care 0 
 

0 

Other NHS providers 700 
 

717 

NHS other  0 
 

0 

Local authorities  0 
 

0 

Non-NHS: private patients  93 
 

44 

Non-NHS: overseas patients (chargeable to patient)  594 
 

571 

Injury cost recovery scheme 829 
 

559 

Non NHS: other 227 
 

432 
    

Total income from activities 370,315 
 

315,419 
    

Injury Cost Recovery income is subject to a credit loss allowance of 23.76% (2020/21: 22.43%) 
to reflect expected rates of collection. 
    



 

 ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

 

 

116 

 

 

    

Note 3.3 Overseas visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the provider) 
 

2021/22 
 

2020/21 
 

£000  
 

£000  

Income recognised this year 594 
 

571 

Cash payments received in-year  110 
 

51 

Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables  730 
 

718 

Amounts written off in-year 59 
 

0 
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Note 4 Other operating income 
 

2021/22 
 

2020/21 
 

£000  
 

£000  

Other operating income from contracts with customers: 
   

Research and development (contract) 1,401 
 

1,065 

Education and training (excluding notional apprenticeship levy income) 12,054 
 

10,194 

Non-patient care services to other bodies 4,790 
 

4,315 

Reimbursements and top up funding 748 
 

38,274 

Income in respect of employee benefits accounted on a gross basis 1,469 
 

701 

Other contract income 7,200 
 

4,681 

Other non-contract operating income 
   

Education and training - notional income from apprenticeship fund 155 
 

212 

Receipt of capital grants and donations 631 
 

740 

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 1,712 
 

5,500 

Total other operating income 30,160 
 

65,682 
    

 
2021/22 

 
2020/21 

Other Income includes: £000   £000 

Car Parking income 957   698 

Catering 666   565 

Pharmacy sales 136   101 

Property rental (not lease income) 0   0 

Staff accommodation rental 491   391 

Estates recharges (external) 235   219 

Crèche services 316   178 

Clinical tests 1,812   1,020 

Clinical excellence awards 138   84 

Other income not already covered (recognised under IFRS 15) 2,449   1,425 

  7,200   4,681 
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Note 5  Operating expenses 
 

2021/22 
 

2020/21  
£000  

 
£000  

Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies 13,327 
 

13,057 
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS and non-DHSC bodies 1,364 

 
1,382 

Staff and executive directors costs 1 249,934 
 

239,336 

Remuneration of non-executive directors 152 
 

137 

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs costs) 35,114 
 

31,009 

Supplies and services - general  8,733 
 

8,837 

Drug costs (drugs inventory consumed and purchase of non-inventory drugs) 32,811 
 

30,326 

Inventories written down 8 
 

107 

Consultancy costs 540 
 

651 
Establishment  1,322 

 
1,194 

Premises  9,384 
 

8,225 
Transport (including patient travel) 1,048 

 
681 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 11,914 
 

10,085 
Impairments net of (reversals) (78) 

 
107 

Movement in credit loss allowance: contract receivables / contract assets2 848 
 

2,052 

Increase/(decrease) in other provisions (329) 
 

(378) 
Change in provisions discount rate(s) 26 

 
34 

Audit fees payable to the external auditor 
   

audit services- statutory audit 74 
 

77 
other auditor remuneration3 0 

 
0 

Internal audit costs 151 
 

133 
Clinical negligence 15,562 

 
15,005 

Legal fees 242 
 

245 
Insurance 212 

 
190 

Research and development 1,232 
 

1,091 
Education and training 6,629 

 
5,546 

Operating lease expenditure 643 
 

931 
Redundancy  168 

 
218 

Car parking & security 329 
 

246 
Hospitality  8 

 
0 

Losses, ex gratia & special payments4 321 
 

1,134 

Other services, eg external payroll 340 
 

340 
Other 1,440 

 
1,678 

Total 393,469 
 

373,676 
    

1 Staff and Executive Directors costs - excluded from this are Research and Development costs, Non Executives 
costs and Education and Training costs, as they are reported separately.  
This includes £9,205k (2020/21 £8,787k) relating to 6.3% pensions increase paid directly by Department of Health. 

2 Net movement in credit losses. Credit risk is only associated with Non NHS receivables. 

3 Not disclosed in the accounts are other audit Fees of £2.5k for the Independent Examination of Medway Foundation 
Trust Charitable Fund note 1.20 

4 Excludes £8k stock write down detailed in separate line and £20k re Flowers case -see Note 22 

 
Note 5.1 Limitation on auditor's liability 

   

The limitation on auditor's liability for external audit work is £2,000k (2020/21: £2,000k). 
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Note 6  Employee Benefits 
 

2021/22 
 

2020/21 
 

£000  
 

£000  

Salaries and wages 196,071 
 

188,961 

Social security costs  21,075 
 

19,922 

Apprenticeship levy 976 
 

924 

Employer's contributions to NHS pensions  21,084 
 

20,152 

Pension cost - employer contributions paid by NHSE on provider's behalf (6.3%) 9,205 
 

8,797 

Pension cost - other 14 
 

12 

Temporary staff (including agency) 7,688 
 

5,934 

Total gross staff costs 256,113 
 

244,702 
    

    

Note 6.1 Directors Remuneration and Other Benefits 
   

    

 
2021/22 

 
2020/21 

 
£000  

 
£000  

Directors Remuneration 1,589 
 

1,465 

Social Security Costs 214 
 

187 

Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme 112 
 

114 

Total Remuneration 1,915 
 

1,766 
    

11 Directors are accruing pension benefits under the NHS Pension defined benefit scheme (2020/21; 8 ) 

Note 6.2 Retirements due to ill-health 
   

    

During 2021/22 there were 5 early retirements from the Trust agreed on the grounds of ill-health (2 in the year 
ended 31 March 2021).  The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements are £433k (£12k 
in 2020/21).   
    

Please Note: In line with the HM Treasury requirements, some previous accounts disclosures relating to staff 
costs are now required to be included in the staff report section of the annual report instead.  
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Note 7 Pension costs 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. 
Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website 
at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS 
employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for 
Health and Social Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would 
enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, 
each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body 
of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the 
accounting period.   

         

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ 
materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, 
the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate 
assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows: 
         

a) Accounting valuation 

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the 
Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial 
assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and 
financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures 
for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2022, is based 
on valuation data as 31 March 2021, updated to 31 March 2022 with summary global member and 
accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, 
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been 
used. 

         

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme 
actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be 
viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from 
The Stationery Office. 
         

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under 
the schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution 
rates payable by employees and employers.  
         

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 
March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 
to 20.6% of pensionable pay.  

The 2016 funding valuation also tested the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that 
was set following the 2012 valuation. There was initially a pause to the cost control element of the 
2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around member benefits caused by the discrimination ruling 
relating to the McCloud case.  

HMT published valuation directions dated 7 October 2021 (see Amending Directions 2021) that set 
out the technical detail of how the costs of remedy are included in the 2016 valuation process.  
Following these directions, the scheme actuary has completed the cost control element of the 2016 
valuation for the NHS Pension Scheme, which concludes no changes to benefits or member 
contributions are required.  The 2016 valuation reports can be found on the NHS Pensions website 
at https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-pension-scheme-accounts-and-valuation-reports. 
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c)         Alternative Pension Scheme          

For those employees who do not have access to the NHS pensions scheme but who are otherwise 
classified as employees with an entitlement to automatic enrolment in an appropriate pension the 
Trust has put in place an alternative workplace pension scheme. This scheme is administered by 
NEST (National Employment Savings Trust) and is a defined contribution pension scheme. The total 
contribution costs for this scheme for the financial year 2021/22 amount to £14k (2020/21: £12k). 
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Note 8  Operating expenses 

 

Note 8.1 Medway NHS Foundation Trust as a lessee     

   
Operating expenses include:    
     
Payments recognised as an expense     

2021/22  2020/21  
£000   £000  

Operating lease expense    
Minimum lease payments 643  931 

Total 643  931  

    
2021/22  2020/21  

£000   £000  
Future minimum lease payments due:     

- not later than one year; 430  344 
- later than one year and not later than five years; 550  330 
- later than five years. 0  0 

Total 980  674  

   

In general, operating leases are for various pieces of equipment  over varying periods. Generally all 
equipment leases are taken out under the ‘NHS Conditions of Contract for the Lease of Goods'. 
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Note 9  Finance income 

Finance income represents interest received on assets and investments in the period. 
 

2021/22  2020/21  

£000   £000  
Interest on bank accounts 44  0 

Total finance income 44  0 

 

Note 10  Finance expenditure 

 

Finance expenditure represents interest and other charges involved in the borrowing of 
money.  

2021/22  2020/21  

£000   £000  
Interest expense:  

 
 

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 27  29 
Interest on late payment of commercial debt 5  9 

Total interest expense 32  38 

Unwinding of discount on provisions (11)  (5) 

Total finance costs 21  33  
 

 
 

Note 10.1 The late payment of commercial debts (interest) 
Act 1998 / Public Contract Regulations 2015 

    

2021/22  2020/21  

£000   £000  
Amounts included within interest payable arising from claims 
under this legislation 

5  9 
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment 

Note 11.1 Property, plant and equipment - 2021/22     

 

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings Assets 
under 

construction 

Plant & 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment 

Information 
technology 

Furniture 
& fittings 

Total  

 £000  £000  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2021 - 
brought forward 

7,308 161,743 4,824 22,116 43,935 86 26,135 2,579 268,726 

Additions 0 0 0 22,130 140 0 507 0 22,777 

Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reversals of impairments 0 78 0 0 0 0 0 0 78 

Revaluations 234 1,126 (213) 0 0 0 0 0 1,147 

Reclassifications  0 12,612 172 (28,169) 7,198 0 8,187 0 0 

Disposals / derecognition 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2022 7,542 175,559 4,783 16,077 51,273 86 34,829 2,579 292,728 

 
         

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2021 - 
brought forward 0 0 0 0 29,294 84 15,926 2,131 47,435 

Depreciation at start of period as FT  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfers by absorption 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Provided during the year  0 6,066 250 0 3,406 1 2,079 112 11,914 

Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reversals of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Revaluations 0 (6,066) (250) 0 0 0 0 0 (6,316) 

Reclassifications  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfers to / from assets held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals / derecognition 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2022 0 0 0 0 32,700 85 18,005 2,243 53,033 

 
         

Net book value at 31 March 2022 7,542 175,559 4,783 16,077 18,573 1 16,824 336 239,695 

Net book value at 31 March 2021 7,308 161,743 4,824 22,116 14,641 2 10,209 448 221,291 
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Note 11.2 Property, plant and equipment - 2020/21  

   

Dwellings Assets 
under 

construction 

Plant & 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment 

Information 
technology 

Furniture 
& fittings 

Total  

 £000  £000  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2020 - 
brought forward 

7,327 162,124 4,513 12,111 40,091 86 18,510 2,828 247,590 

Valuation / gross cost at start of period 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfers by absorption 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions 0 0 0 30,475 1,833 0 203 0 32,511 

Impairments (196) (6,803) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (6,999) 

Reversals of impairments 0 89 0 0 0 0 0 0 89 

Revaluations 177 (4,863) 221 0 0 0 0 0 (4,465) 

Reclassifications  0 11,196 90 (20,470) 2,011 0 7,422 (249) 0 

Transfers to / from assets held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals / derecognition 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2021 7,308 161,743 4,824 22,116 43,935 86 26,135 2,579 268,726 

 
         

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2020 - 
brought forward 

0 0 0 0 26,566 75 14,644 2,029 43,314 

Depreciation at start of period as 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfers by absorption  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Provided during the year  0 5,725 218 0 2,730 9 1,282 121 10,085 

Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reversals of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Revaluations 0 (5,746) (218) 0 0 0 0 0 (5,964) 

Reclassifications  0 21 0 0 (2) 0 0 (19) 0 

Transfers to / from assets held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals / derecognition 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2021 0 0 0 0 29,294 84 15,926 2,131 47,435 

          
Net book value at 31 March 2021 7,308 161,743 4,824 22,116 14,641 2 10,209 448 221,291 

Net book value at 31 March 2020 7,327 162,124 4,513 12,111 13,525 11 3,866 799 204,276 
 
*Additions have been restated from the prior year. In prior year, all additions are capitalized under the head AUC and were then reclassified to the relevant asset heads as per the 
PPE note. The restatement removes the assets that were purchased during the year and did not qualify as ‘assets under construction’ and adds them to their relevant asset head 
within note 11. This has no impact on the financial statement figures and is merely a presentation adjustment. Total additions remain the same for year 2020-21’     
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Note 12 Revaluations and Impairments of  property, plant and 
equipment 

 
Note 12.1 Revaluations    

 2021/22  2020/21 

Changes in market price £000   £000  

Land 234  177 

Property, Plant and Equipment 7,229  1,322 

Total Revaluations 7,463  1,499 

    

    

Note 12.2 Impairments    

    
In 2021/22 net impairment reversals of £78k have occurred as result of a full revaluation of 
The Trust estate, this includes; 

 
2021/22  2020/21  

£000   £000  

Impairments charged to Revaluation Reserve 0  6,803 

    

Impairments charged to operating expenditure 0  196 

Impairment reversals credited to operating expenditure (78)  (89) 

Net Impairment Reversal credited to Operating Expenditure (78)  107 

      

Total Net Impairments (78)  6,910 

    
Note 12.3 Impairments    

    
Information on the economic life of property, plant and equipment is included in the 
accounting policies. 
    

An interim revaluation of land, buildings and dwellings on a Modern Equivalent Asset basis 
has been conducted by professional valuers in 2021/22. 

    
 

  



 

 ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

 

 

127 

 

 

Note 13 Inventories 

 

 

    

 2021/22  2020/21 

 £000   £000  

Drugs 1,664  1,704 

Consumables 4,332  5,258 

Total inventories 5,996  6,962 

    

Inventories recognised in expenses for the year were £67,453k (2020/21: £61,370k) 

In response to the COVID 19 pandemic, the Department of Health and Social Care centrally 
procured personal protective equipment and passed these to NHS providers free of charge. 
During 2021/22 the Trust received £1,003k of items purchased by DHSC (2020/21 £5,516k) 

These inventories were recognised as additions to inventory at deemed cost with the 
corresponding benefit recognised in income. The utilisation of these items is included in the 
expenses disclosed above. 
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Note 14 Trade and other receivables 

 2021/22  2020/21 

 £000   £000  

Current    

Contract receivables* 15,092  16,555 

Allowance for impaired contract receivables / assets (4,861)  (5,171) 

Prepayments (non-PFI) 2,687  2,672 

Interest receivable 20  0 

PDC dividend receivable 0  324 

VAT receivable 594  1,658 
Corporation and other taxes receivable 0  0 
Clinician pension tax provision reimbursement funding from NHSE 23  0 

Other receivables 334  178 

Total current trade and other receivables 13,889  16,216 

 
   

Non-current    

Contract receivables* 369  243 

Allowance for impaired contract receivables / assets (88)  (54) 

Clinician pension tax provision reimbursement funding from NHSE 319  471 

Total non-current trade and other receivables 600  660 

      

Of which receivables from NHS and DHSC group bodies:     
Current 8,303  10,148 

Non-current 319  471 

    
*Contract receivables includes invoiced £10,775k (2020/21 £16,288k) and uninvoiced accruals of £4,317k (2020/21 
£510k).                   

    
Note 14.1 Allowances for credit losses     

    

 

Contract receivables and 
contract assets 

 2021/22  2020/21 

 £000   £000  

Allowances as at 1 April - brought forward 5,225  3,627 

New allowances arising 2,186  2,580 

Reversals of allowances (1,338)  (528) 

Utilisation of allowances (1,124)  (454) 

Allowances as at 31 Mar 2022 4,949  5,225 

      

Loss recognised in expenditure 848  2,052 

**The Impairment allowance relates to £4,524k Non NHS and £425k Injury Cost Recovery Scheme receivables only. 
Intra Group receivables are deemed to be risk free as they are backed by a guarantee from the Department of Health 
and Social Care. 
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Note 15 Cash and cash equivalents movements 

 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, in hand and cash equivalents. Cash 
equivalents are readily convertible investments of known value which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of change in value. 

   

  2021/22  2020/21 

  £000   £000  

At 1 April  49,184  12,385 

Net change in year  (15,729)  36,799 

At 31 March  33,455  49,184 

Broken down into:     

Cash at commercial banks and in hand   364  328 

Cash with the Government Banking Service  33,091  48,856 

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP  33,455  49,184 

 

 

  



 

 ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

 

130 

 

Note 16 Trade and other payables   

     2021/22  2020/21 

     £000   £000  

Current  
     

 
 

Trade payables     7,785  7,123 

Capital payables     5,231  13,868 

Accruals     14,460  15,331 

Social security costs     0  0 

VAT payables     0  1 

Other taxes payable     0  0 

PDC dividend payable     445  0 

Other payables     226  778 

Total current trade and other payables     28,147  37,101 

        

Of which payables from NHS and DHSC group bodies:        

Current     5,703  5,753 

        

        

        

Note 16.1 Better Payment Practice code        

        

 2021/22  2021/22  2020/21  2020/21 

 Number  £000   Number  £000  

Non-NHS Payables        

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 61,357  136,657  61,211  119,975 

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 56,906  124,128  45,103  75,091 

Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within 
target 92.7%  90.8%  73.7%  62.6% 

        

NHS Payables        

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 1,007  52,199  1,196  32,860 

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 689  47,406  301  24,758 

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 68.4%  90.8%  25.2%  75.3% 

        
The Better Payment Practice code requires that 95% of all valid invoices are paid by the due date or within 
30 days of receipt of valid invoice, whichever is later.  

        

        

Note 17 Other Liabilities        

     2021/22  2020/21 

     £000   £000  

Current         

Deferred income: contract liabilities     1,353  7,584 

Total other current liabilities     1,353  7,584 
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Note 18 Borrowings 

 

      2021/22  2020/21  

      £000   £000   

Current     
 

 
 

 
Capital Loans from the 
Department of Health and Social 
Care    136  137  

Total current borrowings    136  137  

      
 

 
 

 

Non-current    
 

 
 

 
Capital Loans from the 
Department of Health and Social 
Care    2,025  2,151  

Total non-current borrowings    2,025  2,151  

          
*Includes £10k (£10k 2020/21 of interest payable in accordance with IFRS9. 
 
18.1 Reconcillation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

 

    

DHSC 
Loans 

    £000  

Carrying value at 1 April 2021  2,288 

Cash movements:   

Financing cash flows - payments and receipts of principal  (126) 

Financing cash flows - payments of interest  (28) 

Non-cash movements:   

Application of effective interest rate (interest charge arising in year)  27 

Carrying value at 31 March 2022  2,161 

     

    

DHSC 
Loans 

    £000  

Carrying value  at 1 April 2020    294,389 

Cash movements:   

Financing cash flows - payments and receipts of principal  (291,543) 

Financing cash flows - payments of interest  (587) 

Non-cash movements:   

Transfers by absorption  0 

Additions  0 

Application of effective interest rate (interest charge arising in year)  29 

Carrying value at 31 March 2021    2,288 
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Note 19 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis 

 

Pensions 
relating to 

staff 

Legal 
claims 

Other Total  

 £000 £000 £000 £000  

At 1 April 2021 1,518 225 936 2,679 

At start of period for new FTs  0 0 0 0 

Transfers by absorption 0 0 0 0 

Change in the discount rate  26 0 0 26 

Arising during the year  75 33 0 108 

Utilised during the year (92) (133) 0 (225) 

Reclassified to liabilities held in disposal 
groups 0 0 0 0 

Reversed unused  (152) (59) (355) (566) 

Unwinding of discount  (11) 0 0 (11) 

Transfer to FT upon authorisation 0 0 0 0 

At 31 March 2022 1,364 66 581 2,011 

Expected timing of cash flows:      

- not later than one year; 116 66 581 763 

- later than one year and not later than five years 476 0 0 476 

- later than five years. 772 0 0 772 

Total 1,364 66 581 2,011 

 
    

The provision for pensions relating to staff reflects the liabilities due to early retirements prior to 6 March 
1995. The legal claims provision reflects liabilities arising from Public and Employee Liability claims. 
Other provisions are for dilapidations and onerous contracts. 

     

 

Pensions 
relating to 

staff 

Legal 
claims 

Other Total  

 £000 £000 £000 £000  

At 1 April 2020 1,406 375 1,348 3,129 

Change in the discount rate  34 0 0 34 

Arising during the year  171 (3) 1 169 

Utilised during the year (88) (83) 0 (171) 

Reversed unused  0 (64) (413) (477) 

Unwinding of discount  (5) 0 0 (5) 

At 31 March 2021 1,518 225 936 2,679 

Expected timing of cash flows:      
- not later than one year; 94 225 936 1,255 

- later than one year and not later than five years 935 0 0 935 

- later than five years. 489 0 0 489 

Total 1,518 225 936 2,679 

 
    

Note 19.1 Clinical negligence liabilities 

At 31 March 2022, £321,264k was included in provisions of NHS Resolution in respect of clinical negligence 
liabilities of Medway NHS Foundation Trust (31 March 2021: £198,706k). 
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Note 20 Contingent assets and liabilities 
  

   2021/22 2020/21 

   £000  £000  

Value of contingent liabilities    
  

NHS Resolution legal claims   (46) (50) 

Gross value of contingent liabilities   (46) (50) 

Amounts recoverable against liabilities   0 0 

Net value of contingent liabilities   (46) (50) 

Net value of contingent assets   0 0 
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Note 21 Financial Instruments 

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period 
in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its activities.  The Trust actively seeks to minimise its 
financial risks.  In line with this policy, the Trust neither buys nor sells financial instruments.  Financial assets and 
liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust 
in undertaking its activities. 

Interest-Rate Risk 

All of the Trust's financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest. The only element of the Trust's assets that are 
subject to a variable rate are short term cash investments.  The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant interest-
rate risk.  

      

Foreign Currency Risk 

The Trust has negligible foreign currency income or expenditure. 
      

Credit Risk 

The Trust operates primarily within the NHS market and receives the majority of its income from other NHS organisations.  
There is therefore little risk that one party will fail to discharge its obligations with the other.  Disputes can arise, however, 
around how the amounts owed are calculated, particularly due to the complex nature of the Payments by Results regime.  
For this reason the Trust makes a provision for irrecoverable amounts based on historic patterns and the best information 
available at the time the accounts are prepared.  The Trust does not hold any collateral as security. The Trust’s maximum 
exposures to credit risk at 31 March 2022 are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other 
receivables note. 
      

Liquidity Risk 

The Trust's net operating costs are incurred under contracts with local Clinical Commissioning Groups, which are 
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament.  The Trust received such contract income in accordance with 
Block contracts agreed with Commissioners and receives cash each month based on that contract. 
  
Financial shortfalls incurred in day to day activities are financed by revenue support loans received from the 
Department of Health. 
      

The Trust presently finances its capital expenditure from internally generated funds or funds made available from 
Government, in the form of additional Public Dividend Capital, under an agreed limit.  In addition, the Trust can borrow 
from the Department of Health and commercially to finance capital schemes.  Financing is drawn down to match the 
capital spend profile of the scheme concerned and the Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks in 
this area. 

Note 21.1 Carrying values of financial assets      

  

Held at 
amortised 

cost 

 
Total book value 

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2022 
 £000   £000  
 

 
  

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets  11,208  11,208 
Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in 

hand   33,455  33,455 

Total at 31 March 2022   44,663  44,663 
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Held at 
amortised 

cost 

 
Total book value 

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2021 
 £000   £000  

    
Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets  12,198  12,198 
Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in 

hand   49,184  49,184 

Total at 31 March 2021   61,382  61,382 

      
Note 21.2 Carrying value of financial 
liabilities      

  

Held at 
amortised 

cost 

 
Total book value 

   £000   £000 

Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2022  
 

 
 

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care  2,161  2,161 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities   27,446  27,446 

Provisions under contract  989  989 

Total at 31 March 2022  
 

30,596  30,596 
 

  

Held at 
amortised 

cost 

 
Total book value 

   £000   £000 

Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2021  
 

 
 

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 
 

2,288  2,288 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities  
 

34,129  34,129 

Other financial liabilities  
 

0  0 

Provisions under contract  
 

1,633  1,633 

Total at 31 March 2021  
 

38,050  38,050 

      

Note 21.3 Maturity of financial liabilities 

   

31 March 
2022  31 March 2021 

   £000   £000  

In one year or less  28,280  37,301 

In more than one year but not more than five years  815  588 

In more than five years  1,616  1,727 

Total  30,711  39,616 

        

*This table has been restated from book values to undiscounted future contractual cash flow in accordance with IFRS7. 
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Note 22 Losses and special payments 

 

 2021/22  2020/21 

 

Total 
number 

of 
cases 

Total 
value of 

cases 

 
Total 

number 
of 

cases 

Total 
value of 

cases 

 Number  £000   Number  £000  

 
     

Losses      

Cash losses 0 0  2 188 

Fruitless payments 1 8  9 806 

Bad debts and claims abandoned 9 61  0 0 

Stores losses and damage to property1 14 217  2 241 

Total losses 24 286  13 1,235 

Special payments      

Compensation under court order or legally 
binding arbitration award 0 0  0 0 

Extra-contractual payments 0 0  0 0 

Ex-gratia payments2 23 63  15 6 

Special severance payments 0 0  0 0 

Extra-statutory and extra-regulatory payments 0 0  0 0 

Total special payments 23 63  15 6 

Total losses and special payments 47 349  28 1,241 

Compensation payments received  0   0 
      

1 Includes £ 51k theft of equipment, £166k expired drug stock. 
2 Includes £ 20k 'Flowers' claim paid in 2021/22, accrued for and funded centrally in 2020/21. 

 

Note 23 Gifts 

No gifts of more than £300,000 have been declared in 2021/22 (£0k 2020/21).     
        

Note 24 Third Party Assets 

The Trust held £0k cash at bank and in hand at 31 March 2022 (£0k at 31 March 2021) which relates to 
monies held on behalf of patients.           .     

    

Note 25 Public Dividend Capital 

The Trust is required to demonstrate that the PDC dividend payable is in line with the actual rate of 3.5% of 
average relevant net assets.  £6,976K is payable this year (£6,180k 2020/21)     
     

Note 26 Capital Commitments 

There are capital commitments in 2021/22 totalling £7,163k to report  (£9,423k in 20/21).    
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Note 27 Related Parties  

The Medway NHS Foundation Trust is a corporate body established by order of the Secretary of State for 
Health and Social Care.     

The Department of Health and Social Care is the parent department of the Medway NHS Foundation Trust.  

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party.  During the year the Trust has had a 
significant number of material transactions with the Department and with other entities for which the 
Department is regarded as the parent Department.  These entities are listed below: 

     

NHS England     

Clinical Commissioning Groups     

NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation Trusts     

NHS Arms Length Bodies     

Health Education England     

     

Paragraph 25 of IAS 24 allows entities which are related parties because they are under the same government 
control to reduce the volume of the detailed disclosures so no further detail of transactions will be disclosed. 
  

There are no prior year balances 2020/21 to disclose        
      

Note 28 Events after the reporting date 

There are currently no events after the reporting date. 



 

 

 ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

 

138 

 



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust 

Medway Maritime Hospital 

Windmill Road 

Gillingham 

Kent 

ME7 5NY 

Tel: 01634 830000 

www.medway.nhs.uk 

 

http://www.medway.nhs.uk/

